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Dear shareholders

For the year ended 31 December 2016 ENR Rus-
sia Invest SA (“ENR” or the “Company”) and its 
subsidiaries produced a consolidated net profit 
of CHF 5.81 million (consolidated net loss of  
CHF 17.83 million for the 2015 financial year). 

At 31 December 2016 ENR’s consolidated net as-
set value (“NAV”) was CHF 46.15 million (up from 
CHF 42.18 million at 31 December 2015) partly 
due to the higher valuation of the Petrovsky 
Fort business center in Saint-Petersburg (“Petro-
vsky Fort”).

During the reporting period ENR acquired fixed 
income instruments of Russian corporates for a 
total value of CHF 15.19 million. ENR also gener-
ated CHF 8.06 million via the sale of or the re-
payment of fixed income instruments in 2016.

There were signs of improvement in the Russian 
economy in 2016 as dual shocks from lower oil 
prices and sanctions have been partly absorbed 
and gross domestic product (“GDP”) contracted 
by 0.6% in 2016 (better than the -2.5% range 
estimated at the beginning of the year). 

The International Monetary Fund (“IMF”) antici-
pates that GDP will expand by 1.1% in 2017 due, 
in part, to higher oil prices. 

Inflation was down from 12.9% in December 

2015 to 5.6% at year-end 2016, which allowed 
the Central Bank of Russia (“CBR”) to cut the key 
rate to 10%.

Oil and gas prices remain key factors to the 
prospects of the Russian economy, representing 
the majority of exports and generating the bulk 
of federal budget revenues. Low global energy 
prices have a negative impact on the economy. 
During 2016 global oil prices recovered from 
around US$ 34 per barrel (Brent) to higher levels 
in the region of US$ 55 per barrel (Brent) at 
year-end 2016. 

There is a strong correlation between oil prices 
and the value of the ruble, which in 2016 in-
creased by 17.37% against the Swiss Franc and 
16.14% against the US$. As ENR’s reporting cur-
rency is in Swiss Franc and its investments are 
made in a ruble based economy into companies 
who have the ruble as their currency, any appre-
ciation of the ruble against the Swiss Franc is 
beneficial for ENR. 

Domestic demand and consumption is still weak 
and manufacturing growth and construction 
output and fixed investment contracted. It re-
mains a challenging environment for businesses 
operating or investing in Russia. There are still 
interesting investment opportunities at poten-
tial lower entry valuations, for example where 
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assets can be acquired at discounts to their his-
torical costs; for export orientated and import 
substitution orientated businesses; and compa-
nies operating in non-cyclical sectors. With 
lower wage growth and lower real wages con-
sumption patterns change as consumers favor 
convenience, trade down, shop smarter and tend 
to spend more on healthcare. Consumer demo-
graphics are also changing and pensioners are 
becoming a larger part of the overall Russian 
population. 

ENR monitors the economic and political devel-
opments and investment opportunities in these 
industry segments (especially where there are 
potential lower entry valuations) to consider 
private equity transactions and investments 
mainly in Russia, but potentially also in other 
member countries of the Commonwealth of In-
dependent States and the Baltic States. 

Geneva, 10 April 2017

ENR Russia Invest SA

Gustav Stenbolt     Ben de Bruyn 
Chairman               Chief Executive Officer
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Russian Federation

Real Economy
In 2016 there were signs of an improvement in 
the Russian economy where the dual shocks 
from oil and sanctions have been partly ab-
sorbed. There were signs of a turnaround even 
though GDP contracted by 0.6% in 2016 (better 
than the -2.5% range estimates at the beginning 
of the year). 

The economic recovery should be on a stronger 
footing in 2017 and the IMF anticipates that 
GDP will expand by 1.1% in 2017 due to higher 
oil prices. 

Inflation continued to decelerate from 12.9% in 
December 2015 to 5.6% at the end of 2016. This 
allowed the CBR to cut the key rate to 10% . The 
IMF expects further easing of inflation during 
2017. 

The current account surplus is anticipated to 
narrow as the recovery of imports outpaces the 
increase in export receipts, in part because non-
traditional exports have yet to benefit from the 
ruble depreciation. 

Consumer demand and sentiment still remains 
low, whilst durable goods purchases are post-
poned and domestic demand (private house-
holds and investments) fell in 2016. 

Investment demand declined on the back of de-
pressed construction dynamics; business senti-
ment is subdued and tight credit conditions pre-
vail. In the oil industry possible changes in 

corporate taxation may be harmful for capital 
spending programs of major domestic oil and 
gas producers.

At current levels the ruble should help to in-
crease export competitiveness which will boost 
net exports and accumulate reserves. It will also 
support certain export-oriented industries (oil 
and gas, metals and mining and the chemical in-
dustry), whilst other domestic-oriented produc-
ers would benefit and the positive effect of im-
port substitution should become visible over 
time. 

Fiscal Policy
Population trends impact fiscal policy and the 
sustainability of the pension system (which de-
pends on the balance between contributions 
and liabilities). Based on current trends the 
structure of the population is to become in-
creasingly skewed towards older age groups 
(from 85.7 million at 2015, Rosstat’s forecasts 
shows the working age population declining by 
5.5% by 2020 and a further 10.4% and 16.5% by 
2041 and 2051, respectively). 

Progress in healthcare means that life expec-
tancies are trending higher and this will increase 
the dependency ratio which bottomed at 58.6% 
in 2006 but since then has risen to 72.4% in 
2015 (forecast for 84.3%, 90.6% and eventually 
104.8% by 2021, 2041 and 2051 respectively). 
36.7 million people were above the working age 
in 2015. According to Rosstat the share of the 
economically active population in Russia has 
been steadily rising to 69.1% in 2015 from the 
low of 61.1% in 1998.

Economic and Political Review
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The federal budget deficit was 3.5% of GDP in 
2016 (compared to the 3% target). This deficit is 
financed primarily from the Reserve Fund and 
by the end 2016 the Reserve Fund could decline 
to some 900 billion ruble from its current 2.55 
trillion ruble. 

The privatisations of Rosneft, Bashneft, Alrosa 
and others are estimated to generate some         
1 trillion ruble according to government. The 
choice of measures to balance the budget in the 
medium term is under discussion to determine 
what spending cuts will be introduced and what 
pension system reforms will be introduced. The 
government has proceded with caution so far 
and delegated the fiscal adjustment for the new 
Duma to decide on. 

Two of the Russian finance ministry’s and CBR’s 
most frequently voiced commitments are for a 
4% headline consumer price inflation target 
(which the CBR projects to reach by end 2017) 
and a -3% federal budget deficit. Moderate 
spending cuts are likely in 2017, but deeper mea-
sures were postponed until 2018 when the gov-
ernment may reconsider budget priorities. Any 
sustained adjustment will be difficult to achieve 
without cuts in defense spending, an overhaul 
of the pension system and/or an increase in 
taxation.

Inflation has been on a downward trend since 
late 2015 and the headline inflation rate has 
dropped from 12.9% in December 2015 to 5.6% 
at year-end 2016. This allowed the CBR to cut 

the key rate to 10% in June 2016 after holding it 
flat at 11% for almost ten months. Reserve Fund 
spending has produced surplus liquidity in the 
banking system, putting downward pressure on 
money market rates. As this liquidity is concen-
trated primarily in the large state-owned banks 
(due to rules governing the distribution of bud-
get funds), ruble liquidity remains tight for small 
and medium-sized banks. The CBR is expecting 
the banking system to experience a structural 
liquidity surplus only in early 2017 (when liquid-
ity is redistributed to smaller banks), at which 
point the regulator is due to replace its repo 
auctions with deposit auctions.

External Accounts
After Russia was impacted by an oil price de-
cline and financial sanctions in 2014, the coun-
try’s external accounts experienced a substan-
tial adjustment. After two years Russia has 
successfully managed to cope with these 
shocks. A key element has been the free float of 
the ruble (sharp nominal depreciation) which 
has led to a 30% - 40% downward adjustment 
of the real exchange rate. As a result the surplus 
of the current account was maintained until re-
cently, despite the reduction in export revenues 
by around 45% in US$ terms. 

Capital flows reversed and large Russian export-
ers were prevented from increasing their net 
foreign exchange assets abroad and this limited 
investment opportunities in Russia helping to 
finance the external deleveraging, i.e. the repay-
ment of external debt. Private and public exter-
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nal debt reduced by almost 30% to US$ 500 bil-
lion (including valuation effects) and foreign 
exchange reserves have stabilised since early 
2015.

Risks to the Economy
There are downside risks to the oil price which 
may materialise if supply disruptions end. In 
2016 there was also a meaningful deterioration 
in Russia’s current account. If the trend persists, 
it could potentially undermine the supportive 
ruble valuation picture. 

Political
The main political event of 2016 was the elec-
tions held on 18 September where, for the first 
time since 2003, State Duma elections were held 
using the mixed-member proportional represen-
tation system, with half of the 450 representa-
tives elected in single- mandate constituencies. 
38 regions also held parliamentary elections. 
Approval ratings continue to demonstrate 
strong support for President Putin and the gov-
ernment (President Putin’s approval rating con-
tinues to be in the upper 80% range).

European Union (“EU”) sectoral sanctions have 
been prolonged by another six months until mid 
2017 as the Minsk II process on the Donbas con-
flict is still in a deadlock. In 2016 Russia renewed 
its own counter-sanctions until 2017 year-end 
(sanctions against Turkey have been dropped).

Ukraine

According to Ukraine’s State Statistics Service, 
GDP grew by 1.5% in 2016. Exports and imports 
are now twice lower than those in 2012 and re-
main weak. The credit capacity of the banking 
sector also remains weak. The World Bank pre-
dicts 2% GDP growth in 2017 and 3% GDP 
growth in 2018. The IMF is more optimistic with 
GDP growth forecasts up 2.5% in 2017 (at an 
11% inflation rate). Downside risks remain high 
until a durable peace is reached in the east of 
the country and political stability is achieved.

Ukraine’s economic minister, Mr. Aivaras Abro-
mavicius resigned during early in 2016, followed 
by his first deputy, Ms. Yulia Kovaliv and the rest 
of his team. He was a reform-minded official 
with international experience and took up the 
position after a pro-western government took 
power in 2014. Mr. Arseniy Yatsenyuk also re-
signed as prime minister early in the 2nd quarter 
2016 and was replaced by the speaker of the 
Rada, Mr. Volodymyr Groisman.

Since then a new household gas tariff was in-
troduced in May 2016 which raised the price for 
consumers by 91%. The rate hike was one of the 
conditions set by the IMF for Ukraine to obtain 
the next tranche of its US$ 17 billion loan. The 
government popularity has been eroding with 
70% of Ukrainians saying the country is on 
wrong track and President Poroshenko’s popu-
larity is now lower than that of his predecessor 
Mr. Viktor Yanukovich (before he had to leave 
the government).
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During 2016 President Poroshenko announced 
new priorities for the Ukrainian economy and 
that the government intends to end subsidies to 
manufacturing and industry and promote in-
vestment in information technologies and agri-
culture. It is not clear how the government in-
tends to make Ukrainian agriculture globally 
competitive (the agriculture minister advised 
that four out of five state-owned agricultural 
companies are bankrupt). 

Ukraine signed a free trade agreement with the 
EU and lost its preferential access to its largest 
market, Russia. EU rules restrict Ukraine’s export 
volumes to Europe (which fell 23% in 2015 de-
spite the preferential tariff regime) and it is not 
clear where Ukraine will sell all its production 
(for example only 72 Ukrainian companies may 
export food of animal origin to the EU and there 
are 39 licences for honey export - Ukraine ex-
ported its yearly honey quota in the first six 
weeks of 2016). 

Ukraine mainly exports commodities, agricul-
tural goods and steel to the EU and under the 
agreement its 36 main export items are limited 
to small import quotas on the EU market. For 
major Ukraine export merchandise such as 
chicken, meat and eggs, these quotas comprise 
only 1% of Ukrainian production. 

Ukraine’s main ambition for its trade policy is to 
expand export quotas (which means compliance 
with EU reform programs) and exports to the EU 
and Ukraine has agreed to World Trade Organ-
isation rules on government procurement, which

is a way to open up the EU market. To do so the 
Ukrainian government requires stronger policy 
coordination.

Stabilising inflationary pressures allowed the 
National Bank of Ukraine (“NBU”) to cut the key 
policy rate from 16.50% to 15.50% in July 2016. 
This was the NBU’s fourth consecutive rate cut. 
The NBU outlined that the decision came against 
a backdrop of easing price pressures due to 
weak domestic demand, an appreciation of the 
exchange rate, as well as a large supply of food 
products. The NBU added that it continues to 
buy foreign currency to replenish international 
reserves, but at a level that does not interfere 
with a gradual appreciation in the hryvnia. 

Inflation was 12.4% by end 2016 (increased tar-
iffs for public utilities impacted on higher infla-
tion compared to the half year 2016). The NBU 
stated that it will continue with monetary policy 
easing to support the economic recovery as long 
as further rate cuts do not interfere with reach-
ing the inflation target.

Industrial production contracted in 2016. The 
fall was driven by declines in manufacturing 
production as well as in mining and quarrying 
output. In regions the recovery in the eastern 
areas of Luhansk and Donetsk, Ukraine’s indus-
trial heartland, lost momentum in 2016 with 
falling output. The conflict between the Ukrai-
nian government and separatist groups caused 
industrial production to drop sharply. Focus 
Economics forecast that industrial output will 
grow 2.5% in 2016.
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Kazakhstan

A fall in oil and gas prices at the beginning of 
2016 exacerbated the economic contraction and 
economic activity remained weak during the 
year. Oil production in the Kashagan oil field is 
due to resume in 2017 and the government’s 
ongoing economic program, “Nurly Zhol”, is ex-
pected to help industrial development and in-
vestment. During July 2016 Tengizchevroil and 
the government announced a joint investment 
of US$ 36.8 billion to prolong the life of the 
Tengiz oilfield.

With the current slow-down in economic activ-
ity, along with prospects of a slow recovery in 
Russia and low commodities prices (particularly 
in oil and base metal), 2016 GDP declined by 
0.80%. 

The National Bank of Kazakhstan (“NBK”) in July 
2016 cut the one-day repo rate by 200 basis 
points to 13.00% and indicated that further ac-
tions on the base rate will depend on the actual 
inflation, its deviation from the forecast, infla-
tion expectations of the population and market 
participants, and currency preferences of eco-
nomic agents.  The NBK advised that its decision 
to cut interest rates in July 2016 reflected both 
the recent rally in oil prices from the multi-year 
lows registered earlier this year and the stabili-
sation in global financial markets.

Consumer price index (“CPI”) inflation increased 
to 13.10% in 2016 and remained above the 
NBK’s inflation target. 

Under the inflation targeting regime, the NBK 
established an inflation target corridor of be-
tween 6% and 8% for the medium term. These 
developments have prompted foreign and resi-
dent investors to increase their demand for Ka-
zakh assets denominated in local currency in 
both the foreign exchange market and also in 
banks’ deposits.

According to the World Bank, Kazakhstan’s main 
short-term economic policy challenge is to ad-
just to the new reality of slower growth and 
lower income for the near future. This will entail 
effective measures to strengthen the sustain-
ability of the macroeconomic framework as well 
as action to protect the vulnerable.

Kazakhstan’s longer-term development policy 
challenge is to transform its growth model away 
from reliance on natural resource extraction to-
ward a more diversified, competitive economy. 

Although successive development strategies 
have all embraced this goal, economic diversifi-
cation proved difficult to achieve, especially up 
until mid-2014, when oil prices were high. De-
spite progress towards a more transparent, less-
regulated, and more market-driven business en-
vironment, there continue to be constraints 
related to governance, infrastructure, institu-
tions, the investment climate, the rule of law, 
and low incentives for investment in physical 
capital and new technologies.
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Belarus

In Belarus the economy contracted in 2016 and 
2016 GDP declined by -3.00%. CPI slowed mar-
ginally to 11.80 % at the end of 2016. 

Consumption continued to deteriorate and there 
was a sharp drop in retail sales in 2016 , dragged 
down by an ongoing decrease in real income. 
The Central Bank’s initiative to lower the lending 
rate in 2016 has not translated into increased 
credit activity; private banks remain weak and 
fixed investment reduced.

The economy is projected to emerge from the 
recession during the course of 2017 as loans 
from international institutions should support 
economic activity. FocusEconomics consensus 
forecast panelists estimate that GDP will in-
crease by 0.6% in 2017. The World Bank expects 
for GDP growth to pick up to 1.3% in 2018, driv-
en by some improvement in the external envi-
ronment and the early effects of domestic com-
petitiveness-enhancement policies.

Major challenges for Belarus include bringing 
the economy back to a robust and sustainable 
growth path, improving enterprise performance, 
especially in the public sector, attracting foreign 
direct investment and ensuring that efficient la-
bor market and social protection systems are in 
place. 

The Government-approved a 2016 – 2020 action 
plan which aims to regain competitiveness, re-
duce vulnerability to external shocks, and re-

store economic growth. Planned measures in-
clude a further reduction in government 
directed lending, the establishment of a toxic 
asset management agency in agriculture, the in-
troduction of contemporary corporate gover-
nance practices for state-owned enterprises, 
the creation of an anti-monopoly agency, nego-
tiations for World Trade Organisation accession, 
and further increases in utility tariffs to reach 
full cost recovery.
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Transterm Holdings Cyprus Limited

Transterm Holdings Cyprus Limited (“Transterm”) 
via its subsidiaries used to operate the Batumi
oil terminal in Adjaria, Georgia on the Black Sea 
coast. It also provided oil and oil related product 
rail forwarding in Georgia to the Batumi oil ter-
minal and transshipment and storage of these 
products at the port.

During 2003 to 2006 ENR invested CHF 36.93 
million in Transterm. In March 2008 Transterm 
sold all its Georgian based operations to the   
KazMunaiGas group where ENR received CHF 
32.19 million in cash. In 2010 Transterm received 
a first payment under a settlement agreement 
with its past managing shareholder. ENR re-
ceived CHF 6.91 million in cash. 

In 2011 ENR received a further CHF 954’235 in 
cash from Transterm. As part of the settlement 
agreement ENR’s shareholding in Transterm in-
creased to 22.66%. Transterm then disposed of 
a real estate asset in Russia and ENR received 
CHF 1.70 million in cash. 

In 2013 and 2014 ENR received from Transterm 
cash distributions of CHF 72’323 and CHF 
61’949, respectively. In 2015 ENR received a fur-
ther cash distribution of CHF 353’711 from 
Transterm. 

During 2016 ENR made a downwards fair value 
adjustment of CHF 381’636 to the Transterm in-
vestment. At 31 December 2016 the net book 

value of the Transterm investment was                     
CHF 191’160. This represents the amount ENR 
may still receive in future Transterm cash 
distributions.

Russian f lower retailer

During 2013 ENR made an investment into OOO 
RS Nedvizhimost (“RSN”), a flower retail busi-
ness operating under the OptCvetTorg® brand in 
Russia. Until mid to late 2015 development plans 
were largely on track despite challenging eco-
nomic conditions in Russia. However, eventually 
RSN could no longer operate many retail outlets 
profitably. Underperforming outlets were closed 
and a planned expansion via leased outlets 
within Moscow Metro subway stations did not 
materialise. 

RSN did not meet agreed performance bench-
marks and from 31 December 2015 ENR no lon-
ger had any obligation to make further contrac-
tual payments towards RSN. 

In 2016 all remaining retail outlets were closed 
as it was no longer possible to operate them 
profitably. ENR is in discussions with the man-
agement team for the recovery of part of its in-
vestment via the sale of equipment used previ-
ously in the retail outlets. 

ENR made an impairment of CHF 301’000 to the 
RSN investment in 2016 and at 31 December 
2016 the net book value of the investment in 
this business was CHF 100’000.

Portfolio Investments
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Petrovsky Fort

The Petrovsky Fort office centre in Russia is a 
class B+ office and retail property (completed in 
2003) located in central Saint Petersburg, near 
the embankment of the Neva River with nine of-
fices and two retail levels and a large central 
atrium. 15’300 square meters are designated for 
office use and some 5’800 square meters as re-
tail space. 

There is an underground parking facility with 
118 parking spaces and above-ground parking 
for 36 cars.

The Saint Petersburg based team of ENR is ac-
tively involved in the day-to-day management 
of the building which accommodates a large 
number of tenants (many small and mid-sized 
businesses and a few larger tenants). 

A turnkey service offering is provided to ten-
ants, including provision of utility services, cen-
tral heating, venting and air conditioning; tele-
communication lines and high-speed internet 
access; daily cleaning of offices; security ser-
vices; reception services as well as engineering 
and maintenance services.

UniCredit made a loan towards the business 
center and in 2016 agreed to waive compliance 
of certain loan covenants until 31 July 2017. 
That  allows time for the Russian real estate 
market and valuations to recover. As a result it 
was not necessary in 2016 to reduce the loan 

principal to comply with the loan to value ratio 
covenant. 

At 31 December 2016 the outstanding loan from 
UniCredit towards the business center was      
CHF 25.06 million. Vacancy rates were 14.65% 
at year-end 2016.

During 2016 the ruble appreciated against the 
Swiss Franc and the USD which had a positive 
valuation impact as Petrovksy Fort’s ruble based 
income was more in Swiss Franc/US$ terms. 
That led to an US$ 3.05 million increase in the 
appraised valuation of Petrovsky Fort which was 
performed by third party real estate expert JLL 
(up from US$ 28.36 million to US$ 31.41 
million).

In CHF terms the net carrying value of Petrovsky 
Fort was CHF 35.64 million at 31 December 
2016.

Assets under development - Greater Mos-
cow residential real estate development

ENR is participating in a real estate residential 
development of free standing multi-story apart-
ment buildings south-west of Moscow in the 
Odintsovsky district. 

This development is targeted at the economy 
plus class market segment and is located within 
a popular area within the greater Moscow re-
gion, with good transport access to the city.

17



Before construction had commenced the devel-
oper obtained all required approvals and per-
mits. Construction was then temporarily halted 
in 2015 to obtain a final agreement on the con-
struction height of the apartment buildings. 

In 2016 new approvals and permits were granted 
and issued for the construction of apartment 
buildings but for  a lower maximum height of six 
floor buildings (as opposed to 12 floors) .

ENR’s investment is via a shared participation in 
construction agreement with the developer reg-
istered in the Russian real estate register. Under 
this agreement ENR was to obtain full and unen-
cumbered ownership rights to all of the apart-
ments in a 12 floor building (+/-net 9,962 square 
meters (“SQM”) of apartments) and to the un-
derlying land plot (3,511 SQM). Construction had 
to be completed and a commissioning permit 
should have been obtained by 30 June 2016. De-
livery had to be no later than 30 September 
2016. Due to the construction delays these de-
velopment deadlines were not met. 

As the new maximum approved building height 
is for six floor buildings, discussions with the 
developer are in progress to conclude a new 
commercial arrangement where ENR will con-
tinue to receive the same number of SQM in 
apartments as per the original agreement via 
separate buildings. In that case ENR will pay the 
balance of the purchase price in tranches only 

when the development reaches agreed stages of 
completion. 

Due to the construction delay, ENR’s remaining 
contribution to the purchase price should also 
be reduced (based on an agreed 15% penalty on 
the total amount of ruble 350 million which ENR 
had invested to date, calculated from 30 June 
2016 until the new anticipated delivery date of 
30 June 2018). It is anticipated that construction 
should restart again in the 2nd quarter of 2017.

To date ENR funded its investment from own 
cash resources. ENR will approach Russian 
banks to consider refinancing part of the 
amount invested to date and any further re-
quired investment.

The carrying value of the investment at 31 De-
cember 2016 was CHF 5.87 million.
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Possible Future Milestone Payments 

During late 2008 and early 2009 ENR made an 
investment in Eastern Property Holdings Limited 
(“EPH”) for an aggregate CHF 11.60 million. 

EPH is a real estate investment and development 
company listed on SIX Swiss Exchange focused 
on the management of rented office, residential 
and commercial properties in prime locations in 
Russia. 

In December 2012 ENR sold all its shares in EPH 
and received CHF 15.11 million in cash. Pursuant 
to the sale transaction ENR could receive a fur-
ther amount in tranches over the coming years 
(“Possible Future Milestone Payments”).

The realisation of the Possible Future Milestone 
Payments depends on the success of the Mos-
cow based Arbat real estate project. Based on 
current market conditions it is not realistic to 
achieve acceptable sale prices. Consequently    
an impairment of CHF 426’100 was required, re-
sulting in a fair value of the Possible Future 
Milestone Payments at 31 December 2016 of 
CHF 101’900.

Unique capital markets opportunity and 
listed equities

Pursuant to the 2008 unbundling of Russian 
electricity company, Unified Energy Systems, 
ENR received shares in various Russian electric-

ity sector companies, where at 31 December 
2016 the aggregate value of these shares was 
CHF 2.38 million.

Fixed Income Investments

VTB group is one of the largest banking and fi-
nancial services groups in Russia, offering a 
wide range of corporate, retail and investment 
banking services. During the reporting period 
fixed income instruments of this group were ac-
quired with an aggregate value of CHF 1.04 mil-
lion. At 31 December 2016 ENR owned fixed in-
come instruments issued by this group valued at 
CHF 3.74 million.

Gazprom is a global energy company focused on 
geological exploration, production, transporta-
tion, storage, processing and marketing of gas 
and other hydrocarbons and electric power and 
heat energy production and distribution. During 
the reporting period fixed income instruments 
of this group with a value of CHF 4.01 million 
were sold or redeemed whilst fixed income in-
struments of this group of CHF 3.01 million were 
acquired. At 31 December 2016 ENR owned fixed 
income instruments of the Gazprom group val-
ued at CHF 3.22 million.

Sberbank is the largest bank in Russia and Com-
monwealth of Independent States. During the 
reporting period fixed income instruments of 
this group with a value of CHF 1.02 million were 
sold whilst fixed income instruments of this 
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group of CHF 3.11 million were acquired. At 31 
December 2016 ENR owned fixed income instru-
ments of the Sberbank group valued at CHF 3.28 
million.

Russian Agricultural Bank is a state-owned bank 
and one of the leading financial institutions 
providing lending support to Russian agri-busi-
ness. At 31 December 2016 ENR owned fixed in-
come instruments issued by this group valued at 
CHF 1.04 million.

Vnesheconombank is a state-owned bank and 
supports the development of the Russian econ-
omy, extending credits and loans jointly with 
private financial institutions and provides guar-
antees and insures credit. During the reporting 
period fixed income instruments of this group 
with a value of CHF 2.00 million were repaid 
whilst fixed income instruments of this group of 
CHF 3.07 million were acquired. At 31 December 
2016 ENR owned fixed income instruments is-
sued by this group valued at CHF 3.24 million.  

Moscow Domodedovo airport is the largest air 
hub in Russia. At 31 December 2016 ENR owned 
fixed income instruments issued by this group 
valued at CHF 795’470.

Transneft is a Russian state-owned transport 
business and largest oil pipeline company in 
Russia. At 31 December 2016 ENR owned fixed 

income instruments of the Transneft group val-
ued at CHF 926’230.

Petropavlovsk is a large producer of gold in Rus-
sia. At 31 December 2016 ENR owned fixed in-
come instruments of this group valued at CHF 
615’313.

Novolipetsk Steel is one of the largest steel 
companies in Russia, producing a range of steel 
products. At 31 December 2016 ENR owned 
fixed income instruments issued by this group 
valued at CHF 1.04 million.

Lukoil is a vertically integrated Russian oil and 
gas group. During the reporting period ENR ac-
quired fixed income instruments in this group 
valued at CHF 2.92 million. At 31 December 2016 
ENR owned fixed income instruments issued by 
this group valued at CHF 3.17 million.

Norilsk Nickel is a Russian mining and metallur-
gical company and the world’s leading nickel 
producer. The group also produces approximate-
ly half of the palladium used in the world. Its 
other important products are platinum and cop-
per. During the reporting period ENR acquired 
fixed income instruments in this group valued at 
CHF 2.05 million. At 31 December 2016 ENR 
owned fixed income instruments issued by this 
group valued at CHF 2.26 million.
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Novatek is the largest independent natural gas 
producer and the second-largest natural gas 
producer in Russia. During the reporting period 
all the fixed income instruments of this group 
which were held by ENR have been redeemed for 
a value of CHF 1.02 million.
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Board of Directors

Gustav Stenbolt - Chairman

Born 12 August 1957. Lic. rer. pol., University of 
Fribourg. From 1 March 2017, Mr. Stenbolt as-
sumed the functions of delegate of the Valartis 
Group AG board of directors for the Valartis 
Group AG. Since 2015 he has been the Chairman 
of the Board of Valartis Group AG. From 2007 
until 2015 he was the Chief Executive Officer of 
Valartis Group AG. He was Chairman of the Ex-
ecutive Board of Jelmoli Holding from 2004 to 
2007. From 1996 to 2004, CEO and founder of 
the MCT group in Geneva. MCT merged with OZ 
Holding in 2005. The merged entity was re-
named Valartis Group in 2007. From the period 
1983 to 1996, Chief Investment Officer of Uni-
fund for Asia, Latin America and Eastern Europe/
CIS. Gustav Stenbolt is member of the Board of 
ENR Russia Invest S.A., Eastern Property Hold-
ings, and the Anglo Chinese Group, Hong Kong.  

Walter Fetscherin

Born 18 August 1945. Swiss citizen with Zurich 
as his place of origin and Meilen, Switzerland,
as his domicile. Dr. Fetscherin studied at the Law 
Faculty of the University of Zurich, Vienna and 
Heidelberg, including a doctorate of Law from 
Zurich University. In 1973 he joined the Swiss 
department of Foreign Affairs and has since 
served in diplomatic postings in Poland, the 
USSR and Canada. He was Swiss Ambassador to 
South Korea, the Czech Republic and until 2003 
he served as Swiss Ambassador to Russia, Ka-
zakhstan and Turkmenistan (and Armenia, Azer-
baijan and Georgia for one year). He is currently 
a member of the board of a number of private 
companies. Dr. Fetscherin is also former presi-
dent of the Joint Chamber of Commerce (JCC, 
Switzerland-Russia, Ukraine, Kazakhstan, Belar-
us and Kyrgyzstan) and Chairman of the Advi-
sory Board of Nestle Russia LLC.

The board of directors (“Board”) establishes 
strategic, accounting, organisational and fi-
nancing policies to be followed by the Company. 
The Board further appoints the authorised sig-
natories of the Company. Moreover, the Board is 
entrusted with preparing shareholders’ meet-

ings and  carrying out shareholders’ resolutions. 
The main duty of the Board is to exercise the 
supervision over the Company’s affairs and its 
investment policy. For Board members, see de-
tails on pages 24 to 25.
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Chief Executive Officer

Ben de Bruyn 

Born 10 June 1966. Mr. de Bruyn was appointed 
as chief executive officer of the Company with 
effect 1 January 2014. He is also a board mem-
ber of Niveus AG, a private company in Switzer-
land. Prior to that he was employed from July 
2006 with Valartis Asset Management SA with 
responsibility for private equity operations. Mr. 
de Bruyn has more than 20 years of experience 
in merger and acquisitions, capital raisings, pri-
vatisations and group restructurings. Previously, 
he led the corporate finance division of Brait SA, 
a South African private equity and investment 
group where he was involved in a number of pri-
vate equity transactions, including leveraged 
buy-outs of listed companies. Before this he 
worked for the capital markets team of Absa 
Bank Ltd and in the corporate banking division 
of First Rand Ltd. He holds business and legal 
degrees from the University of Stellenbosch, 
South Africa as well as a postgraduate diploma 
in taxation from the University of Johannes-
burg, South Africa. In 1993 he was admitted as 
an attorney of the High Court of South Africa.

Roland Müller

Mr. Müller was born 3 May 1963, is a Swiss citi-
zen with Zurich as his place of origin and Mut-
tenz, Switzerland as his domicile. He has a Dr. iur 
and is an Attorney at Law and Notary Public 
(Basel-City), with LL.M (Virginia), Certified Spe-
cialist SBA Construction and Real Estate Law. 
Mr. Müller is a partner of the law firm VISCHER 
Ltd. (Zürich and Basel) and head of VISCHER’s 
real estate team. Mr. Müller specialises in Real 
Estate and Corporate Law. He advises investors, 
developers, builders, shopping center owners 
and managers on real estate law matters. He is 
an officer of the International Bar Association’s 
Real Estate Section. As a civil law notary, he re-
cords the sale and purchase of real estate (in 
Basel-City), corporate matters (formation of 
corporations, shareholder meetings, capital in-
creases, liquidations, etc.), as well as matrimo-
nial and inheritance deeds. Mr. Müller is also 
highly experienced in domestic and cross-bor-
der corporate restructurings (mergers, transfor-
mations, spin-offs, asset transfers etc.) and he 
advises domestic companies and their owners as 
well as subsidiaries of foreign corporations. Mr. 
Müller is the co-editor of one of the leading 
commentaries on the Swiss Merger Act.
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Domicile 
2–4 Place du Molard
1211 Geneva 3
Switzerland

Swiss Security Number: 3447695 
ISIN Number: CH0034476959 
Market Capitalisation: CHF 44.95 million
(At a closing price of CHF 17.00 per share on 
31 December 2016)

1. Group Structure 

1.1 Group structure 
The operative group structure of ENR Russia In-
vest SA (“ENR” or the “Company”) is described in 
note 1 to the 2016 audited consolidated finan-
cial statements.  The subsidiaries and associate 
companies of ENR are described in note 3.1 to 
the 2016 audited consolidated f inancial 
statements. 

1.2 Significant shareholders 
Significant shareholders are disclosed in note 
15.4 to the 2016 audited consolidated financial 
statements. ENR has no knowledge of any sig-
nificant shareholder agreements. 

1.3 Cross-shareholdings 
ENR is not aware of any cross shareholdings. 

2. Capital Structure 

2.1 Capital 
The Company’s capital structure is disclosed in 
the consolidated statement of changes in equity 
on page 79 of the 2016 audited consolidated fi-
nancial statements. 

2.2 Change in capital 
Changes in capital are summarised in the con-
solidated statement of changes in equity on 
page 79 of the 2016 audited consolidated finan-
cial statements. 

2.3 Shares and participation certificates 
Note 13 to the 2016 audited consolidated finan-
cial statements contains a description of the 
Company’s shares. No participation certificates 
have been issued. 

2.4 Profit sharing certificates 
The Company has not issued any profit sharing 
certificates. 

2.5 Limitations on transferability and 
nominee registration
The Company’s articles of association do not 
foresee any restrictions on the transfer of the 
Company’s shares. As the Company only has 
bearer shares in issue there are no rules on reg-
istration in a shareholder register.

Corporate Governance Report
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3. Board of Directors

3.1 Members of the Board of Directors
As of 31 December 2016, the board of directors 
was composed of the following members:

Gustav Stenbolt 
Non-executive member and Chairman
(Norwegian national, first election in 2007)

For details, refer to page 24 of the 2016 annual 
report, section ‘Board of Directors and Chief Ex-
ecutive Officer’.

Walter Fetscherin
Non-executive member 
(Swiss national, first election in 2007)

For details, refer to page 24 of the 2016 annual 
report, section ‘Board of Directors and Chief Ex-
ecutive Officer’.

Roland Müller
Non-executive member 
(Swiss national, first election in 2016)

For details, refer to page 25 of the 2016 annual 
report, section ‘Board of Directors and Chief Ex-
ecutive Officer’.

3.2 Other activities and functions
For details, refer to pages 24 and 25 of the 2016 
annual report, section ‘Board of Directors and 
Chief Executive Officer’.

3.3 Cross involvement
For details, refer to pages 24 and 25 of the 2016 
annual report, section ‘Board of Directors and 
Chief Executive Officer’.

3.4 Election and term of office
Each member of the Board is elected for a period 
of 1 year, expiring at the first ordinary general 
assembly following his or her election. There is no 
limitation on re-election. The time of first elec-
tion has been disclosed above under the Corpo-
rate Governance Report, section 3.1.

3.5 Internal organisational structure
Physical Board meetings are usually held four 
times per year. Conference calls are organised 
from time to time. Board members, collectively, 
attend to audit related matters.

Since the Company’s separate listing on SIX Swiss 
Exchange in late 2007 and up to 31 December 2013, 
the day-to-day management was delegated to Va-
lartis International Ltd., acting as investment man-
ager during this time in accordance with an invest-
ment management agreement (“Agreement”).
 
With effect 1 January 2014, at operational level the 
Company appointed Mr. Ben de Bruyn (refer to page 
25 of the 2016 annual report at the section ‘Board 
of Directors and Chief Executive’) as chief executive 
officer. Under the organisational regulations day-
to-day management and operations of the Compa-
ny were delegated to the chief executive officer 
from 1 January 2014.

The Board will be informed regularly on the activity 
of the Company by the chief executive officer who 
formally reports back during Board meetings. Valar-
tis International Ltd., from 1 January 2014 reports 
back on a regular basis to the chief executive 
officer.
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3.6 Definitions of areas of responsibility
The Board is responsible for managing the busi-
ness affairs of the Company in accordance with 
the Company’s memorandum and articles of 
association. 

As mentioned above in 3.5 of the Corporate Gov-
ernance Report, with effect 1 January 2014, the 
chief executive officer is responsible for the day-
to-day management of the Company.

Valartis International Ltd. will continue to per-
form investment management services to the 
Company in accordance with the Agreement, as 
well as asset management services relating to the 
Saint-Petersburg Petrovsky Fort business center 
(see 4.2 of the Corporate Governance Report).

3.7 Information and control instruments
Valartis Advisory Services SA, a wholly owned Valartis 
Group AG subsidiary, reports the Company’s net asset 
value (“NAV”) on a monthly basis. 

Potential changes in the investment strategy and ma-
jor investments are discussed at Board level. Any in-
vestment or disinvestment decisions in accordance 
with the investment guidelines (see  pages 146 to 147 
of the Company’s 2016 annual report) for private eq-
uity (including real estate), equity, fixed income and 
other investment opportunities require Board approval 
if the investment or disinvestment exceeds                       
CHF 5’250’000. Investments or disinvestments below 
this threshold are approved by the chief executive of-
ficer, who will seek input from the Board where 
required.

4.  Other activ it ies and Investment 
Manager

4.1 Other activities and vested interests
Refer to pages 24 to 25 of the 2016 annual re-
port, section “Board of Directors and Chief Ex-
ecutive Officer”.

4.2 The Agreement (see section 3.5 of the 
Corporate Governance Report) and other  
property management services
Valartis International Ltd., who is a wholly owned 
subsidiary of Valartis Group AG, renders invest-
ment management services for ENR and its sub-
sidiary companies in accordance with the Agree-
ment (reviewed from time to time) and dated 13 
December 2013; the Company’s articles of asso-
ciation; the Investment Guidelines (see ‘Invest-
ment Guidelines’ on pages 146 to 147 of the 2016 
annual report); a risk profile and investment ob-
jectives associated with investments and on spe-
cific instructions from the Company.

The duties of Valartis International Ltd. comprise, 
inter alia, with respect to private equity (includ-
ing real estate) and illiquid capital market invest-
ment opportunities to screen potential opportu-
nities and visit businesses, identify investment 
objectives and interests, preparation of valua-
tions, market analyses, competition analyses, 
debt capacity calculations, tax optimising struc-
tures, financing structures, debt finance (if ap-
propriate), conducting due diligence investiga-
tions and to consider potential exit strategies 
(refer to ‘Investment Guidelines’ on pages 146 to 
147 of the 2016 annual report for informationon 
the investment process). 
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Valartis International Ltd. may also assist the 
Company to invest in, inter alia, securities, finan-
cial instruments or capital market instruments, 
derivatives, fixed term or fiduciary deposits, cur-
rencies and may instruct Company custodians to 
carry out both spot and forward transactions.

In addition, for the Saint-Petersburg Petrovsky 
Fort business center, with effect 1 January 2015, 
the Moscow office of Valartis International Ltd 
was appointed to perform property management 
services relating to the building (for example, 
business development, management of tenant 
agreements; third party broker agreements, prop-
erty administration and commercialisation, legal 
support, local accounting, financial and cash 
management, budgeting and preparation of 
monthly feedback reports). A property manage-
ment fee of US$ 270’000 per annum (VAT exclu-
sive) is paid for rendering these services. 

Also with effect 1 January 2015, Valartis Interna-
tional Ltd was appointed to perform specific ser-
vices to assist with  the UniCredit banking rela-
tionship (UniCredit provided loan funding 
towards the Petrovsky Fort business center). For 
this a fee of US$ 50’000 per annum (VAT exclu-
sive) is paid. 

The services rendered in respect of the Petrovsky 
Fort business center are regulated by separate 
contracts.

5. Compensation, Shareholdings and 
Loans

5.1 Content and method of compensation
Remuneration to Directors comprise of a fixed 
cash compensation, determined on an individual 
basis. From 2014 onwards same has been deter-
mined in accordance with the provisions set out 
in the Company’s articles of association (and 
any changes thereto as may be required at fu-
ture annual general meetings of the Company’s 
shareholders). No past compensation, shares, 
options or warrants have been allotted to the 
members of the Board. Also refer to the Com-
pensation Report which forms part of this 2016 
annual report which provides information on 
compensation matters relating to the Directors 
and employees.

The directors will be reimbursed for traveling, 
hotel and other expenses reasonably incurred in 
the performance of their duties as members of 
the Board. The directors and officers of the 
Company will be covered by a directors’ and of-
ficers’ liability insurance entered into by the 
Company.

5.2 Compensation for acting members of 
governing bodies
Total compensation paid to non-executive di-
rectors for 2016 was CHF 175’000.

5.3 Compensation for former members of 
governing bodies
No compensation was paid to former members 
of governing bodies.
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5.4 Share allotment
There were no share allotments made by the 
Company during 2016.

5.5 Share ownership
For share ownership in the Company of Dr. Walter 
Fetscherin, Mr. Gustav Stenbolt and Dr. Roland 
Müller, refer to note 15.2 of the 2016 audited 
consolidated annual financial statements.

5.6 Options
The members of the Company’s Board and parties 
closely linked to such persons did not hold any 
options on shares of the Company as of 31 De-
cember 2016.

5.7 Additional fees and remunerations
No additional fees nor remunerations were paid 
during the period under review.

5.8 Loans to members of governing bodies
The Company did not grant any loans to mem-
bers of the Board.

5.9 Highest total compensation
The highest total compensation paid to a direc-
tor during 2016 was CHF 100’000.

6. Shareholders’ Participation

6.1 Voting rights
The Company’s statutory provisions with re-
gards to shareholders participation rights are in 
line with applicable legal provisions. There are 
no voting rights restrictions.

6.2 Statutory quorums
Statutory quorums are in line with the applica-
ble legal provisions.

6.3 Convocation of shareholders meetings
Statutory rules on the convocation of share-
holders meetings are in line with the applicable 
legal provisions.

6.4 Agenda
Shareholders holding shares with a total nominal 
value of CHF 1 million may request in writing that 
additional items are added to the proposed agenda 
for the meeting of shareholders of the Company.

6.5 Inscriptions into share register
All of the Company’s shares have been issued in 
the form of bearer shares. Therefore, the Com-
pany does not maintain a shareholders’ register.

7. Changes of Control and Defence 
Measure

7.1 Duty to make an offer
Pursuant to article 32 of the Federal Act on Stock 
Exchanges and Securities Trading of March 24, 
1995 (“SESTA”) an offeror who acquires directly or 
indirectly 33 1/3 % of the voting rights of the Com-
pany will be required to make a public offer to ac-
quire all the listed securities of the Company.  How-
ever, pursuant to Article 13 of the Company’s 
articles of association, article 32 SESTA shall not 
apply with respect to the Company. A purchaser of 
shares of the Company will therefore not be obliged 
to make a public tender offer under Article 32 
SESTA.
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7.2 Clauses on change of control
At the date of this annual report, the Company 
has not entered into any agreements that trig-
ger financial consequences in the case of a 
change of control.

8. Auditors

8.1 Duration of mandate and term of office
Ernst & Young Ltd, at the annual general meet-
ing of the Company held on 24 June 2010, was 
appointed as auditor of the Company and has 
acted as auditor for the Company since that 
time. The auditor is elected by the general as-
sembly for a term of one-year. 

PricewaterhouseCoopers SA perform certain au-
dit duties for ENR subsidiaries for past financial 
periods. 

For the Company, Mr. Stefan Schmid is the audi-
tor in charge since the financial year 2013.

8.2 Auditing fees
During the 2016 financial year, CHF 153’949 (ex-
cluding VAT) was paid to Ernst & Young Ltd in 
respect of 2015 audit fees. The 2016 audit fees 
amount to CHF 125’000  (excluding VAT) and will 
be paid before 30 June 2017.

8.3 Additional fees
During 2016 no additional fees were paid to 
Ernst & Young Ltd.

8.4 Supervisory and control instruments
It is the Company’s policy to hold a formal 
meeting between members of Board and the au-
ditor in charge once a year.

9. Information Policy

The Company appointed Valartis Advisory Services 
SA (see Corporate Governance Report in 3.7 - In-
formation and control instruments above) for the 
calculation of its NAV and attributable NAV per 
share, which is published on a quarterly basis on 
Bloomberg and on the Company’s website. 

From 1 January 2014, quarterly NAV publica-
tions are made via ad hoc announcements. In 
respect of the first and third quarters of each 
calendar year, publications will take place within 
one month after the calendar quarter. For the 
remaining two quarters, the NAV will be pub-
lished after the finalisation of the interim and 
annual results. Audited annual reports as at 31 
December, are published within 4 months after 
year-end. Semi-annual reports as at 30 June, 
generally unaudited, are published within 2 
months after closing.
 
Furthermore, information can be obtained by 
contacting the Company in writing, by phone or 
by fax: 

ENR Russia Invest SA
Investor Relations
2–4 Place du Molard 
1211 Geneva 3, 
Switzerland

Tel: +41 22 510 2626
E-mail: contact@enr.ch
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1. General

Risks and uncertainties described in this section 
of the annual report comprise material factors 
currently known to the Board. They may impact 
on ENR’s investment activities in Russia, other 
member countries of the CIS and the Baltic states. 
Many countries forming part of the CIS and Baltic 
States face similar challenges arising from struc-
tural (whether economic, legal or political) 
matters.

Russia comprises the majority of economic activ-
ity in the CIS and risk factors and uncertainties 
applying to Russian should, in varying degrees, 
also apply to other CIS member countries. This 
also applies for the Baltic States. Emerging market 
economies, such as those in Russia, other CIS 
member countries and the Baltic States are sub-
ject to greater risk than more developed markets 
(including in some cases significant economic, po-
litical, social and legal and tax risks). Events in 
these countries are sometimes subject to rapid 
change. Consequently, information in this section 
could become outdated relatively quickly. More-
over, during times of financial uncertainty, com-
panies operating in emerging markets could face 
severe liquidity constraints as foreign funding 
sources are withdrawn and local funding become 
more difficult or expensive to obtain.

2. Risk factors – ENR’s investment
    environment

ENR’s investment activities in Russia, other CIS 
countries and the Baltic States involve a high 

degree of risk and special considerations not 
typically associated with investments in more 
highly regulated environments apply.

Economic Risks in Russia

Economic instability in Russia could adversely 
impact ENR’s operations as well as its invest-
ments and growth strategy 
The economy of Russia for the first ten years af-
ter the dissolution of the Soviet Union was at 
various times characterised by significant de-
clines in GDP and hyperinflation; increase in, or 
high interest rates and an unstable currency; 
high government debt relative to GDP; lack of 
reform in the banking sector and a weak bank-
ing system providing limited liquidity to Russian 
businesses; high levels of loss-making enter-
prises operating due to the lack of effective 
bankruptcy proceedings; use of barter transac-
tions and illiquid promissory notes to settle 
commercial transactions; tax evasion and a 
black and grey market economy; pervasive capi-
tal flight and high levels of corruption and orga-
nized crime into the economy; significant in-
creases in unemployment and under employment 
and the impoverishment of a large part of the 
Russian population; lower growth cycles and li-
quidity constraints; sudden price declines in the 
natural resources sector; and the use of fraudu-
lent bankruptcy actions to take unlawful pos-
session of property.

In August 1998 in a rapidly deteriorating eco-
nomic situation, the Russian government de-
faulted on its ruble denominated securities, the 

Risk Factors
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CBR stopped its support of the ruble and a tem-
porary moratorium was imposed on certain hard 
currency payments. These actions resulted in an 
immediate and severe devaluation of the ruble 
and a sharp increase in the rate of inflation, a 
dramatic decline in prices of Russian debt and 
equity securities and an inability of Russian is-
suers to raise funds in the international capital 
markets. These problems were aggravated by the 
near collapse of the Russian banking sector. This 
impaired the ability of banks to act as a reliable 
source of liquidity to Russian companies and re-
sulted in the widespread loss of bank deposits. 
The economy rebounded in 1999 and 2000 (GDP 
grew by 5.4% in 1999 and 8.3% in 2000), pri-
marily due to the weak ruble and an increasing 
trade surplus driven by rising world oil prices. 
This recovery and renewed government efforts 
in 2000 to advance structural reforms, caused 
business and investor confidence to rise and 
lead to strong GDP growth for a number of 
years.

During this time and today Russia remains very 
dependent on the export of commodities, par-
ticularly oil, natural gas, metals and timber, 
which accounts for the majority of exports and 
making Russia vulnerable to changes in world 
commodity prices. From 2000 until the first half 
2008, Russia experienced rapid GDP growth, tax 
collections increased and the ruble was stable. 
Between 2004 and 2009 the ratio of govern-
ment debt to GDP decreased from 32% to 6.5% 
with a switch from external to internal borrow-
ings and the early repayment of external debt. 
Russia benefited from the increase in global 

commodity prices, spurring rising disposable in-
come and consumer spending and a period of 
budget surpluses.

During 2008 and part of 2009, after a period of 
sustained high growth, the Russian economy 
was adversely impacted by the global financial 
and economic crisis that developed in second 
half 2008. This manifested itself through sig-
nificant volatility in world debt and equity mar-
kets, reductions in foreign investment and sharp 
declines in GDP around the world. The economy 
in Russia was greatly impacted by the crisis and 
2008 turned out to be one of the most challeng-
ing equity, credit and economic environments in 
the recent past (real GDP growth contracted by 
7.9% in 2009 and there was a 5.9% budget defi-
cit in 2009). In summer 2010 fires broke out 
across Western Russia and around Moscow, 
covering at one stage some 193’000 hectares. 
The fires, combined with a summer drought and 
record high temperatures, resulted in a decline 
in the Russian harvest and increased demand 
for imported grain. The costs associated with 
controlling and fighting the fires, addressing 
environmental matters and repairing damage 
had a negative impact on the Russian economy. 
GDP grew by 4.3% in 2011 and by 3.4% in 2012. 
GDP growth slowed during 2013 where the 
economy grew by 1.3%.

Oil and gas prices remain key factors to the 
prospects of the Russian economy as they ac-
count for two-thirds of exports and a high pro-
portion of federal budget revenues. With oil ex-
ports comprising such a large part of Russian 
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exports the sharp fall in world crude oil prices in 
2014 from its peak of US$ 115 a barrel at mid-
year to around the US$ 50 levels at year-end 
was the key trigger to the lower growth environ-
ment in 2014. The ruble also depreciated in line 
with the fall in oil prices. The impact of Western 
financial sanctions had a negative impact, espe-
cially restrictions preventing Russian corporates 
access to Western capital markets where EU 
measures were targeted to restrict lending to 
state-controlled banks, corporates are finding it 
harder to access finance and international fi-
nanciers have been cautious with lending to 
Russian companies. 

2015 was another difficult year for the Russian 
economy where the GDP contracted by 3.7%. 
Domestic demand and consumption were weak-
er, manufacturing growth and construction out-
put lower and fixed investment contracted. Oil 
and gas prices remain key factors to the pros-
pects of the Russian economy, representing 
two-thirds of all exports and generating the 
bulk of federal budget revenues. Consequently, 
low global oil prices have a negative impact on 
Russian economy as was seen with crude oil 
prices which fell sharply by some 34% in 2005. 
Any sustained deterioration of the economic 
situation in the world or any deterioration in the 
general economic conditions in Russia or a sus-
tained fall in world energy prices may impact 
negatively on Russia, which in turn, could have 
an adverse impact on ENR’s investments, the 
ENR NAV and ultimately on the value of ENR 
shares.

There were signs of improvement in the Russian 
economy in 2016 as dual shocks from lower oil 
prices and sanctions have been absorbed (to an 
extent). GDP contracted by 0.6% in 2016 (better 
than the -2.5% range estimates at the beginning 
of the year). Inflation continued to decelerate 
from 12.9% in December 2015 to 5.6% at end-
2016. This allowed the CBR to cut the key rate to 
10% in 2016.The IMF expects further easing of 
inflation during 2017. During 2016 global oil 
prices recovered from around USD 34 per barrel 
(Brent) to higher levels in the region of USD 55 
per barrel (Brent) at year-end 2016. 

The risk of a lower growth environment
The Russian economy has structural weaknesses 
and downside risks principally from a sustained 
fall in world energy prices will impact negatively 
on Russia’s export and budget revenues. Ac-
cordingly, there can be no assurance that 
growth in the Russian economy, a relatively sta-
ble ruble and healthy foreign exchange reserves 
will be present or not be abruptly reversed.

The risk of ruble depreciation
Prior to 2005, a policy of gradual nominal ruble 
depreciation, in the face of strong oil-related in-
flows, caused inflation to become entrenched at 
a relatively high level. Since then, ruble appre-
ciation as a result of greater exchange rate flex-
ibility helped inflation and inflationary expecta-
tions on a downward path. From mid-2008, due 
to the impact of lower liquidity, lower oil and 
commodity prices , the ruble was under 
pressure.
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A challenge in 2009 for the CBR in the foreign 
exchange markets was linked to significant for-
eign debt from financial and non-financial sec-
tors. This lead to CBR intervention in the foreign 
exchange market and adjustments to the ex-
change rate policy to meet changing external 
and internal conditions by, for example, expand-
ing limits of permissible fluctuations in the bi-
currency basket. The ruble depreciated by 
10.32% against the dollar in 2013 as emerging-
markets were negatively impacted by the pros-
pects of US Federal Reserve tapering actions. In 
2014, with falling oil prices and against the 
backdrop of the political standoff in Ukraine, the 
ruble depreciated by some 50% against the dol-
lar in 2014. The CBR also introduced a flexible 
exchange rate regime in November 2014, an-
nouncing that it would only intervene in the 
foreign exchange markets when it perceived 
threats to financial stability. The CBR advised 
that it would limit daily foreign currency inter-
ventions to a maximum of US$ 350 million. 
These interventions were designed to smooth 
out currency movements and provide a more 
stable currency environment and manage a pro-
gressive decline in the value of the ruble against 
the currency basket. The CBR reserved the right 
to make additional once off interventions in 
case of financial stability threats. The key lend-
ing rate was increased a number of times before 
a 6.5% increase in mid-December to 17% (re-
duced to 15% in January 2015) to curb currency 
speculation and stabilise the ruble at that time.

Crude oil prices fell sharply by some 34% in 
2015 and as there is a strong correlation be-
tween these prices and the value of the ruble, 

the ruble weakened by almost 30% against the 
Swiss Franc in 2015. 

During 2016 global oil prices recovered from 
around US$ 34 per barrel (Brent) to higher levels 
in the region of US$ 55 per barrel (Brent) at 
year-end 2016. The value of the ruble increased 
by 17.37% against the Swiss Franc in 2016.

The fluctuation of the ruble or the timing and 
impact of future CBR interventions and policy 
shifts may lead to ruble appreciation or depre-
ciation, which could have an adverse impact on 
ENR’s investments and ultimately the ENR NAV 
and/or value of ENR shares.

The Russian economy is vulnerable to economic 
downturns of its major trading partners and is 
very dependent on world commodity prices.
As in the past, an increase in perceived risks as-
sociated with investing in emerging economies 
could dampen foreign investment in Russia and 
adversely impact the Russian economy. As Rus-
sia produces and exports large quantities of 
crude oil, natural gas and other commodities, 
the Russian economy is vulnerable to fluctua-
tions in world commodity prices, as well as 
crude oil and natural gas prices on the world 
markets (prices reached record high levels in 
mid-2008, have seen significant declines since, 
particularly the decline in the crude oil price in 
the second half of 2008 - which recovered again 
in 2011). In 2013 the Federal budget had a small 
deficit where better than expected oil and gas 
revenues of fset lower non-oil and gas 
revenues.
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Since 2013 the Russian finance ministry has 
linked budget expenditures to the long-term av-
erage oil price. For 2015 it had assumed an aver-
age oil price of US$ 50 per barrel. Traditional 
Russian oil deposits are declining and oil com-
panies are facing high capital investment for 
new exploration and expansion.

A sustained decline in the price of crude oil, nat-
ural gas or other commodities may further dis-
rupt the Russian economy, which could have an 
adverse impact on the value of the Ruble and 
ENR’s investments and ultimately the ENR NAV 
and/or the value of ENR shares.

The Russian economy is vulnerable to economic 
downturns of its major trading partners and is 
highly dependent on world commodity prices.
As in the past, an increase in perceived risks as-
sociated with investing in emerging economies 
could dampen foreign investment in Russia and 
adversely impact the Russian economy. As Russia 
produces and exports large quantities of crude 
oil, natural gas and other commodities, the Rus-
sian economy is vulnerable to fluctuations in 
world commodity prices, as well as crude oil and 
natural gas prices on the world markets (prices 
reached record high levels in mid-2008, have 
seen significant declines since, particularly the 
periodic decline in the oil prices since then. In 
2013 the Federal budget had a small deficit where 
better than expected oil and gas revenues offset 
lower non-oil and gas revenues.

A lower oil price encourages a shift of capital in-
vestment from refining to upstream develop-
ment. Major Russian oil companies, at times, 

have cut investment programs to meet debt re-
payment and may postpone investments in less 
attractive exploration areas for some time. 

A sustained decline in the price of crude oil, natu-
ral gas or other commodities may further disrupt 
the Russian economy, which could have an ad-
verse impact on ENR’s investments and ultimate-
ly the ENR NAV and/or the value of ENR shares.

The impact of a lower liquidity situation or sanc-
tions for Russian companies
After the 2008 world financial crisis, Russia suf-
fered for a period from a lack of liquidity in its 
banking sector. After a number of government 
interventions by the CBR and ministry of fi-
nance, liquidity to the banking sector increased 
and these packages were geared to stimulate 
growth and increase lending again. By end 2009 
these programs were partially successful, but 
the economic environment was still difficult and 
banks were reluctant to lend. In 2010 liquidity 
returned to the market, but banks continued to 
be very cautious with their lending. The position 
was the same in 2011. In 2014 the armed con-
flict in the east of Ukraine resulted in Western 
sanctions aimed at Russian individuals and 
companies, including sanctions banning com-
mercial activities for Western banks to offer 
long-term credits to Russian companies.

A lower liquidity environment or reduced bank 
lending could adversely impact future economic 
growth, which could have an adverse impact on 
ENR’s investments and the ENR NAV and/or ENR 
shares.
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Physical infrastructure in Russia in sub-stan-
dard condition - may disrupt business activity
Much of the physical infrastructure dates back 
to Soviet Union times and has not been ade-
quately upgraded or maintained. The rail and 
road networks; electric power generation, trans-
mission and distribution; district heating sys-
tems and water utilities; communication sys-
tems and building stock are impacted. Electricity 
and heating shortages in some of the regions 
have disrupted local economies. Other parts of 
Russia face similar challenges. The government 
has been reorganising the rail, electricity and 
telephone networks. This could result in in-
creased charges and tariffs but fail to generate 
the anticipated capital investment required to 
repair, maintain and improve these systems. The 
deterioration of physical infrastructure harms 
the national economy, disrupts access to com-
munications, adds costs to doing business in 
Russia and can interrupt business operations.

This may have an adverse impact on ENR’s in-
vestments and the ENR NAV and/or ENR shares.

The official credit rating for Russia has a mate-
rial impact on investor sentiment
Ratings of agencies such as S&P, Moody’s and 
Fitch are important as they impact on invest-
ment sentiment towards Russia and ratings of 
its sovereign bonds. For example, in January 
2015 Fitch downgraded its rating for Russian 
debt from BBB to BBB- and noted that the eco-
nomic outlook has deteriorated significantly 
since mid- 2014 following sharp falls in the oil 
price and the ruble, coupled with a steep rise in 

interest rates. In February 2015 Moodys down-
graded Russia by one notch to Ba1, with a nega-
tive outlook. The reasons provided were signifi-
cant damage to the Russia’s economy by events 
in Ukraine; drop in oil prices and the foreign ex-
change shock; Russia’s reduced international re-
serves amid capital outflows and limited access 
to foreign capital markets and a risk that Rus-
sian authorities may take decisions to compli-
cate a timely fulfillment of external debt servic-
ing. Sberbank indicated that these concerns look 
excessive. Standard & Poor’s also downgraded 
Russia in 2014. In future Russia could face fur-
ther downgrades or rating agencies may refrain 
from assigning further rating improvements. 
Both scenarios may deter investors from invest-
ing in Russia and reduce capital inflows into 
Russia. Commercial banks may limit their fi-
nancing of assets in Russia or seek to reduce 
existing risks. 

This could have an adverse impact on ENR’s in-
vestments and ultimately the value of the ENR 
NAV and/or ENR shares.

Russian banking and financial system remains 
underdeveloped and a banking crisis could place 
liquidity constraints on ENR portfolio companies 
and adversely impact their financial condition
The Russian banking and other financial systems 
are developing and Russian legislation relating to 
banks and bank accounts may be subject to vary-
ing interpretations and inconsistent application. 
The 1998 financial crisis resulted in the bankrupt-
cy and liquidation of many Russian banks and al-
most entirely eliminated the developing market 
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for commercial bank loans at that time. In 2004 
the Russian banking sector experienced its first 
serious turmoil since the August 1998 financial 
crisis. Several privately owned Russian banks ex-
perienced liquidity problems and were unable to 
attract funds on the inter- bank market or from 
their client base. Several of these privately owned 
Russian banks collapsed or ceased or severely 
limited their operations. Russian banks owned or 
controlled by the Government or CBR and foreign 
owned banks were generally not adversely im-
pacted by the turmoil.

Many Russian banks do not meet international 
banking standards and the transparency of the 
Russian banking sector still lags behind interna-
tionally accepted norms. Although banking su-
pervision is improving many Russian banks do 
not always follow CBR regulations with respect to 
lending criteria, credit quality, loan loss reserves, 
diversification of exposure or other requirements. 
The imposition of more stringent regulations or 
interpretations could lead to determinations of 
inadequate capital and the insolvency of some 
banks. 

Since late November 2013, the CBR has been re-
voking banking licenses resulting in an increase 
in retail deposits at stronger banks. In earlier 
years, prior to the 2008 global financial crisis, 
there had been a rapid increase in lending by 
Russian banks accompanied by a deterioration in 
the credit quality of borrowers. In a robust do-
mestic corporate debt market Russian banks in-
creasingly held large amounts of Russian corpo-
rate ruble denominated bonds in their portfolios, 

which deteriorated the risk profile of bank 
assets. 

Deficiencies in the Russian banking sector, com-
bined with the deterioration in credit portfolios 
of Russian banks, may result in the banking sec-
tor being susceptible to market downturns or 
economic slowdowns or Russian corporate and 
individual defaults that may occur during market 
downturns or economic slowdowns. The global 
financial crisis led to the collapse or bailout of 
some Russian banks and to significant liquidity 
constraints for others. Profitability levels of most 
Russian banks were adversely affected by the cri-
sis. As a result, the government injected substan-
tial funds into the banking system. During 2014 
EU sanctions against Russia included a prohibi-
tion on EU nationals and companies to buy or sell 
new bonds, equity or similar financial instru-
ments with a maturity exceeding 30 days, issued 
by, inter alia, five major state-owned Russian 
banks and their subsidiaries outside the EU and 
those acting on their behalf or at their direction. 
EU nationals and companies may also not provide 
loans with a maturity exceeding 30 days to the 
aforementioned banks. 

Another banking crisis or the bankruptcy or insol-
vency of any bank with who ENR or one of its 
portfolio companies do business with could ad-
versely impact ENR or the portfolio company 
business. It could also result in the loss of funds 
or income or impact on completion of banking 
transactions in Russia, which could have a mate-
rial adverse impact on ENR or its portfolio com-
pany business, results, operations, financial con-
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dition and prospects. Furthermore, any shortage 
of funds or other disruptions to the banking sys-
tem which may be experienced by ENR or its 
portfolio companies from time to time, could 
have a material adverse impact to complete any 
planned expansion or development or to obtain 
finance required for planned growth and could 
then have a material adverse impact on ENR or its 
portfolio company and the value of the ENR NAV 
and/or ENR shares.

Labor shortages
Any tightness in the labor market may cause 
shortages of certain skills and can be a contrib-
uting factor to higher wages. This could contrib-
ute to lower productivity and profitability of 
businesses, which could adversely impact ENR 
portfolio companies and ultimately the value of 
the ENR NAV and/or ENR shares.

The risk of a higher inflation environment
The Russian economy has been characterised by 
periods of high rates of inflation. The annual av-
erage inflation rate was 11.9% in 2007; 13.3% in 
2008; 8.8% in 2009, 8.8% in 2010 and 6.11% at 
year-end 2011. Inflation reduced to record low 
levels mid 2012 at 3.6%, before increasing 
tonear 6% levels at year end 2012. In real terms, 
2013 core inflation was 6.5% (down to 6.1% yoy 
in January 2014 on moderate food and tariff 
inflation). 

Russian officials have in the past stated that 
government intervention in the equity and mon-
ey markets increased inflationary pressure 
where rescue measures may contribute to yoy 

consumer inflation by one to two percentage 
points. Inflationary pressures may further in-
crease in future and there is no certainty that 
official government forecasts for inflation will 
not be exceeded. 

The weakening ruble, along with Russia’s ban on 
imports of Western food produce, has pushed 
inflation up to 11.4%, at year-end 2014. Higher 
consumer prices and utility tariffs and a weaker 
ruble have a negative impact on Russian infla-
tion which was 12.90% at year-end 2015. De-
spite the inflationary pressures the CBR cut the 
key interest rate to 11% in July 2015 where it 
remained for the rest of the year in an attempt 
to make lending more accessible for businesses. 
In 2016 inflation continued to decelerate from 
12.9% in December 2015 to 5.6% at year-end 
2016. This allowed the CBR to cut the key rate to 
10%. High inflation could impact negatively on 
growth, cost of funding and may have an ad-
verse impact on ENR portfolio companies and 
the value of the ENR NAV and/or ENR shares.

Market risk in Russia
Investments in Russia may be highly volatile. 
Price movements are influenced by a wide vari-
ety of factors. World commodity price move-
ments, particularly crude oil and gas, will impact 
on economic and corporate performance in 
Russia. Other factors include, changing supply 
and demand relationships, government, trade, 

fiscal, monetary and exchange control programs 
and policies, national and international political 
and economic events as well as changes in in-
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terest rates. Any adverse movement could have 
a negative impact on ENR investments and the 
value of the ENR NAV and/or ENR shares.

Political, Social, Regulatory Risks

Political instability in Russia
Since 1991 Russia has moved from a one-party 
state with a centrally-planned economy to a 
federal republic with democratic institutions 
and a market-oriented economy. At times there 
were some popular dissatisfaction, for example 
with the result of privatisations in the 1990’s, as 
well as certain demands for autonomy from par-
ticular regional and ethnic groups. The course of 
political and economic reform has not always 
been smooth, and the composition of the Rus-
sian government at times, was unstable. 

Throughout most of his first four-year term of 
office, Mr. Putin maintained governmental sta-
bility. Elections to the lower house of the legis-
lature, the State Duma, in December 2003 re-
sulted in a substantial majority for parties 
sympathetic to President Putin. In February 
2004, just before his election to a second term 
as president, President Putin dismissed his en-
tire cabinet, including the prime minister. At the 
time he issued a presidential decree that signifi-
cantly reduced the number of federal ministries, 
redistributed certain functions amongst various 
agencies of the Russian government and over-
hauled the federal administrative system. Presi-
dent Putin also implemented a proposal that the 
executives of sub-federal political units no lon-
ger be elected by the population, but instead be 

nominated by the president of Russia and con-
firmed by the legislature of the sub-federal po-
litical unit. President Putin also eliminated indi-
vidual races for the State Duma, and that all 
votes would instead be cast for political parties. 
Future changes in government, major policy 
shifts or lack of consensus between various 
branches of the government and powerful eco-
nomic groups could also disrupt or reverse eco-
nomic and regulatory reforms. The December 
2007 parliamentary elections were held under 
new rules which prohibited candidates from 
running as independents from single-mandate 
electoral districts and deputies could only be 
elected as members of a party that receives at 
least 7% of all the votes cast (previously 5%). 

The subsequent transition from President Putin 
to Mr. Dmitry Medvedev as President went 
smoothly. In September 2011 Mr. Medvedev 
agreed to take up the leadership of the United 
Russia party in Duma elections in 2011 and was 
then appointed as prime minister after the 2012 
presidential elections. On 4 March 2012, Presi-
dent Putin secured some 64% of the vote in 
presidential elections and won a third term as 
president. He was inaugurated as Russian presi-
dent on 7 May 2012. Mr. Alexey Kudrin saw no 
further role for himself in government given 
proposed government spending plans. Mr. Ku-
drin was requested to resign, which he did. He 
had a successful record of maintaining budget 
stability over 12 years and overseen the intro-
duction of a number of important initiatives 
where he, on the expenditures side, resisted in-
creased government spending with some suc-
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cess. During his tenure Russia had paid off its 
external debt, reducing debt levels to 10% of 
GDP and set up two reserve funds, the Reserve 
Fund, the National Welfare fund.

Legislative elections for electing members of the 
450-seat State Duma (Federal Assembly of Rus-
sia’s lower house) are held once in five years (for 
four years till 2008) through proportional repre-
sentation. In December 2011 during the Russian 
parliamentary elections United Russia won 
49.9% of the vote. The Communist Party se-
cured 19.2%, Just Russia 13.2% and the Liberal 
Democratic Party 11.2%. As a result United Rus-
sia lost its two-thirds majority in the Duma. Pre 
and post presidential elections demonstrations 
of opposition supporters in December 2011 have 
been peaceful.

Approval ratings continue to demonstrate resil-
ient support for President Putin and the govern-
ment (Mr. Putin’s approval rating continues to 
be in the upper 80% range). In 2016 Russia’s 
parliamentary, regional and municipal elections 
the ruling United Russia party received some 
54.20% of the vote and 343 deputies in the 
Duma. This has been the largest ever majority 
and is enough to allow United Russia to poten-
tially unilaterally change the constitution. The 
nationalist Liberal Democratic Party of Russia 
and the Communist Party received 13.16% and 
13.35% of votes, respectively. A Just Russia’ 
party gained 6.2% of the votes. Overall turnout 
fell to 48% from 60%.

Possible future governmental changes or major 
policy shifts or a lack of consensus internally 

between the President, Prime Minister, the Gov-
ernment, Russia’s parliament and powerful eco-
nomic groups may lead to political instability, 
which could have a material adverse impact on 
ENR’s investments and therefore could adverse-
ly impact on the ENR NAV and/or ENR shares.

Political conflicts may create an uncertain oper-
ating environment
The delineation of authority among the many 
districts, regions, internal republics and the fed-
eral government in Russia, as well as among co-
ordinate branches of government, is often un-
clear. The Russian political system is vulnerable 
to tensions and conflicts among federal, region-
al and local authorities over various matters, in-
cluding land ownership, tax revenues, regulatory 
authority and regional autonomy. Similar ten-
sions and conflicts may also exist among vari-
ous regulatory authorities within the federal 
government or within any given regional or local 
government. The resultant lack of co-ordination 
between the federal government and local or re-
gional authorities has often resulted in the en-
actment of conflicting legislation at various lev-
els. Some of these laws, and governmental and 
administrative decisions implementing them, as 
well as certain transactions concluded pursuant 
to them, have in the past been challenged in the 
courts, and such challenges may occur in the 
future.

Regional political conflicts between Russia and 
its neighboring countries could also be very dis-
ruptive and in a worst case scenario spill over in 
longer term regional conflict and/or war, as was 
seen in the past with the war in Georgia over a 
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dispute over the break-away areas of South Os-
setia and Abkhazia where the Russian stock ex-
change experienced heightened volatility. In the 
past the relationship between Russia and 
Ukraine was strained due to a dispute about 
Ukraine’s failure to pay or delay paying arrears 
relating to the supply of energy resources, bor-
der disputes and Gazprom decisions to increase 
the price of natural gas sold to Ukraine. The 
possible Ukraine and Georgia accession to NATO 
and the EU is a source of tension with Russia. If 
disputes with Ukraine were to disrupt or reduce 
the flow of Russia’s trade with Ukraine, or 
through Ukrainian ports or pipelines, Russian 
exports and/or export capacity could be ad-
versely impacted.

In late 2013 Ukraine and the EU failed to con-
clude an association agreement and Ukraine 
agreed to a financial aid package from Russia. A 
political crisis developed, polarising sentiments 
between Ukraine’s western and central regions 
and those in the south and east that are home 
to more Russian speakers and ethnic Russians. 
This spiraled into anti-government demonstra-
tions. With growing tensions where Ukraine had 
to choose between a pro-Western or a pro-Rus-
sian policy, President Victor Yanukovych had to 
leave the country and was replaced by a provi-
sional government. After the re-incorporation 
of Crimea into Russia, a political stand-off de-
veloped between Russia and Ukraine regarding 
this question. Presidential elections were held in 
Ukraine in May 2014 and Mr. Petro Poroshenko 
was elected as new president. A first set of 
sanctions were issued by the US and EU against 
Russia in March 2014 as a direct consequence of 

the Crimea situation. They were mainly aimed at 
Crimean officials and politicians to prevent 
them to travel to the US, EU and Canada and 
later extended to several Russian business peo-
ple. Japan followed up with the suspension of 
talks related to military and space cooperation 
as well as investments and visa requirements. 

In March 2014 Moscow introduced travel bans 
on 10 public American personalities, followed by 
sanctions against 13 Canadian officials. In early 
August 2014 Russia announced a one year ban 
on the import of specified food products from 
the following origins: the US, EU, Norway, Cana-
da and Australia (extended since then). During 
late April 2014 the US imposed a ban on busi-
ness transactions for several Russian officials 
and 17 Russian companies. A few days later, the 
EU issued travel bans against the energy compa-
nies Rosneft and Novatek as well as Gazprom-
bank and Vnesheconombank. In addition, the EU 
issued travel bans for another 15 Russian indi-
viduals. With the ongoing escalation of the 
armed conflict in the Donbass region, in mid-
July 2014 the US issued transaction bans to 
Rosneft , Novatek and Gazprombank and 
Vnesheconombank, which was followed by the 
EU with the extension of sanctions against a 
further 23 Russian individuals and 21 commer-
cial entities. At the beginning of August 2014 
the US, EU, Canada and Australia introduced 
new sanctions against Russia, mainly consisting 
of a ban of commercial activities for Western 
banks to offer long-term credits to Russian 
companies but also to deliver technology for oil 
exploration as well as the delivery of certain 
dual use products. The EU added a further 13 
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people and 5 entities to sanctions list. During 
December 2016 the EU agreed to extend eco-
nomic sanctions against Russia until mid-2017.

Geopolitical tensions between Russia and the 
West have resulted in a higher cost of capital, 
lower trade volumes and a continued eastwards 
pivot of Russia towards China. The Russian geo-
political focus shifted from Ukraine towards 
Syria in 2015, which led to some frustration 
within the Ukrainian government circles as 
Ukraine seeks more international attention and 
funding from IMF. Russia denies any involve-
ment in eastern Ukraine and continues to urge 
both sides to adhere to the Minsk II Peace Trea-
ty, which is linked by the EU to Russian sanc-
tions and where Russia has a vested interest to 
implement this treaty considering that sanc-
tions and counter-sanctions are undermining its 
own economic growth.

In Syria, the civil war involves a variety of op-
position groups, ISIS and President Assad’s forc-
es. It is a complicated situated and a number of 
parties are seeking to establish their power base. 
With Russia’s intervention in Syria as sanctioned 
by President Assad, Russia has proven itself to 
be an influential international operator and wid-
ened widened the agenda for discussion with 
the West. Before the Syrian campaign the dis-
cussions centered largely around Ukraine and 
the peace process there, which has since be-
come a peripheral issue compared to the insta-
bility in the Middle East. Russia and Iran have 
also maintained their support of the Assad re-
gime (largely for historical and pragmatic rea-
sons) where Russia sought to, inter alia, stabilise 

Syria as a sustainable governable entity (failing 
which a destruction of the administrative struc-
ture could likely have resulted in the regimes 
deposition and resultant chaos) and Russia’s be-
lief that the best way to fight ISIS is in coopera-
tion with Assad’s troops on the ground. Presi-
dent Putin, at the outset of the Syrian 
intervention, advised that it would be temporar-
ily, which explains the withdrawal of Russian 
troops in March 2016 as Russia believes its ob-
jectives were met. The change in the balance of 
forces on the ground has led the way for g talks 
between the parties and future reforms in Syria 
itself to recover a viable statehood. For the Ge-
neva Syrian talks, Russia appears to be distanc-
ing itself of President Assad whilst not giving up 
on his regime though. Russia appears to posi-
tion itself to interact not only to the existing re-
gime but also with a broader array of parties.

Regional uncertainties impacted world stock 
markets negatively and Russia was no excep-
tion. Regional uncertainties have and could in 
future impact Russian stock markets negatively. 
Political and legal factors may hinder ENR and 
its portfolio companies long-term planning ef-
forts and create uncertainties in its operating 
environment, both of which may inhibit or pre-
vent the implementation of growth strategies 
and may adversely impact ENR’s portfolio com-
pany operations in Russia and therefore could 
adversely impact on the ENR NAV and/or ENR 
shares.

Crime and corruption
The political and economic changes in Russia 
since the early 1990s have resulted, at times, in 
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lawlessness. Government officials, from time to 
time, have been reported to engage in selective 
investigations, prosecutions and impositions of 
sanctions to further personal, political or pecu-
niary interests and agendas, whether on their 
own initiative or at the instigation of private 
third parties (including business competitors of 
the targets of such government actions). Bribery 
has been a factor in certain Russian businesses. 
A number of Russian media organisations act as 
conduits for smear campaigns. An allegation of 
involvement in these practices would pose a risk 
of prosecution and of possible civil, criminal or 
administrative liability.

The use of governmental power against particu-
lar companies or persons, for example, through 
tax, environmental or prosecutorial authorities, 
could adversely impact the Russian economic 
climate and, if directed against ENR portfolio 
companies, its senior management, its major 
shareholders or beneficial owners, the portfolio 
company’s business, financial condition, results 
of operations and prospects could suffer, which 
could in turn adversely impact the value of ENR 
shares. Russian authorities have challenged 
some Russian companies and prosecuted their 
executive officers and shareholders on tax eva-
sion and related charges. In some cases, the re-
sult of such prosecutions and challenges have 
been significant claims against companies for 
unpaid taxes and the imposition of prison sen-
tences on individuals. Certain environmental 
challenges brought by Russian authorities in the 
oil and gas as well as mining sectors may target 
specific Russian businesses under non-Russian 

control, with the view to bringing them under 
state control. Takeovers of major private sector 
companies in the oil and gas sector by state 
controlled companies following tax, environ-
mental and other challenges may reflect a shift 
in official policy in favor of state control at the 
expense of individual or private ownership, at 
least where large and important enterprises are 
concerned. Regulatory authorities in Russia 
have a high degree of discretion and at times 
appear to exercise their discretion arbitrarily, 
without hearing or prior notice. Such actions 
have reportedly included denial or withdrawal of 
licences, sudden and unexpected tax audits, 
criminal prosecutions, civil actions and expro-
priation of property. Arbitrary government ac-
tion or crime, if directed against ENR portfolio 
companies or its senior management, its major 
shareholders or beneficial owners, could result 
in the portfolio company’s business, financial 
condition, results of operations and prospects 
to suffer, which could adversely impact the ENR 
NAV and/or ENR shares.

Social instability, increased violence and sup-
port for renewed centralisation of authority, re-
nationalisation or expropriation of property and 
limitations on foreign investment
In the past, the Government and certain private 
enterprises failed to pay full salaries to its em-
ployees and salaries and benefits generally have 
not kept pace with the rapidly increasing cost of 
living. Should a similar situation occur in future, 
it could lead to labor and social unrest. The 
elimination of many subsidised services for pen-
sioners in January 2005 led to nationwide pro-
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tests, which caused the government to re-eval-
uate the scope and pace of its program to 
reform economic policies. Civil unrest may have 
other significant political, social and economic 
consequences, such as increased violence and 
support for renewed centralisation of authority; 
re-nationalisation or expropriation of property; 
or restrictions on foreign involvement in Russia. 
Any of these factors could have an adverse im-
pact on ENR investments and could adversely 
impact the ENR NAV and/or ENR shares.

Terrorist attacks
Ethnic, religious, historical and other divisions 
have, on occasion, given rise to tensions and, in 
certain cases, military conflict, which can halt 
normal economic activity and disrupt the econ-
omies of neighboring regions. For example, vio-
lence and attacks relating to the Chechen con-
flict have spread to other parts of Russia and 
several terrorist attacks have been carried out in 
other parts of Russia, including Moscow. The in-
tensification of violence, including terrorist at-
tacks and suicide bombings, or its spread to 
other parts of Russia, could have significant po-
litical consequences, including the imposition of 
a state of emergency in some or all of Russia. 
Moreover, terrorist attacks and the resulting 
heightened security measures are likely to cause 
disruptions to domestic commerce and exports 
from Russia. These factors could materially ad-
versely impact ENR investments and therefore 
could adversely impact the ENR NAV and/or ENR 
shares.

The immaturity of and weaknesses relating to 
the Russian legal system, processes, practices 

and legislation create an uncertain environment 
for investment and business activity  
Risk associated with Russia’s legal system in-
clude, to varying degrees, inconsistencies be-
tween and among laws, presidential decrees, 
edicts and governmental and ministerial orders 
and resolutions, conflicting local, regional and 
federal rules and regulations; the lack of judicial 
and administrative guidance regarding the in-
terpretation of the applicable rules; the untest-
ed nature of the independence of the judiciary 
and its immunity from political, social and com-
mercial influences, the relative inexperience of 
jurists, judges and courts in interpreting recent-
ly enacted legislation and complex commercial 
arrangements; a high degree of unchecked dis-
cretion on the part of governmental authorities; 
alleged corruption within the judiciary and gov-
ernmental authorities; substantial gaps in the 
regulatory structure due to delays in or absence 
of implementing regulations; bankruptcy proce-
dures that are not well developed and are sub-
ject to abuse; and the lack of binding judicial 
precedent. These weaknesses could negatively 
impact ENR portfolio companies and their abili-
ty to protect their legal rights, including rights 
under contracts and to defend against claims by 
others. This, in turn, could adversely impact the 
ENR NAV and/or ENR shares.

The relatively recent enactment of many laws, 
the lack of consensus about the scope, content 
and pace of political and economic reform and 
the rapid evolution of legal systems in ways that 
may not always coincide with market develop-
ments have resulted in legal ambiguities, incon-
sistencies and anomalies and enactment of laws 
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without a clear constitutional or legislative ba-
sis. Legal and bureaucratic obstacles and cor-
ruption exist to varying degrees and factors 
such as these could adversely impact ENR port-
folio companies and the ENR NAV and/or ENR 
shares.

The independence of the judicial system and the 
prosecutor general’s office and their immunity 
from economic and political influences in Russia 
have been questioned in the past. The court sys-
tem is understaffed and under-funded. Judges 
and courts remain inexperienced in certain ar-
eas of business and corporate law, such as inter-
national financial transactions. Russia is a civil 
law jurisdiction where judicial precedents gen-
erally have no binding effect on subsequent de-
cisions. Not all Russian legislation and court de-
cisions are readily available to the public or 
organised in a manner that facilitates under-
standing. The Russian judicial system can be 
slow and court orders are not always enforced 
or followed by law enforcementagencies. Court 
claims and governmental prosecutions may in 
some cases be influenced by or used in further-
ance of political aims or private interests. 

ENR portfolio companies may be subject to such 
claims and may not receive a fair hearing. All of 
these factors make judicial decisions in Russia 
difficult to predict and effective redress uncer-
tain, which could have a material adverse im-
pact on ENR portfolio companies and the ENR 
NAV and/or ENR shares. These uncertainties also 
extend to property rights. During its transfor-
mation from a centrally planned economy to a 

market economy, Russia has enacted laws to 
protect private property against expropriation 
and nationalisation. Due to a lack of experience 
in enforcing these provisions and due to politi-
cal pressure, Russian courts might not enforce 
protections in the event of an attempted expro-
priation or nationalisation. Expropriation or na-
tionalisation of any ENR portfolio company 
could materially impact on the value of such in-
vestment and the ENR NAV and/or ENR shares.

In 2001, the Russian Civil Code was amended 
and a new code and a number of other federal 
laws regulating land use and ownership were 
enacted. Nevertheless, the legal framework re-
lating to ownership and use of land and other 
real estate in Russia is not yet sufficiently de-
veloped to support private ownership of land 
and other real estate to the same extent as is 
common in countries with more developed mar-
ket economies. This may cause uncertainties and 
have a material adverse impact on ENR portfolio 
companies and the ENR NAV and/or ENR shares.

Law relating to Russian corporate governance 
and control is subject to inconsistent applica-
tion and difficult to enforce
Corporate governance standards in Russia are 
not as developed as corporate governance stan-
dards in Western Europe. Corporate governance 
practices in Russia have suffered from a lack of 
transparency and informational disclosure (both 
to the public and to shareholders), a lack of in-
dependence of directors and insufficient regula-
tory oversight and protection of shareholder 
rights. The lack of such transparency may cause 

50



uncertainties and have a material adverse im-
pact on ENR portfolio companies and the ENR 
NAV and/or ENR shares.

Restrictive currency regulations
Notwithstanding liberalisation of the Russian 
currency control regime and the abolishment of 
certain restrictions in January 2007, the Federal 
Law No. 173-FZ “On Currency Regulation and 
Currency Control” of 10 December 2003, as 
amended, current regulations still contain a 
number of limitations on foreign currency op-
erations. Restrictions may prevent ENR portfolio 
companies from continuing necessary business 
operations, or successfully implementing their 
growth strategies. Some delays may occur in the 
transfer of funds within Russia and the remit-
tance of funds out of Russia. Any delay or other 
difficulty in transferring or remitting funds 
could limit such company’s ability to meet pay-
ment obligations and cross-default, and in turn 
have a material adverse impact on its business, 
financial condition, operations, prospects and 
value, which may impact negatively on the ENR 
NAV and/or the value of the ENR shares.

Russian tax system
Over the past decade the Government has re-
formed the tax system. This resulted in an im-
provement in the tax climate. The cornerstone of 
this reform was the introduction of the Tax Code 
of Russia (“Russian Tax Code”) which included a 
successive reduction of general corporate prof-
its tax rate from 35% to 20%. Personal income 
tax was reduced substantially for individuals 
who are tax residents in Russia and the general 

tax rate is currently 13%. VAT was reduced to 
18% and certain minor taxes have been abol-
ished. Russian tax laws, regulations and court 
practice are subject to frequent change, varying 
interpretations and inconsistent and selective 
enforcement. In some instances, although it 
may be viewed as contrary to Russian constitu-
tional law, the Russian tax authorities have ap-
plied certain new taxes retroactively, issued tax 
claims for periods for which the statute of limi-
tations had expired and reviewed the same tax 
period multiple times. Despite the government’s 
steps to reduce the overall tax burden, Russia’s 
tax collection system is not that efficient and 
continuing budgetary funding requirements 
may increase the likelihood that Russia will im-
pose arbitrary or onerous taxes and penalties in 
future, which could have a material impact on 
the portfolio companies of ENR, which may then 
impact negatively on the ENR NAV and/or the 
value of the ENR shares.

Russian tax legislation is in general based upon 
the manner in which transactions are docu-
mented, looking to form rather than substance. 
However, Russian tax authorities are increas-
ingly looking at substance over form. While cer-
tain reductions in rates, such as for profit tax 
have been done, Russian tax legislation may be-
come more sophisticated and introduce addi-
tional revenue raising measures. The introduc-
tion of any new rules may impact on the tax 
efficiency of ENR portfolio companies and may 
result in additional taxes becoming payable, 
which could have a material impact on portfolio 
companies of ENR, which may then impact neg-
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atively on the ENR NAV and/ or the value of the 
ENR shares.

Following the replacement of the Unified Social 
Tax with mandatory contributions to the Social 
Security Fund, the Medical Insurance Fund and 
the Pension Fund from 1 January 2010, the tax 
authorities are empowered to carry out audits in 
relation to payments of contributions to the re-
spective funds, resulting in an increase of the 
tax administration burden of ENR portfolio 
companies.

In July 2005 the Russian Constitutional Court 
issued a decision that allowed the statute of 
limitations for tax liabilities to be extended be-
yond the three year term provided for in tax 
laws if the court determines that the taxpayer 
obstructed or hindered the tax audit. Amend-
ments to the Russian Tax Code, effective 1 Janu-
ary 2007, provide for the extension of the three 
year statute of limitations if the taxpayer ac-
tively obstructed the conduct of a tax audit 
which created insurmountable barriers to the 
conduct of the tax audit. None of the relevant 
terms are defined in the Russian Tax Code, al-
lowing tax authorities a broad discretion to ar-
gue the taxpayer obstructed, hindered, actively 
obstructed or created insurmountable barriers 
in respect of the tax audit and to ultimately seek 
a review and possibly apply penalties beyond 
the three year term.  There is no certainty that 
the tax authorities will not review the compli-
ance of ENR portfolio companies with applicable 
tax law beyond the three year period. Tax audits 
may result in additional costs for these compa-
nies and such audits may impose additional bur-

dens on these companies, diverting the atten-
tion of the management resources. The outcome 
of tax audits and disputes may have a material 
adverse impact on ENR portfolio company busi-
ness, financial condition, results of operations 
and prospects which may then impact negative-
ly on the ENR NAV and/or the value of ENR 
shares.

Generally, tax returns in Russia remain open and 
subject to tax audit by the tax authorities for 
the period of three calendar years immediately 
preceding the year in which the decision to con-
duct the tax audit is taken. The fact that a year 
has been reviewed by the tax authorities does 
not prevent further review of that year, or any 
tax return applicable to that year, during the eli-
gible three year period by a higher level tax au-
thority. In particular, a repeated tax audit may 
be conducted by a higher level tax authority as a 
measure of control of the activities of a lower 
level tax authority as a measure of the reorgan-
isation/ liquidation of a tax payer, or as a result 
of the filing by such taxpayer of an amended tax 
return decreasing the tax payable. On 17 March 
2009 the Constitutional Court issued a decision 
that prohibits Russian tax authorities from issu-
ing decisions in the course of subsequent tax 
audits for the same tax payer if a court decision 
given in respect of the tax dispute between the 
relevant taxpayer and the tax authority and 
covering taxation matters raised during the ini-
tial tax audit that has not been revised or 
changed. On November 11, 2009 the Constitu-
tional Court issued a second decision that con-
firmed this position.
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From 2015 the Tax Code introduced provisions 
where an assessment must be made if a person 
seeking to benefit from a reduced rate or ex-
emption provided for in a treaty with another 
country, in relation to income, is the actual re-
cipient or beneficial owner of the income. 
Russian language versions of these treaties have 
tended to use wording closer in meaning to the 
“actual recipient” rather than the “beneficial 
owner”, and when determining if treaty benefits 
apply, Russian tax authorities have typically 
checked if the recipient has a legal right to in-
come but not considered whether the recipient 
is truly the beneficial owner of income as the 
term is typically understood in international tax 
practice.

In 2016 the approached changed where the ac-
tual recipient (beneficial owner) of income shall 
be deemed to be the person who, by virtue of 
participation (direct and (or) indirect) in an or-
ganisation or control over an organisation, or by 
virtue of other circumstances, has the right in-
dependently to use and (or) dispose of that in-
come, or a person in whose interests another 
person has the authority to dispose of the in-
come in question. The risks and functions of a 
person are to be taken into account in determin-
ing if that person is the actual recipient (benefi-
cial owner). 

For the purposes of applying that international 
treaty a foreign person shall not be treated as 
the actual recipient (beneficial owner) of income 
if such person has limited power to dispose of 
the income, or exercises intermediary functions 
relating to the income for the benefit of another 

person, without performing any other functions 
and without itself assuming any risks, paying 
such income directly or indirectly (in full or in 
part) to such other person, which person would 
not have the right, if such Russian source in-
come had been received directly, to apply the 
provisions of the international treaty of the 
Russian Federation on tax issues referred to in 
this clause. Therefore the new “beneficial own-
er” rules a foreign company which receives in-
come from Russia (first and foremost in the 
form of dividends, interest and royalties) may 
not have the right to claim lower rates of with-
holding tax under double taxation treaties. Low-
er rates do not apply to companies which can-
not be deemed “beneficial owners” of income 
(or, to use alternative expressions, do not have 
an “actual right to income”, are not “the actual 
recipients of income”, are deemed to be “conduit 
companies”).

As per the Russian Tax Code, for transactions 
which are not treated as controlled loan interest 
calculated based on the actual rate shall be rec-
ognised as income / expenses. For controlled 
transactions interest calculated based on the 
market level range shall be recognized as in-
come / expenses. The upper and lower range 
limits of interest with respect to the controlled 
transactions are provided by the Tax Code start-
ing from 1 January 2015.  

The Russian Tax Code provides that if a Russian 
taxpayer business has outstanding debt to a 
foreign organisation who directly or indirectly 
owns more than 20% of the share capital of the 
Russian business or is a related party of the for-
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eign organisation, or where the related party or 
foreign organisation act as a surety or guaran-
tor (“controlled indebtedness to a foreign or-
ganisation”) and where the amount of controlled 
indebtedness to a foreign organisation is more 
than 3 times greater than the net assets of the 
taxpayer, the Russian business must calculate a 
maximum interest on controlled indebtedness 
that may be recognised as an expense for tax 
purposes (by dividing the interest in each ac-
counting period in respect of the controlled in-
debtedness by a capitalisation coefficient deter-
mined by dividing the amount of outstanding 
controlled indebtedness by the capital invest-
ment of the foreign organisation in the Russian 
business, and dividing the result by three. Any 
positive difference between interest charged 
and maximum interest calculated is treated for 
tax purposes as dividends paid to the foreign 
organisation.

Until recently the indebtedness of a Russian 
company towards its foreign sister company did 
not fall under this rule. Therefore, international 
groups historically used such a structure (loans 
to Russian subsidiary through a foreign (usually 
Cyprus) sister financing company) to optimise 
its tax poistion.  However, the approach of Rus-
sian tax authorities changed recently and in 
many cases they now consider the loans pro-
vided by a foreign sister company as loans from 
the parent company, especially if the foreign fi-
nancing company is just a conduit and funds are 
provided and finally repaid to the parent com-
pany.  This position is supported by court deci-
sions in favor of the tax authorities. Changes to 

the tax laws (to include the foreign sister com-
panies into the scope of the above “thin capi-
talisation rules”) came into force from 2017. 

Russian transfer pricing rules are vaguely draft-
ed, generally leaving wide scope for interpreta-
tions by Russian tax authorities and courts. 
There has been little guidance (although some 
court practice is available) as to how these rules 
should be applied. If the authorities were to im-
pose significant additional tax liabilities as a re-
sult of transfer pricing amendments, it could 
have a material adverse impact on ENR portfolio 
companies business, financial condition, results 
of operations and prospects which may then im-
pact negatively on the ENR NAV and/or the val-
ue of ENR shares. New customs legislation be-
came effective in 2010 as a result of the customs 
union which today comprises of Russia, Belarus, 
Kazakhstan, Armenia and Kyrgyzstan. Proce-
dures and practices relating to the application 
of certain provisions of the new customs legis-
lation are uncertain. In light of this, Russian im-
porters may encounter certain obstacles (which 
could result in additional customs liabilities) as a 
result of the ambiguity of new customs 
legislation.

In practice, minority shareholders have minimal 
legal recourse against companies or their offi-
cers and directors in Russia
Corporate governance standards for most Rus-
sian companies have been poor, and minority 
shareholders in Russian companies have experi-
enced difficulties in enforcing their legal rights 
and have suffered losses due to, for example, 
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abusive share dilutions, asset transfers and 
transfer pricing practices. Shareholders’ meet-
ings have been irregularly conducted, and share-
holder resolutions have not always been re-
spected by management. Shareholders of some 
companies also suffered as a result of fraudu-
lent bankruptcies initiated by hostile creditors.

Despite the recent enactment of corporate gov-
ernance, disclosure and reporting requirements 
and anti-money laundering legislation, most 
Russian companies and managers are not ac-
customed to, and resist, restrictions on their ac-
tivities arising from these requirements. In addi-
tion, although the Federal Law on Stock 
Companies provides that shareholders owning 
not less than one percent of the company’s 
shares may bring an action against members of 
the management board for damages incurred by 
the company, the concept of such fiduciary type 
duties of officers or directors to their companies 
or shareholders is new to Russian law and de-
rivative lawsuits by shareholders on behalf of 
the company are not possible. Russian courts do 
not as yet have sufficient experience with re-
spect to cases based on such causes of action so 
adequate remedies for violations of minority 
shareholder rights may still not be available in 
practice. ENR portfolio company rights may be 
violated and their ability to pursue legal redress 
for such violations may be limited, which may 
adversely impact the value of ENR’s investments 
in such companies and then may impact nega-
tively on the ENR NAV and/or the value of ENR 
shares.

Russian courts may force a Russian legal entity 
into liquidation on the basis of formal non-com-
pliance with certain requirements of Russian law 
Certain provisions of Russian law may allow a 
court to order liquidation of a Russian legal entity 
on the basis of its formal non-compliance with 
certain requirements during the formation of such 
entity or during its operation. Like many other 
Russian companies, ENR portfolio companies (or 
their subsidiaries) may fail from time to time to 
fully comply with all applicable legal require-
ments. Weaknesses in the Russian legal system 
create an uncertain legal environment, which 
makes the decisions of a Russian court or a gov-
ernmental authority difficult, if not impossible, to 
predict and it could have an adverse impact on 
ENR investments. This may then impact negatively 
on the ENR NAV and/or the value of ENR shares.

Past transactions of ENR portfolio companies 
and their subsidiaries may be challenged under 
mandatory provisions of Russian law

ENR portfolio companies and their subsidiaries 
(and their predecessor entities) may have taken 
a variety of actions involving establishment of 
new business organisations, share issuances, 
share acquisitions and disposals, valuations of 
property, so-called “major transactions” and 
“interested party transactions”, transactions 
with state authorities, state-owned entities and 
other transactions and actions that, if success-
fully challenged on the basis of non-compliance 
with applicable legal requirements by compe-
tent state authorities, counterparties in such 
transactions, shareholders of the relevant com-
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panies (or their predecessors’ interest) or other 
interested parties, could result in invalidation of 
such transactions or actions or imposition of 
other liabilities. The applicable provisions of 
Russian law are subject to different interpreta-
tions and there can be no assurance that the 
relevant companies would be able to success-
fully defend any challenge brought against such 
transactions or actions. Invalidation of any such 
transactions or actions or imposition of any 
such liability may, individually or in the aggre-
gate, have an adverse impact on ENR’s invest-
ments. This may then impact negatively on the 
ENR NAV and/or the value of ENR shares.

Environmental risks in Russia
The lack of environmental controls in Russia has 
led to widespread pollution of the air, ground 
and water resources. The legislated environmen-
tal standards are not comparable to those of 
Western Europe and pollution-related liabilities 
of any business may not be determinable at the 
time ENR is considering any investment which 
may be impacted by environmental issues. Fu-
ture investments in Russia may be subject to 
strict environmental requirements and compli-
ance with health, safety and environmental laws 
and regulations may then have a material ad-
verse impact on the financial position of a port-
folio company (and hence possibly on the posi-
tion of ENR). New environmental laws and 
regulations in Russia may require tougher re-
quirements for environmental permits and li-
cences, increasing enforcement of or new inter-
pretations of existing laws, regulations of 
licences or the discovery of previously unknown 
areas of contamination. This may require future 

ENR portfolio investment companies to incur 
additional expenditure to modify operations, in-
stall pollution control equipment, perform re-
mediation, curtail or cease certain operations, 
or pay fees or fines or make other payments for 
the discharge or other breaches of environmen-
tal standards. That could then have a material 
adverse impact on the financial performance of 
the relevant portfolio company and conse-
quently on the ENR NAV and/or the value of ENR 
shares.

3. Risk factors relating specifically to ENR

Limited diversification/leverage of individual 
investments
ENR could make or hold a portfolio investment, 
which, in the overall investment portfolio con-
text, represents a relatively large part of a par-
ticular asset class or industry segment. Such 
exposure may be increased through the use of 
leverage. Any adverse impact on such industry 
segment or a reduction in value of the relevant 
asset could have a negative impact on the value 
of the investment and consequently on the ENR 
NAV and/or its share price.

Historical returns on investments should not be 
considered as indicative of future results
The internal rate of returns (“IRR”) relating to 
any current and/or past investment of ENR may 
not be achieved for future investments. Inves-
tors should not assume that ENR, for future in-
vestments, will be able to achieve similar IRR’s 
as for past investments. Investment returns are 
dependent on factors such as changes in eco-
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nomic conditions in markets where investments 
are made and many other factors (see part 2 of 
risk factors above). Consequently, there is no 
guarantee or certainty that IRR’s will be similar 
as in the past. Further, it is not certain that ENR 
may have access to similar investment opportu-
nities as in the past and that may have an ad-
verse impact on future investment returns, the 
ENR NAV and/or value of its shares.

Service providers
ENR outsources certain administrative func-
tions, overseen by ENR. ENR also retained third 
party investment and real estate asset manag-
ers to perform services to ENR pursuant to in-
vestment and real estate asset management 
agreements. Certain of its employees may have 
competing demands for their time for other 
funds managed by it. Even though outside ser-
vice providers are effectively supervised and co-
ordinated, oversight may become increasingly 
challenging due to reporting and regulatory 
compliance requirements and as ENR continue 
to grow. This could have an adverse impact on 
ENR’s business and/or the value of ENR shares. 
Although ENR endeavors to do so, ENR, in cer-
tain circumstances, may not be able to employ 
outside service providers on market related 
terms and this could also negatively impact on 
ENR’s business and/or the value of ENR shares.

Timing and nature of investments and operating 
history and the limited comparability of histori-
cal financial information make it difficult to 
evaluate prospects
ENR may attract capital from outside investors 
periodically to increase its capital base and in-

crease available funding for investments. The 
amount of capital to be raised may be signifi-
cant relative to its NAV. Any capital injection 
and the subsequent utilization thereof could al-
ter the overall investment portfolio composi-
tion, making comparisons against prior histori-
cal periods diff icult . Factors such as, for 
example, the global financial crisis of 2008 and 
2009, or the sharp downwards adjustment of 
world oil prices in 2014 and 2015, together with 
related ruble depreciation which impacted the 
economy in Russia, other member states of the 
CIS and the Baltic States negatively, will impact 
the nature and timing of investments. This also 
applies to uncertainty, challenges and a lower 
growth environment in the EU or in Russia and 
other CIS countries and the Baltic States. Any 
sustained deterioration of the economic situa-
tion and/or investments made during adverse 
market cycles may have an adverse impact on 
ENR investments and ultimately on the value of 
ENR’s NAV and/or shares. Consequently, factors 
such as timing and nature of investments may 
impact on the ENR NAV. There is no guarantee or 
certainty that ENR will, at all times, be success-
ful in timing its investments optimally or be able 
to successfully navigate adverse market cycles 
and this may have an adverse impact on ENR’s 
investments and/or the value of ENR shares or 
its NAV.

Significant shareholders
Major shareholders of ENR could influence deci-
sions and resolutions to be resolved by the ENR 
shareholders’ at meetings of ENR shareholders. 
Interests of these shareholders, in certain cases, 
may differ from interests of other shareholders. 
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This could result in potential disputes between 
shareholders and ultimately impact negatively 
on the ENR business, which may have a negative 
impact on the ENR shares.

Preparation of ENR’s financial statements re-
quires assumptions and estimates, and changes 
thereof may cause a material change in its re-
sults of operations or financial condition
The preparation of ENR’s consolidated financial 
statements requires certain assumptions and 
estimates impacting on the reported values of 
assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and 
disclosures of contingent liabilities. For example, 
past experiences, ruling economic conditions 
and the market environment, quoted prices, 
transactions involving third parties and/or inde-
pendent valuations, are amongst the factors 
taken into account when considering carrying 
values of assets and liabilities. Over time, carry-
ing values may fluctuate, perhaps substantially, 
from those reflected in the financial statements, 
which may have an adverse impact on ENR’s re-
sults or financial condition and on the value 
ofthe ENR’s NAV and/or shares.

Subsidiary or portfolio companies may be sub-
ject to tax risks in their jurisdiction of 
establishment
ENR, where possibly, will consider tax efficiency 
when investing. Any changes in tax laws or dou-
ble tax treaties with jurisdictions where invest-
ment structures are based may materially im-
pact on tax efficiencies and could result in 
additional tax liabilities, which ultimately may 
have an adverse impact on ENR’s results or fi-
nancial condition and on the value of the ENR’s 

NAV and/or shares. ENR generally holds its in-
vestments via subsidiary companies where in-
vestment structures may comprise, for example, 
of corporate entities, partnerships, joint ven-
tures or other appropriate vehicles. Changes in 
legislation in relevant jurisdictions could result 
in additional taxation or other negative conse-
quences which could then impact negatively on 
ENR investments and/or the value of ENR’s NAV 
and/or shares.

Potential conflict of interests
Due to their involvement in the financial and 
other industry sectors, ENR board members, the 
investment and real estate asset manager or its 
employees and other parties performing admin-
istrative or related functions for ENR may have 
a direct or indirect interest in investments which 
are proposed for acquisition by ENR. Similarly, 
there may also be existing financial or other re-
lated interests. The investment and real estate 
asset manager will not provide services exclu-
sively for ENR and may either manage or accept 
new management mandates for assets of other 
institutional and/or private clients. Consequent-
ly, potential conflicts of interest may arise as a 
result of the situations described above which 
could impact negatively on ENR or the value of 
ENR shares.

Liquidity risk
ENR may invest in a range of different types of 
investments and situations and use various in-
vestment techniques, all which will bear certain 
risks and special considerations. For example, 
investments in unlisted investments will gener-
ally be illiquid whilst investments in certain list-
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ed equities could also be relatively illiquid. 
Therefore, ENR may not be able to optimally 
time the sale of investments which could impact 
negatively on the ENR business and/or the value 
of ENR shares and/or NAV.

Valuation methods of illiquid investments may 
be subjective and fair value of investments 
could not be realised
For private equity (including real estate invest-
ments) and certain other non-listed invest-
ments, there may be no readily ascertainable 
market or other comparable prices. ENR will de-
termine the value of these investments taking 
account of the valuation methodologies which 
are set out in the notes to the financial state-
ments contained in this annual report. The fair 
value of these assets may not be realised on exit 
thereof, which may have an adverse impact on 
the ENR NAV and/or the value of ENR shares.

Use of leverage to finance ENR’s business may 
expose it to substantial risk
Should ENR use borrowings to finance its busi-
ness and operations, it may expose ENR to typi-
cal risks associated with the use of such lever-
age. Accordingly, ENR may then experience a 
decline in the credit ratings assigned to it, which 
might lead to an increase in its borrowing costs 
which may have an adverse impact on ENR’s 
business and/or the value of ENR shares. ENR 
may not be able to refinance loans used to fund 
or part fund investments on the same terms and 
conditions which applied in the past and this 
may result in higher funding costs and tougher 
loan conditions or even part or full loan re-

demptions where ENR may have to use its cash 
resources on hand to do so.

Currency risk
ENR’s assets may be invested in assets denomi-
nated in foreign currencies (i.e. other than Swiss 
Francs, ENR’s reporting currency). Consequently, 
the value of such investments, cash or income, 
when measured in CHF, may be negatively im-
pacted by fluctuations in cross currency rates 
and potentially also by certain exchange control 
regulations. This may have an adverse impact on 
the value of ENR’s investments in CHF, the ENR 
NAV and/or the value of ENR shares. Portfolio 
companies could earn revenues in currencies 
other than CHF and this may impact negatively 
on their value (as expressed in Swiss Franc) and 
any proceeds ENR may potentially generate 
from such investment. This may have an adverse 
impact on the ENR business and NAV and/or the 
value of ENR shares. Certain currency restric-
tions relating to Russia in other CIS member 
states relating to ruble and other applicable cur-
rency repatriation may also have an adverse im-
pact on portfolio companies and on the ENR 
business and NAV and/or the value of ENR 
shares. These risks could be mitigated by intro-
ducing hedging strategies which will be consid-
ered from time to time. However, depending on 
actual currency movements, hedging policies 
may not always have the desired results, which, 
in turn, may have an adverse impact on the ENR 
performance and its NAV and/or the value of 
ENR shares. The ruble may not always be freely 
convertible outside the CIS. The CBR, from time 
to time, has imposed certain currency control 
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regulations. These regulations may impact on 
ENR’s ability to convert rubles into other curren-
cies and any delay or other difficulty in convert-
ing rubles into foreign currencies to make pay-
ments, or a delay or restriction in the transfer of 
foreign currency, could adversely impact ENR’s 
ability to meet potential payment and debt obli-
gations denominated in such other currencies, 
which could result in disputes with service pro-
viders or potentially an acceleration of debt ob-
ligations and cross-defaults. Should this take 
place, it may have an adverse impact on the ENR 
business, its NAV and/or the value of ENR shares.

Reliance on the investment and real estate 
asset manager
ENR has appointed an investment and real es-
tate asset manager. There can be no assurance 
that should there be a termination of the invest-
ment and real estate asset management agree-
ments that a suitable replacement manager can 
be found. This may have an adverse impact on 
the ENR business and/or the value of ENR 
shares.

 4. Risk factors relating to private equity 
investments

Market environment
The market and economic environment influ-
ence the suitability and timing of private equity 
investments (including real estate investments) 
and it is subject to change from time to time. 
For example, the global financial crisis of 2008 
and 2009 caused the Russian economy as well 

as those of other CIS member countries and the 
Baltic States to contract markedly. 

The same applies to the situation in 2014 and 
2015 in Russia where the impact of a sharp de-
cline in the price of world oil prices and the re-
sultant ruble depreciation contributed to nega-
tive growth and in times such as these it is a 
very challenging time for most businesses who, 
amongst other things, critically evaluate their 
business models, implement a range of restruc-
turing initiatives, find suitable arrangements 
with financiers regarding debt repayments, deal 
with faltering suppliers or customers and face 
lower consumer demand, face increasing fi-
nancing cost and banks who were not prepared 
to lend. Despite a range of government inter-
vention and stimulus packages, many business-
es failed or had to give up control to major 
banking groups. It is still a challenging global 
economic environment and there are risks of a 
recession in the EU and of a stagnating US 
economy, which may impact negatively on Rus-
sia. A portfolio company in which any private 
equity investment is made during a time where 
difficult or uncertain economic conditions pre-
vail, could face similar problems as those de-
scribed above and this may adversely impact on 
the value of the portfolio company and ENR’s 
investment and ultimately on the value of ENR’s 
NAV and/or shares. Periods of political or eco-
nomic uncertainty could also impact the value 
of portfolio companies and exit alternatives and 
values. There can be no assurances that portfo-
lio companies can be sold at prices above their 
acquisition costs and any failure to do so may 
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have an adverse impact on the ENR business 
and/or the value of ENR NAV and/or its shares.

Companies who are not publicly traded or listed 
on a securities exchange are not subject to the 
same disclosure and other investor protection 
requirements that are applicable to companies 
with listed securities. The quality and availability 
of information may differ markedly from listed 
companies and this may make these companies 
difficult to assess or value or to sell or other-
wise liquidate, and the risk of investing in such 
companies is generally much greater than the 
risk of investing in listed or publicly traded com-
panies. Consequently, it is not possible to have 
certainty on the accuracy of information in all 
cases, which may result in some discrepancies at 
a later stage which could cause an adverse im-
pact on the portfolio company and/or the value 
of the ENR NAV and/or its shares.

Long term illiquid investments
Although certain investments may generate in-
come, the return of capital and the realisation of 
gains (if any) to ENR from a long term investment 
should generally occur upon partial or full dis-
posal of such investment. Whilst an investment 
may be sold at any time, for private equity invest-
ments (including real estate investments) it is 
generally not expected to occur for a number of 
years after the investment was made. For exam-
ple, as one possible exit route, it is uncertain 
whether there will eventually be a public market 
for private equity portfolio company invest-
ments. Accordingly, there is no certainty that 
ENR’s exits from these investments could be 

achieved, for example by way of an initial public 
offering of the portfolio company. Should there 
be such an offering, it will also be subject to rel-
evant securities laws and their requirements, 
which may change from time to time and differ 
across jurisdictions. ENR may be prohibited by 
contract or due to the operation of a shareholder 
agreement or for any other relevant regulatory 
reason from disposing its interest in the portfolio 
investment for a certain period of time. Potential 
trade sales or other exit routes may also not al-
ways be apparent. Private equity investments are 
generally made with long term capital apprecia-
tion in mind. There is no assurance that ENR 
could or will exit from investments within say a 
three to seven year investment period, which 
could have an adverse impact on investment re-
turns and the value of the ENR shares. There is 
also no certainty that ENR will be able to exit in 
favorable market conditions, which could have an 
adverse impact on the ENR investment and the 
value of the ENR NAV and / or its shares.
Investments in less established companies

ENR may invest in smaller, less established or 
start-up companies. Investments in such compa-
nies may involve greater risks than generally as-
sociated with investments in more established 
companies. The valuations of these companies 
may change more abruptly than larger, more es-
tablished companies. Less established companies 
may also have fewer resources and controls, inef-
ficient capital structures, early stage growth 
challenges and are often more vulnerable to fi-
nancial failure compared to more established 
businesses. Due to shorter operating histories, 
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start-up businesses may also be more difficult to 
evaluate compared to established companies. In-
vestments in less established or start-up compa-
nies who fail to address or properly deal with 
early life cycle challenges may fail and could ad-
versely impact on the ENR portfolio investments 
or the value of the ENR NAV or its shares.

Investments in less established companies
ENR may invest in smaller, less established or 
start-up companies. Investments in such com-
panies may involve greater risks than generally 
associated with investments in more established 
companies. The valuations of these companies 
may change more abruptly than larger, more es-
tablished companies. Less established companies 
may also have fewer resources and controls, in-
efficient capital structures, early stage growth 
challenges and are often more vulnerable to fi-
nancial failure compared to more established 
businesses. Due to shorter operating histories, 
start-up businesses may also be more difficult to 
evaluate compared to established companies. In-
vestments in less established or start-up compa-
nies who fail to address or properly deal with 
early life cycle challenges may fail and could ad-
versely impact on the ENR portfolio investments 
or the value of the ENR NAV or its shares.

No assurance of investment return or distribution
There is no assurance that ENR will be able to 
generate positive returns for its shareholders or 
that these returns will be commensurate with 
risks of investing in Russia, other member coun-
tries of the CIS and the Baltic States. There is no 
assurance that ENR will proceed with or make 
any distribution to its shareholders.

Risk in introducing operational improvements
In certain cases, the success of an investment in 
a private company may depend, in part, on the 
ability to restructure and/or introduce opera-
tional and/or structural improvements in the 
portfolio company. This entails a high degree of 
uncertainty and there is no assurance that this 
can be achieved, which could have an adverse 
impact on the ENR investment or the value of 
the ENR NAV or its shares.

Non-controlling investments
In the past and going forward ENR have and 
may hold certain minority positions with appro-
priate negative control and/or blocking rights 
for major decisions and matters impacting on 
the portfolio company business. For these in-
vestments, it may not always be possible to se-
cure blocking rights for every corporate action, 
which may result in potential conflicts or dis-
putes with the portfolio company or its execu-
tives or other shareholders, which may have an 
adverse impact on the business of such compa-
ny and may then impact negatively on the ENR 
NAV and/or the value of ENR shares. Further, in 
Russia, it may not be always possible to opti-
mally use minority shareholder protection rules, 
which may result in similar conflicts or disputes 
as described above and have an adverse impact 
on the business of such company and could 
then impact negatively on ENR and/or the value 
of the ENR NAV and/or shares.
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Investments in special situations or restructur-
ings or workout situations
ENR may invest in special situations or restruc-
turings that may involve anticipated unbundling 
processes. In certain circumstances, the out-
come may be different than anticipated and the 
portfolio company could be subject to bank-
ruptcy proceedings. This may have an adverse 
impact on the ENR investment and/or the value 
of ENR shares or it’s NAV. Further, ENR may have 
to deal with a workout situation for one of its 
investments and the outcome may be different 
than anticipated. This may have an adverse im-
pact on the ENR investment and/or the value of 
ENR shares or it’s NAV.

Additional capital or bank financing
Portfolio investments, especially those in a de-
velopment or a high growth phase, may require 
additional financing to satisfy their working 
capital commitments or growth objectives. 
Should a portfolio company not be able to raise 
sufficient capital or lose the benefit of an exist-
ing preferential working capital arrangement or 
bank financing or do so on unfavorable terms or 
the capital raising result in a dilution of ENR’s 
interests in such company, it may have an ad-
verse impact on the value of the investment and 
on ENR shares and/or its NAV.

Reliance on portfolio company management
Portfolio company day-to-day operations will 
be attended to by the relevant company’s man-
agement team. Although there is interaction 
with management teams, there can be no assur-
ance that the existing management team, or any 
successor, will be able to operate the portfolio 

company successfully and in doing so may have 
an adverse impact on ENR and/or the value of 
ENR shares or it’s NAV. The portfolio company 
may be highly dependent on a small group of 
key employees, who may be difficult to replace. 
There is no assurance that these staff could be 
retained, failing which the portfolio company 
may be negatively impacted, which could have 
an adverse impact on ENR’s investment and/or 
the value of ENR shares and it’s NAV.

Accounting, governance, disclosure and regula-
tory standards and availability of information
Accounting, governance and other disclosure 
and reporting standards, practices and require-
ments for companies operating in the CIS are 
not equivalent to those in more established 
markets and may differ in fundamental ways. 
Less transparency and information may be avail-
able for portfolio companies, and the informa-
tion could be less reliable than would be the 
case for comparable investments in developed 
economies. Incomplete or incorrect information 
may have an adverse impact on the value of ENR 
shares or the ENR NAV.

Loan financing 
ENR may invest in a portfolio company by pro-
viding loan financing on the short-to-medium 
term to assist the business to achieve agreed 
objectives or in anticipation of future conver-
sion into equity. There is no assurance that any 
such financing will be repaid or converted into 
equity and this may have an adverse impact on 
the ENR investment and/or the value of ENR 
shares or the ENR NAV.
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The due diligence process may not reveal all rel-
evant facts related to investments
A due diligence investigation is conducted be-
fore investments are made in a private equity 
portfolio company. This process involves an in-
depth assessment of the business, its finances, 
tax, accounting, environmental and legal situa-
tion. ENR may involve outside consultants, legal 
advisors, accountants and or other advisors in 
the process. There is no guarantee that the due 
diligence will uncover all matters which may in 
future impact adversely on the portfolio com-
pany or that a satisfactory due diligence will 
guarantee a successful investment and this may 
have an adverse impact on the value of the ENR 
investment and/or ENR shares or its NAV.

5. Risks relating to ENR shares

Illiquidity, General Market Risks, Volatility of 
Market Price
Investors should be aware that there is currently 
limited liquidity of ENR’s shares in the second-
ary market. There is no indication that this situ-
ation will change over the short-to-medium 
term. Consequently, investors may not be able 
to trade out of large positions within a short 
time frame. There can be no assurance that the 
price of ENR’s shares will not trade at a discount 
to its NAV. Factors such as changes in the re-
sults of operations of ENR and changes in gen-
eral conditions in the financial market or the 
overall economy may cause the price of ENR 
shares to fluctuate substantially. The price of 
the shares, without regard to the results of op-

erations or the financial condition of ENR, may 
be impacted by fluctuations in equity markets 
around the world, where markets have experi-
enced significant price and volume fluctuations 
in recent years. Such fluctuations may adversely 
impact the market price of shares.

Substantial future sale of shares could impact 
the market price of the shares
As no shareholder is subject to a lock-up ar-
rangement, shareholders are not contractually 
limited to dispose of their shares freely. This 
may result in a sale or sales of a block of or such 
number of shares in the public or private market 
by a major shareholder which could adversely 
impact the prevailing market price for ENR 
shares and may also impact on ENR’s ability to 
raise capital in the future.

Valuation
The trading price of the shares may not reflect 
the ENR NAV and share trades may be executed 
at a price different to the actual or published 
NAV. In past financial years ENR have not re-
deemed shares nor distributed proceeds via div-
idends to its shareholders. Currently there is no 
active share repurchase program in place. These 
factors may impact on the price at which ENR 
shares trade.

Diverse investor group
ENR shareholders could have different and con-
flicting expectations, perceptions, tax consider-
ations and other interests. Conflicting interests 
may, for example, arise from amongst other 
things, the nature of investments made by ENR, 
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the timing and frequency of investments, the 
structuring of investments and timing of exits 
and the mechanism used for potential distribu-
tions to shareholders. This could result in con-
flict between ENR and shareholders and may 
result in litigation which could be costly. This 
could have an adverse impact on ENR and/or the 
value of the ENR shares.

Dividends
Until 2015 ENR has not paid any dividends in 
prior financial years. During July 2015 ENR made 
a CHF 29.60 million dividend distribution to 
shareholders and via this dividend distribution 
balanced stakeholder aspirations by returning a 
meaningful amount of cash whilst retaining suf-
ficient resources to enable ENR to maintain ex-
isting commitments and also to continue pursu-
ing potential new investments in accordance 
with its investment objectives. Should there be 
no further dividend distributions, capital appre-
ciation, if any, could be the primary source of 
any financial gain for a shareholder from an in-
vestment in ENR shares.

Currency Risk
The ENR shares are quoted and traded in Swiss 
Franc and any potential future payment of divi-
dends, if any, on these shares will be denomi-
nated in Swiss Franc. Consequently, sharehold-
ers who measure their investment performance 
in a currency other than the Swiss Franc, may be 
adversely impacted by adverse currency move-
ments. Further, ENR’s assets may be invested in 
assets denominated in foreign currencies (i.e. 
other than Swiss Franc, ENR’s reporting curren-

cy). Consequently, the value of such invest-
ments, cash or income, when measured in Swiss 
Franc may be negatively impacted by fluctua-
tions in cross currency rates and potentially also 
by certain exchange control regulations. This 
may have an adverse impact on the value of ENR 
investments in CHF, the ENR NAV and/or the 
value of ENR shares

Shareholders may not be able to participate in 
future equity offerings
UnderSwiss corporate law, holders of shares are 
generally given the right to subscribe to and pay 
for a sufficient number of shares to maintain 
the same ownership ratio as prior to the issue of 
new shares or convertible bonds. Certain share-
holders in other jurisdictions may not be entitled 
to exercise their rights unless the rights and 
shares are registered or qualified for sale under 
the relevant legislation or regulatory framework. 
As a result, there is the risk that shareholders 
may face dilution of their shareholding should 
they not be permitted to participate in any fu-
ture equity offerings.
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Report from External Real Estate Valuer

 

Jones Lang LaSalle LLC 

2 Letnikovskaya St., Bldg. 1, Moscow 115114 

tel +7 495 737 8000   fax +7 495 737 8011 
 
 
                                            

    3 March 2016 
 

 

Jones Lang LaSalle LLC has been instructed to prepare valuation report regarding the following property: 

Petrovsky Fort office building (St Petersburg)  

We understand that the report is required for accounting purposes. The date of valuation: 31 December 2016. 

Our valuation has been carried out in compliance with the requirements of RICS Valuation - Professional Standards January 2014.  

Market Value is defined by the RICS Valuation - Professional Standards as ‘The estimated amount for which an asset or liability should 
exchange on the valuation date between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an arm’s length transaction, after proper marketing and 
where the parties had each acted knowledgeably, prudently and without compulsion.’ 

In addition, our calculations have been carried out and are presented exclusive of VAT. Our report summarise our key assumptions, 
estimations and conclusions used in arriving at our opinion of Market Value. The purpose of the report is to present the basic facts 
and conclusions adopted in relation to the property in arriving at our opinions. 

Finally, and in accordance with our normal practice, we confirm that the report is confidential to the party to whom it is addressed for 
the specific purpose to which it refers. No responsibility whatsoever is accepted to any third party and neither the whole of the report, 
nor any parts, nor references thereto, may be published in any document, statement or circular, nor in any communication with third 
parties without our prior written approval of the form and context in which it will appear. 

Yours faithfully 

 

Tim Millard, MRICS   

Regional Director   

For and on behalf of JLL 
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Ernst & Young Ltd
Maagplatz 1
P.O. Box
CH-8010 Zurich

Phone +41 58 286 31 11
Fax +41 58 286 30 04
www.ey.com/ch

To the General Meeting of 
ENR Russia Invest SA, Geneva

Zurich, 11 April 2017

Statutory auditor’s report on the audit of the consolidated financial 
statements

Opinion
We have audited the consolidated financial statements (pages 74 to 128) of ENR Russia 
Invest SA and its subsidiaries (the Group), which comprise the consolidated statement of fi-
nancial position as at 31 December 2016 and the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income and losses, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated cash flow 
statement for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, includ-
ing a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consoli-
dated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2016, and its consolidated financial 
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with In-
ternational Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and comply with Swiss law.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss law, International Standards on Auditing 
(ISAs) and Swiss Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those provisions and stand-
ards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements section of our report.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the provisions of Swiss law and the re-
quirements of the Swiss audit profession, as well as the IESBA Code of Ethics for Profes-
sional Accountants, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
these requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most signifi-
cance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These mat-
ters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a 
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on 
these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter 
is provided in that context.
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We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of 
the consolidated financial statements section of our report, including in relation to these mat-
ters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to 
our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial state-
ments. The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address 
the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the consolidated financial state-
ments.

Valuation of investment property

Area of focus The investment property, Petrovsky Fort, an office center in St. Peters-
burg, Russia, represents 43.6% of the total assets in the consolidated 
financial statements of ENR Russia Invest SA as of 31 December 2016
and is valued at fair value for an amount of CHF 35.6 million.

The fair value is determined by an independent real estate valuation ex-
pert, using multiple assumptions (e.g. rental rate or macroeconomic fac-
tors) which contain room for discretion. 

Given the complexity of the assumptions used in the valuation of the in-
vestment property and the significance of the balance sheet item in the 
financial statements of ENR Russia Invest SA, its valuation is of particu-
lar importance from an audit perspective.

The accounting principles applied are explained in note 3.5.2 on page 
91 and further explanation is available in note 5.6 on page 112 in the 
annual report of ENR Russia Invest SA.

Our audit 
response

We evaluated the objectivity, independence and expertise of the inde-
pendent real estate valuation expert. We evaluated the information and 
assumptions used in the valuations by comparing them with external 
sources. This includes the estimates such as market rent levels, ex-
pected vacancy, interest rates and expected maintenance. We as-
sessed the valuation method used and analysed the calculations per-
formed by management. In addition we used the expertise of our own 
internal property valuation experts. These specialists have supported us 
with our assessment of the assumptions, methods and developments in 
the valuation.

We further focused on the adequacy of the disclosures on the valuation 
of investment property.
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Valuation of assets under development

Area of focus Assets under development relating to a real estate residential develop-
ment project in Russia of CHF 5.9 million represent 7.2% of the total as-
sets in the consolidated financial statements of ENR Russia Invest SA 
as of 31 December 2016. 

The construction started in 2014 and was stopped in 2015. As of 31 De-
cember 2016 the construction has not restarted yet. The construction 
was planned to be finalized by 30 June 2016. Upon completion ENR in-
tends to sell the apartments. Accordingly, these assets are classified as 
inventory.

The net realizable value of the assets under development is determined 
based on various assumptions (e.g. the expected sales price, interest 
rates, cost to completion). The expected sales price as well as other pa-
rameters used to determine the net realizable value are defined using 
management judgement which includes discretion.

Given the complexity of the assumptions used and the significance of 
the aforementioned balance sheet position in the consolidated financial 
statements of ENR Russia Invest SA, the audit of this balance sheet po-
sition represents a key audit matter.

The accounting principles applied are further explained in note 3.6 on
page 97 and further information is available in note 6 on page 115 in the 
annual report of ENR Russia Invest SA.

Our audit 
response

We evaluated the information and assumptions used in the valuations
by comparing them with external sources. We assessed the valuation 
method used and analysed the calculations performed by management.
In addition we used the expertise of our own internal property valuation 
experts. These specialists have supported us with our assessment of 
the assumptions, methods and developments in the valuation

We further focused on the adequacy of the disclosures on assets under 
development.

Other information in the annual report
The Board of Directors is responsible for the other information in the annual report. The other 
information comprises all information included in the annual report, but does not include the 
consolidated financial statements, the stand-alone financial statements, the compensation re-
port and our auditor’s reports thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information in 
the annual report and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
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In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to 
read the other information in the annual report and, in doing so, consider whether the 
other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on 
the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibility of the Board of Directors for the consolidated financial statements
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial state-
ments that give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRS, the Article 14 of the Directive on 
Financial Reporting (DFR) of the SIX Swiss Exchange and the provisions of Swiss law, and 
for such internal control as the Board of Directors determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Board of Directors is responsible 
for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the 
Board of Directors either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no real-
istic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, 
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high 
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Swiss 
law, ISAs and Swiss Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions 
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial state-
ments is located at the website of EXPERTsuisse: http://www.expertsuisse.ch/en/audit-re-
port-for-public-companies. This description forms part of our auditor’s report.
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Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
In accordance with article 728a para. 1 item 3 CO and the Swiss Auditing Standard 890, we 
confirm that an internal control system exists, which has been designed for the preparation of 
consolidated financial statements according to the instructions of the Board of Directors.

We recommend that the consolidated financial statements submitted to you be approved.

Ernst & Young Ltd

Stefan M. Schmid Alain Münger
Licensed audit expert Licensed audit expert
(Auditor in charge)
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Determination of the Net Asset Value and Attributable Net Asset Value 
(Currency-CHF)

31.12.2016 31.12.2015

Following IFRS 
presentation

Representing the 
existing 

 shareholders'  
economic interest 

Following IFRS 
presentation

Representing the 
existing 

 shareholders'  
economic interest 

Assets
Treasury stock  - 1,192,856  -    1,326,175 
Cash, investments and other assets 81,723,218 81,723,218 76,965,221  76,965,221 

Total assets 81,723,218 82,916,074 76,965,221  78,291,396 

Liabilities
Total liabilities 35,575,876 35,575,876 34,786,025  34,786,025 

Shareholders' Equity
Treasury stock - at cost – 2,370,696  -   – 2,370,696  -   
Remaining Equity 48,518,038* 47,340,198* 44,549,892* 43,505,371*

Total shareholders' equity 46,147,342 47,340,198 42,179,196 43,505,371

Total liabilities and shareholders' equity 81,723,218 82,916,074 76,965,221 78,291,396

Number of shares outstanding 2,644,402 2,644,402
Net asset value per share 17.90** 16.45**
Attributable net asset value per share 17.90** 16.45**
Number of treasury shares 70,168 70,168

*  Net of a CHF 29.95 million dividend paid in July 2015
**  Net of a CHF 11.50 per share dividend paid in July 2015

Net Asset Value and Attributable Net Asset Value
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Note
The NAV per share is calculated in Swiss Francs as the aggregate of the value of all investments and 
treasury shares less the aggregate amount of the liabilities and accrued expenses divided by the total 
number of shares issued. 

The main differences between the NAV calculation and the International Financial Reporting Standards 
("IFRS") based Shareholders Equity relate to the calculation of treasury shares and reclassifying out of 
shareholders’ equity. Treasury shares are shown at fair market value in the column which represents the 
existing shareholder's economic interest.

Attributable NAV per share is the consolidated NAV, less the aggregate value of any minority interests, 
reflecting the economic value attributed to shareholders, divided by the total number of shares 
issued.

Consolidated Results
The consolidated shareholders’ equity, based on IFRS representation, at the end of the 2016 reporting 
period amounted to CHF 46.15 million (2015: CHF 42.18 million).

The consolidated net profit for the 2016 year is CHF 5.81 million (2015: consolidated net loss of            
CHF 17.83 million). The consolidated retained loss as of 31 December 2016 is CHF 57.94 million (consoli-
dated retained loss at 31 December 2015: CHF 63.75 million). The consolidated retained loss includes 
the impact of the dividend of CHF 29.60 million which was paid during 2015.

For more details see the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year ended 31 December 
2016. 

Parent Company
As of 31 December 2016, the parent company recorded shareholders’ equity of CHF 47.21 million 
(2015: CHF 47.13 million).

The net profit for the 2016 year is CHF 83'949 (2015: net loss of CHF 2.19 million). The retained loss 
as of 31 December 2016 amounted to CHF 332'568 (2015: retained loss of CHF 416'517).
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Note 31.12.2016 31.12.2015

Assets
Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 7 7,143,886 15,467,335
Accounts receivable and accrued interest 8 517,657 865,651
Investments at fair value through profit or loss 5.1 2,377,282 7,935,885
Assets under development 6 5,868,030 4,702,555
Income tax asset 11.4.3  -   25,836
Forward foreign currency exchange contracts 5.1 204,000  -   
Other assets 10 568,074 120,673

Total Current Assets 16,678,929 29,117,935
Non-Current Assets

Accounts receivable and accrued interest 8  -   199,636
Investments at fair value through profit or loss 5.1 26,907,933 11,420,829
Financial assets at fair value 5.1 101,900 528,000
Investment property 5.6.1 35,642,109 33,152,897
Other investments accounted under the equity method 9 100,000 401,000
Deferred tax assets, net 11.4.2  -   308,309
Goodwill 12 2,292,347 1,836,615

Total Non-Current Assets 65,044,289 47,847,286
Total assets 81,723,218 76,965,221

Liabilities
Current Liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 11.2 5,040,845 5,149,232
Loans from banks 11.1 25,066,939 24,078,967
Forward foreign exchange contracts 5.1  -   191,400
Embedded derivatives on investment property 5.6.1 1,837,633 3,548,274
Income tax liability 11.4.3 37,656  -   

Total Current Liabilities 31,983,073 32,967,873
Non-Current Liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 11.2 77,006  -   
Financial lease liabilities: Investment property 11.3 1,813,537 1,455,287
Deferred tax liabilites, net 11.4.2 1,144,249  -   
Provisions 11.5 558,011 362,865

Total Non-Current Liabilities 3,592,803 1,818,152
Total liabilities 35,575,876 34,786,025

Shareholders' Equity
Share capital 13.1 32,790,585 32,790,585
Capital paid in excess of par value (share premium) 75,447,951 75,447,951
Treasury stock 13.2 – 2,370,696 – 2,370,696
Retained earnings – 57,940,100 – 63,750,408
Cumulative translation adjustment – 1,780,398 61,764 

Total shareholders' equity 46,147,342 42,179,196
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity 81,723,218 76,965,221

Number of shares issued and fully paid 13.1 2,644,402 2,644,402
Nominal value (in CHF) 12.40 12.40

   The notes on pages 80 to 128 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated statement of financial position
(Currency-CHF)

Consolidated  
Financial Statements
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income and losses (Currency-CHF)

Note 2016 2015

Gross rental income 5.6.2 6,961,810 7,640,484

Operating expenses rental – 1,172,134 – 1,669,652
Net rental income 5.6.2 5,789,676 5,970,832

Fair value profit / (loss) on investment property 5.6.1 987,252 – 15,652,980
Interest income 1,139,379 877,695
Dividend income 53,867 21,909
Realised and unrealised profit / (loss) on investments through profit or loss, net 5; 5.1 2,446,517 – 979,185
Realised and unrealised (loss) on forward foreign exchange contracts, net 5; 5.1 – 1,012,000 – 969,400
Exchange profit / (loss) - other 14 2,969,074 – 1,825,079
(Loss) of other assets accounted under the equity method 9 – 301,000 – 660,928

Expenses
Management fees 15.1 777,430 956,323
Professional fees 137,859 138,018
Directors' fees and expenses 15.2 175,000 150,000
Staff remuneration 15.3.1 628,653 630,340
Travel expenses 43,859 37,693
Legal and related fees 326,807 558,815
Audit fees 16 88,761 386,831
Tax other than on income 43,639 7,806
Other ordinary expenses 494,526 248,196
Finance cost 5.6.2 2,067,776 2,173,230
Increase of provisions 11.5 92,756 428,764

Total expenses 4,877,066 5,716,016
Gain / (Loss) for the year before tax 7,195,699 – 18,933,152

Income tax 11.4.4 – 1,385,390 1,103,158 
Gain / (Loss) for the year after tax 5,810,309 – 17,829,994
Attributable to

Equity holders of the Company 5,810,309 – 17,829,994
Other comprehensive income
Cumulative translation adjustment (net of tax)*
 whereof related to fully consolidated subidiaries – 1,842,162 1,393,184 
Total comprehensive profit / (loss) for the year (net of tax) 3,968,147 – 16,436,810
Attributable to

Equity holders of the Company 3,968,147 – 16,436,810
* Will be reclassified subsequently to profit and loss when specific conditions are met

Earnings per share for profit attributable to equity holders during the period 2016 2015
Time-weighted average number of outstanding shares 4 2,574,234 2,574,234
Basic earnings per share (in CHF) 4 2.257 – 6.926
Diluted earnings per share (in CHF) 4 2.257 – 6.926

   The notes on pages 80 to 128 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated cash f low statement
(Currency-CHF)

Note 2016 2015

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Gain / (loss) before tax 7,195,699 – 18,933,152

Adjustments for:
Impairment on other investments accounted under the equity method 301,000 660,928
Realised and unrealised result on investments through profit or loss 5; 5.1 – 5,415,591 979,185
Realised and unrealised result on forward foreign exchange contracts 5.1 1,012,000 969,400
Unrealised (loss) / profit on embedded derivatives (liability) 5.6.1 – 2,286,634 1,422,421
Fair value change on investment property including embedded derivatives 5.6.1 – 987,252 15,652,980

Operating profit before working capital changes – 180,778 751,762

Movement in working capital:
Investment portfolio movement, net 5 ; 5.1  – 7,055,886 5,670,587
Change in accounts receivable and accrued interest  547,630  – 309,431
Change in accounts payable and accrued expenses  – 31,381  – 869,391
Change in other assets  – 447,401 82,467
Change in financial lease liability  358,250 220,308
Increase in provisions 11.5 92,756 428,764
Change in deferred taxes 11.4.2 1,349,389 – 1,142,121
Taxes paid 11.4.3 – 47,370 – 34,366

Net cash flow from operating activities – 5,414,791 4,798,579
Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Other assets  -    -   
Net cash flow (used in) investing activities  -    -   

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Dividend paid to shareholders 13.4 – 29,603,690
Loans repayable 11.1  – 2,225,083 – 6,372,851

Net cash flow (used in) financing activities – 2,225,083 – 35,976,541
Foreign currency translation effects on cash and cash equivalents – 683,575 – 1,433,518

Net change in cash and cash equivalents – 8,323,449 – 32,611,480
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 7 15,467,335 48,078,815
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 7 7,143,886 15,467,335
Dividends received 53,867 21,909
Interest received 1,139,379 877,695
Interest paid  -   1,762,886

The notes on pages 80 to 128 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity
(Currency-CHF)

Share capital Share premium Treasury stock

Cumulative 
translation 
adjustment Retained earnings Total

Non controlling 
interests

Total 
Shareholders

Balance as at 1 January 2015 32,790,585 75,447,951 – 2,370,696 – 1,331,420 – 16,316,724 88,219,696  -   88,219,696
(Loss) for the year after tax  -    -    -    -   – 17,829,994 – 17,829,994  -   – 17,829,994
Other comprehensive income (loss)  -    -    -   1,393,184  -   1,393,184  -   1,393,184
Total comprehensive income (loss) 
for the year  -    -    -   1,393,184 – 17,829,994 – 16,436,810  -   – 16,436,810
Dividend paid out  -    -    -    -   – 29,603,691 – 29,603,691  -   – 29,603,691

Balance as at 31 December 2015 32,790,585 75,447,951 – 2,370,696 61,764 – 63,750,409 42,179,195  -   42,179,195
Profit for the year after tax  -    -    -    -   5,810,309 5,810,309  -   5,810,309
Other comprehensive income (loss)  -    -    -   – 1,842,162  -   – 1,842,162  -   – 1,842,162
Total comprehensive income (loss) 
for the year  -    -    -   – 1,842,162 5,810,309 3,968,147  -   3,968,147
Dividend paid out  -    -    -    -    -    -    -   - 

Balance as at 31 December 2016 32,790,585 75,447,951 – 2,370,696 – 1,780,398 – 57,940,100 46,147,342  -   46,147,342

The notes on pages 80 to 128 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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 Notes to the consolidated financial statements as of 31 December 2016
(Currency-CHF)

1 Incorporation and activity
ENR Russia Invest SA ("Company" or “ENR”) is an investment company founded on 18 May 2007 for an 
unlimited duration. On 25 May 2007 it was registered with the Commercial Register of the Canton of 
Geneva under the reference number CH-660-1263007-3 and the Company name “ENR Russia Invest 
SA”. The Company is incorporated as a limited company by shares under the laws of Switzerland. The 
Company’s registered office is 2-4, Place du Molard, Geneva, Switzerland. The Company is trading un-
der Swiss security number 3447695 with ISIN number of the shares CH0034476959 and the ticker 
symbol of the shares is RUS.

The financial statements have been approved by the board of directors on 10 April 2017, subject to the 
approval of the 2017 general assembly of the Company.

2 Basis for the presentation of the consolidated financial statements
The consolidated financial statements represent the audited consolidated financial statements for the 
2016 financial year ended 31 December 2016 of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the 
“Group”) and are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as 
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). The consolidated financial statements 
have been prepared under historical cost convention, except for investment property, financial assets 
and liabilities (including derivative financial instruments) which are shown at fair value through profit 
or loss.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical ac-
counting estimates. It also requires the exercise of judgment in the process of applying the Company’s 
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where 
assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in 
note 3.9 - Critical accounting estimates and judgements.
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2.1 New and amended standards and interpretations 

Disclosure initiative - amendments to IAS 1. 

The amendments to IAS 1 clarify, rather than significantly change existing IAS 1 requirements. The 
amendments clarify:

• the materiality requirements of IAS 1;
• that specific line items in the statement(s) of profit or loss and Other Comprehensive Income  and the 

statement of financial position may be disaggregated;
• that entities have the flexibility as to the order in which they present the notes to financial 

statement;
• that the share of Other Comprehensive Income of associates and joint ventures accounted for using 

the equity method must be presented in aggregate as a single line item, and classified between those 
items that will or will not be subsequently reclassified to profit and loss; and 

• requirements that apply when additional subtotals are presented in the statements of financial posi-
tion and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income and losses. 

With the exception of the presentation as a single line item for the effects from other investments ac-
counted under the equity method in the Other Comprehensive Income, the adoption of these amend-
ments did not have any impact on the current reporting period or any prior period and is not likely to 
affect future periods. 

New and amended standards and interpretation relevant to the Group with planned applica-
tion are disclosed in the table below.

The Group has not early adopted any other standard, interpretation or amendment that has been issued 
but is not yet effective.

Recently released Standards/ 
Interpretations

Date Issued Effective date
Planned application 
by ENR Group

IFRS 9: Financial instruments November 2009 to July 2014 Effective 1 January 2018 1 January 2018

IFRS 15: Revenue from Contracts 
with Customers

May 2014 to July 2015 Effective 1 January 2018 1 January 2018

IFRS 16: Leases January 2016 Effective 1 January 2019 1 January 2019
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IFRS 9 Financial instruments
In July 2014 the IASB issued the final version of IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”. The new version in-
cludes revised requirements for the classification and measurement of financial assets and for the first 
time regulations on the impairment of financial instruments; with the new “expected loss model” losses 
are recognised earlier because both existing and expected losses are recognised. IFRS 9 is effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, with early adoption permitted. The Group cur-
rently plans to apply IFRS 9 initially on 1 January 2018. 

The actual impact of adopting IFRS 9 on the Group’s consolidated financial statements in 2018 is not 
known and cannot now be reliably estimated as it will be dependent on the financial instruments that 
the Group holds and economic conditions at that time as well as accounting elections and judgements 
that it will make in the future. However, the Group performed a high-level preliminary assessment of 
the potential impact of all three aspects of IFRS 9 based on its positions at 31 December 2016. The 
preliminary assessment is based on currently available information and may be subject to changes aris-
ing from further detailed analyses or additional reasonable and supportable information being made 
available to the Group in the future. Based on this assessment the Group expects no significant impact 
on its balance sheet and equity other than for the impact of applying the impairment requirements of 
IFRS 9 where the Group expects there could possibly be a higher loss allowance, then resulting in a 
negative impact on equity and will perform a detailed assessment in the future to determine same.

(a) Classification and measurement
The Group does not expect a significant impact on its balance sheet or equity on applying the clas-
sification and measurement requirements of IFRS 9. It expects to continue measuring at fair value all 
financial assets currently held at fair value. 

Loans as well as trade receivables are held to collect contractual cash flows and are expected to give 
rise to cash flows representing solely payments of principal and interest. Thus, the Group expects that 
these will continue to be measured at amortised cost under IFRS 9. However, the Group will analyse the 
contractual cash flow characteristics of those instruments in more detail before concluding whether all 
those instruments meet the criteria for amortised cost measurement under IFRS 9.

(b) Impairment
IFRS 9 requires the Group to record expected credit losses on all of its debt securities, loans and 
trade receivables, either on a 12-month or lifetime basis. The Group expects to apply the simplified 
approach and record lifetime expected losses on its receivables. The Group does not expect a signifi-
cant impact on its equity, but it will need to perform a more detailed analysis which considers all 
reasonable and supportable information, including forward-looking elements to determine the po-
tential extent of the impact.
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(c) Hedge accounting
The Group does not apply hedge accounting at 31 December 2016 and has at the moment no inten-
tion to apply hedge accounting in the future.

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
In May 2014 the IASB issued the new standard IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”. The 
purpose of the new standard on revenue recognition is to bring together the large number of existing 
guidelines contained in various standards and interpretations. At the same time it establishes uniform 
core principles to be applied to all industries and all types of revenue transactions. A five-step model is 
used to determine at which point in time or over which period of time revenues are to be recognised 
and in what amount. The standard also includes further detailed guidance and extended disclosure re-
quirements. Due to the amendment to IFRS 15 issued in September 2015, the mandatory effective date 
was deferred from 1 January 2017 to fiscal years beginning on or after 1 January 2018. In general it 
must be applied retrospectively, but various transition options are allowed. Earlier application is per-
mitted. In April 2016 clarifications to IFRS 15 were issued relating mainly to the identification of sepa-
rate performance obligations, the definition of principal and agent as well as the recognition of income 
from licenses.

The scope of IFRS 15 includes all contracts with customers to provide goods and services in the ordi-
nary course of business, except for lease contracts within the scope of IAS 7/IFRS 16 (once adopted and 
financial instruments and other contractual rights or obligations within the scope of IFRS 9, IAS 39, 
IFRS 10 and IAS 28.

As the Group has almost no contracts within the scope of IFRS 15, it does not expect significant chang-
es from the new standard IFRS 15 on its balance sheet or equity or statement of comprehensive 
income. 

IFRS 16 – Leases
In January 2016 the IASB issued the new standard IFRS 16 “Leases”, which is to replace the current 
lease standard IAS 17. Central to the new standard is that the lessee must report all leases and associ-
ated contractual rights and obligations on the balance sheet. The current requirement to differentiate 
between finance leases and operating leases under IAS 17 will then no longer apply for lessees. Under 
IFRS 16 for all leases the lessee must recognise a lease liability on the balance sheet in the present 
value of future lease payments of the respective lease plus directly allocable costs and at the same time 
recognize a corresponding right of use to the underlying asset. Over the term of the lease, the lease 
liability is adjusted using financial mathematics methods – similar to the rules for finance leases under 
the current IAS 17 – and the right of use is depreciated. The accounting for short-term leases and 
leases of low-value assets has been simplified. For lessors, the rules of the new standard are almost 
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identical to those of IAS 17. Leases in which all material risks and opportunities from the asset are 
transferred are classified as finance leases, all other leases as operating leases. Application of the new 
standard is mandatory for fiscal years beginning on or after 1 January 2019. Earlier application is per-
mitted as long as IFRS 15 is also applied. 

As for lessor accounting under IFRS 16, it is substantially unchanged from today’s accounting under 
IAS 17, and the Group does not expect significant changes from this new standard on its balance sheet 
or equity or income statement. 

The following new or amended standards are not expected to have a significant impact on the Group’s 
consolidated financial statements.

Effective date 1 January 2017
• Amendments to IAS 7 to improve information about an entity’s financing activities; and 
• Amendments to IAS 12 to clarify the recognition of deferred tax assets for unrealised losses related 

to debt instruments measured at fair value;  

Effective date 1 January 2018
• Classification and measurement of share-based payment transactions (Amendments to IFRS 2).
• Transfer of Investment Property Amendment (IAS 40).
• Annual improvements to IFRS® Standards 2014-2016 Cycle, effective date 2017-2018.
• IFRIC® Interpretation 22: Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration effective 1 Janu-

ary 2018.

Effective date yet to be announced
• Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture (Amendments 

to IFRS 10 and IAS 28). 

3 Significant accounting policies

3.1 Consolidation 
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of ENR and its subsidiaries as 
at 31 December 2016. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns 
from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power 
over the investee. Specifically, the Group controls an investee if and only if the Group has power over 
the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the 
investee); exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee, and the ability 
to use its power over the investee to affect its returns. When the Group has less than a majority of the 
voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in as-
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sessing whether it has power over an investee, including the contractual arrangements with the other 
vote holders of the investee; rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and the Group’s vot-
ing rights and potential voting rights.

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that 
there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins 
when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the 
subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the 
year are included in the consolidated statement of financial position and consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income and losses from the date the Group gains control until the date the Group 
ceases to control the subsidiary. Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are 
attributed to the equity holders of the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if 
this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. When necessary, adjustments are 
made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the 
Group’s accounting policies. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash 
flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an 
equity transaction. If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it:

• derecognises the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary; 
• derecognises the carrying amount of any non-controlling interests; 
• derecognises the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity, if applicable; 
• recognises the fair value of the consideration received; 
• recognises the fair value of any investment retained; 
• recognises any surplus or deficit in profit or loss; and 
• reclassifies the parent’s share of components previously recognised in other comprehensive income 

to profit or loss or retained earnings, as appropriate, as would be required if the Group had directly 
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

Fully consolidated companies and investment in associates
The consolidated financial statements comprise ENR and the following subsidiaries:
Fully Consolidated Companies

Nominal value Nominal value

of share capital of share capital

Name of subsidiary Incorporated in Currency 2016 % Voting Currency 2015 % Voting

ENR Investment Limited Limassol, Cyprus EURO 6,576,660 100.00% EURO 6,576,660 100.00%
ENR Private Equity Limited Grand Cayman, Cayman Islands US$ 500 100.00% US$ 500 100.00%
Stainfield Limited Limassol, Cyprus EURO 3,420 100.00% EURO 3,420 100.00%
ENR Development LLC Moscow, Russia Ruble 15,535,100 100.00% Ruble 15,535,100 100.00%
Petrovsky Fort LLC Moscow, Russia Ruble 18,000 100.00% Ruble 18,000 100.00%
Romsay Properties Limited Limassol, Cyprus EURO 1,710 100.00% EURO 1,710 100.00%
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Investment in Associates
Nominal value Nominal value

of share capital of share capital

Name of subsidiary Incorporated in Currency 2016 % Voting Currency 2015 % Voting

Panariello Enterprises Limited Nicosia, Cyprus EURO 25,650 49.00% EURO 25,650 49.00%

An investment in associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant in-
fluence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is 
not in control or joint control over those policies. ENR’s investments in an associate are initially recog-
nised at cost. The carrying amount of the investment is adjusted to recognise changes in the ENR’s 
share of net assets of the associate since the acquisition date. Goodwill relating to the associate is in-
cluded in the carrying amount of the investment and is not tested for impairment individually.

3.2 Business combinations and goodwill
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is 
measured as the aggregate of the consideration transferred, measured at acquisition date fair value 
and the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree. For each business combination, ENR 
elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree at fair value or at the propor-
tionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as in-
curred and are included in legal and related fees.

As of the acquisition date, ENR recognises the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed 
at their acquisition date.

When a business is acquired, ENR assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate 
classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and 
pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration trans-
ferred and the amount recognised for non-controlling interests and any previous interest held, over the 
net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the fair value of the net assets acquired is in 
excess of the aggregate consideration transferred, ENR re-assesses whether it has correctly identified 
all of the assets acquired and all of the liabilities assumed and reviews the procedures used to measure 
the amounts to be recognised at the acquisition date. If the reassessment still results in an excess of 
the fair value of net assets acquired over the aggregate consideration transferred, then the gain is rec-
ognised in profit or loss.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. It is 
tested annually for impairment and, additionally, when an indication of impairment exists at the end of 
each reporting period. For impairment testing purposes, the Group considers its cash-generating units 
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that are expected to benefit from the combinations irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of 
the acquiree are assigned to those units. ENR considers whether an acquired business and goodwill 
give rise to an additional segment. Goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, 
since this is the level at which the performance of investments is reviewed and assessed by 
management.

The specific circumstances which led to the accounting treatment of goodwill are described in note 12.

3.3 Recognition of revenues and expenses
Revenues and expenses are recognised as they are earned or incurred and reported in the financial 
statements of the periods to which they relate.

3.3.1 Interest
Interest is recognised on a time proportion basis that reflects the effective yield on the asset or liability 
(using the effective interest method).

3.3.2 Gain or loss on investments
Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within a time frame established by 
regulation or convention in the market place (regular way trades) are recognised on the settlement 
date.
 
Gain or loss on investments include changes in the fair value of financial assets and liabilities held for 
trading or designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss and excludes inter-
est and dividend income and expenses.

Unrealised gains and losses comprise changes in the fair value of financial instruments for the period 
and from reversal of prior period’s unrealised gains and losses for financial instruments which were 
realised in the reporting period.

Realised gains and losses on disposals of financial instruments classified as at fair value through profit 
or loss are calculated using the average cost price method. They represent the difference between an 
instrument’s initial carrying amount and disposal amount, or cash payments or receipts made on de-
rivative contracts (excluding payments or receipts on collateral margin accounts for such 
instruments).

3.3.3 Dividends
Dividends are recognised when the right to receive payment is established.
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3.3.4 Rental income
Rental income arising from operating leases on investment properties is accounted for on a straight-
line basis over the lease terms and is included in revenue in the statement of profit or loss due to its 
operating nature.

3.3.5 Service charges and expenses recoverable from tenants
Income arising from expenses recharged to tenants is recognised in the period in which the expense 
can be contractually recovered. Service charges and other such receipts are included gross of the re-
lated costs in revenue, as Petrovsky Fort LLC is considered acting as principal in this respect.

3.3.6 Other revenue
Other revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable.

3.4 Foreign currency translation

3.4.1 Transactions and balances
Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currencies of ENR’s 
entities at the ruling exchange rates on the date of the transaction. At the balance sheet date, all mon-
etary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are converted to the functional currencies 
using the closing exchange rate. Non-monetary items measured at historical cost are converted at the 
exchange rate on the date of the transaction.

The following exchange rates are used for the major currencies:

2016 2016 2015 2015
Balance Sheet 

date rates
Annual average 

rates
Balance Sheet 

date rates
Annual average 

rates
EURO  1.07370  1.08999  1.08300  1.06790 
US$  1.01900  0.98519  0.99310  0.96220 
GBP  1.25369  1.33477  1.46990  1.47030 
Ruble  0.01675  0.01478  0.01342  0.01586 

3.4.2 Functional and presentation currency
Upon consolidation, assets and liabilities of foreign operations are converted into CHF at the closing 
exchange rate on the balance sheet date and income and expense items are translated at monthly rul-
ing exchange rates for the prior month. The resulting foreign currency translation differences repre-
sents a cumulative translation adjustment ("CTA") attributable to ENR’s shareholders, recognised di-
rectly within equity (forming part of total equity attributable to ENR’s shareholders), whereas CTA 
differences attributable to non-controlling interests are shown within equity attributable to non-con-
trolling interests. As subsidiaries and associate companies of the Group use a different functional cur-
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rency than the Group’s presentation currency being Swiss Franc ("CHF"), the cumulative amount of the 
exchange rate differences from the translation of those entities functional currencies to the Group’s 
presentation currency is presented in accordance with IAS 21 as a separate component of equity, as 
well as in the statement of comprehensive income and losses in the sub-segment other comprehensive 
income or losses.

The Group’s consolidated financial statements are presented in CHF which as mentioned above is also 
the parent company’s functional currency. For each entity the Group determines the functional cur-
rency and items included in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that functional 
currency. The Group uses the direct method of consolidation and on disposal of a foreign operation, the 
gain or loss that is reclassified to profit or loss reflects the amount that arises from using this 
method.

The financial statements of the wholly-owned subsidiaries (other than Panariello Enterprises Limited 
which is 49% owned) and the parent company are maintained in CHF, ruble and US$ as follows:

Name of subsidiary Incorporated in Currency

ENR Investment Limited Limassol, Cyprus CHF
ENR Private Equity Limited Grand Cayman, Cayman Islands CHF
Panariello Enterprises Limited Nicosia, Cyprus CHF
Stainfield Limited Limassol, Cyprus US$
ENR Development LLC Moscow, Russia Ruble
Petrovsky Fort LLC Moscow, Russia Ruble
Romsay Properties Limited Limassol, Cyprus Ruble

3.5 Investment portfolio
The Group has classified its investments as fair value through profit or loss. Gains and losses arising 
from changes in the fair value of the financial assets at fair value through profit or loss category are 
presented in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income and losses in the period in which 
they arise. Financial assets are recognised when the risks and rewards of ownership are substantially 
transferred to the Group. They are derecognised when this is no longer the case. 

3.5.1 Investments at fair value
Fair Value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date.

Financial assets and financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss at inception are 
those that are managed and their performance evaluated on a fair value basis in accordance with the 
Group's investment strategy. The board of directors will consider information regarding those financial 
assets on a fair value basis, together with other related financial information.
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The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or trans-
fer the liability takes place either in the principal market for the asset or liability or, in the absence of a 
principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal or the most 
advantageous market must be accessible to the Group.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants 
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic 
best interest.

The fair value for financial instruments traded in active markets at the reporting date is based on their 
quoted price or binding dealer price quotations (bid price for long positions and ask price for short 
positions), without any deduction for transaction costs. Securities defined in these accounts as ‘listed’ 
are traded in an active market.

Where the Group has financial assets and financial liabilities with offsetting positions in market risks 
or counterparty credit risk, it has elected to use the measurement exception provided in IFRS 13 to 
measure the fair value of its net risk exposure by applying the bid or ask price to the net open position 
as appropriate.

For all other financial instruments not traded in an active market, the fair value is determined by using 
valuation techniques deemed appropriate in the circumstances. Valuation techniques include the mar-
ket approach (i.e., using recent arm’s length market transactions adjusted as necessary and reference to 
the current market value of another instrument that is substantially the same) and the income ap-
proach (i.e., discounted cash flow analysis and option pricing models making as much use of available 
and supportable market data as possible).

An appropriate methodology will incorporate available information about all factors that are likely ma-
terially to affect the fair value of the investment. The valuation methodologies will be applied consis-
tently from period to period, except where a change would result in a better estimate of fair value. Any 
changes in valuation methodologies will be clearly stated. Listed below are the most widely used meth-
odologies. In assessing which methodology is appropriate, the board of directors, where appropriate, 
will be predisposed towards those methodologies that draw on market-based measures of risk and re-
turn. The valuation methodologies comprise cost of recent investment; earnings multiple; net asset 
value; discounted cash flow; industry valuation benchmarks; available market prices and any recent 
transaction involving a portfolio company and a bona fide third party.

Methodologies utilising discounted cash flows and industry benchmarks will rarely be used in isolation 
of the market-based methodologies and then only with caution. These methodologies, however, may be 
useful as a cross-check of values estimated using the market-based methodologies.
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For private equity investments, the Company, where appropriate, may obtain independent valuations 
from valuation experts. These are evaluated by the board of directors who then determine the fair value 
to be reflected in the financial statements. Because of the nature of the estimates underlying these 
valuations, such as, for example the future cash flows, the discount rate applied etc., the actual values 
achieved upon sale of such investments may significantly differ from the fair values in the financial 
statements.

3.5.2 Investment property
Investment property comprises completed property and property under construction or re-develop-
ment held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both (for assets under development with an 
intention to sell, see note 3.6). Property held under a lease is classified as investment property when 
the definition of an investment property is met. The lease obligation is recognised under IAS 17 at fair 
value of the interest in the leasehold property. Investment property is measured initially at cost includ-
ing transaction costs. Transaction costs include transfer taxes, professional fees for legal services and 
initial leasing commissions incurred to ensure that the property is operational. The carrying amount 
also includes the costs for replacing parts of an existing investment property at the time when the cost 
is incurred if the recognition criteria are met.

Subsequent to initial recognition, investment property is stated at fair value. Gains or losses arising 
from changes in the fair values are included in the income statement in the year in which they arise. 
Investment property is derecognised when it has been disposed of or permanently withdrawn from use 
and no future economic benefit is expected from its disposal. Any gains or losses on the retirement or 
disposal of investment property are recognised in the income statement in the year of retirement or 
disposal. Gains or losses on the disposal of investment property are determined as the difference be-
tween net disposal proceeds and the carrying value of the asset in the previous full period financial 
statements. The investment property is recognised in balance sheet in the position “investment prop-
erty” and the gains and losses from changes in the fair values are recognised in the position “fair value 
(loss) on investment property”.

Fair value measurement for real estate investment properties

The fair value of real estate investment properties are determined by independent real estate valuation 
experts using recognised valuation techniques in compliance with the requirements of RICS valuation 
standards (the 2012 edition). These techniques may comprise of the ‘yield method’ and/or the ‘dis-
counted cash Flow method’ within the income approach. The determination of the fair value of a real 
estate investment property requires the use of estimates such as future cash flows from assets (includ-
ing lettings, tenants’ profiles, future revenue streams, capital values of fixtures and fittings, plant and 
machinery, any environmental matters and the overall repair and condition of the property) and dis-
count rates applicable to those assets. Future revenue streams, inter alia, comprise contracted rent 
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(passing rent) and estimated rental income ("ERV") after the contract period. In estimating ERV, the 
potential impact of future lease incentives to be granted to secure new contracts is taken into consid-
eration. All these estimates are based on local market conditions at the reporting date or thereafter, if 
appropriate. The method of valuation, which was applied by the valuer, calculates the investment prop-
erty value as an amount a rational, third party could afford to bid or pay for the investment property 
given the highest and best use of the asset. For all investment property that is measured at fair value, 
the current use of the property is considered the highest and best use.

The yield method converts anticipated future cash flow benefits in the form of rental income into pres-
ent value. This approach requires an estimation of future benefits and the application of investor yield 
or return requirements. One approach to value the property on this basis is to capitalise net rental in-
come on the basis of an equivalent yield, which represents the “overall” rate of return on a reversionary 
investment and is therefore the “weighted average” yield, reflecting the rent change and term length, 
adjusted for any factors not included in net rental income, such as vacancy, lease incentives, refurbish-
ment, etc. The discounted cash flow method involves the projection of a series of periodic cash flows 
to an operating property. To the projected cash flow series, an appropriate, market-derived discount 
rate is applied to achieve an indication of the present value of the income stream associated with the 
property. The calculated periodic cash flow is typically estimated as gross rental income less vacancy 
and collection losses and less operating expenses/outgoings and investment costs. A series of periodic 
net operating incomes, along with an estimate of the reversion/terminal/exit value (which uses the 
traditional valuation approach) anticipated at the end of the projection period, are discounted to pres-
ent value. The aggregate of the net present values equals the market value of the property.   

Embedded derivatatives related to the lease contracts

Petrovsky Fort LLC entered into a number of operating lease contracts with respect to the Petrovsky 
Fort business center in Saint- Petersburg, Russia (“Petrovsky Fort”), with rental payments denominated 
in US$ (a currency other than the functional currency (ruble) of both parties of the contract) but sub-
ject to a floor and ceiling against the ruble.

The inherent put and call options on purchases and sales of foreign currency included in these lease 
contracts are considered to be embedded derivatives included in the host lease contracts. In accor-
dance with IAS 39 AG33 (d) the economic characteristics and risks of these embedded derivatives are 
not closely related to the host contracts so that the lessor accounts for the embedded derivatives at
fair value (IAS 39.43) separately from the host contract from inception. The valuation of the embedded 
derivatives is based on the Black-Scholes model.
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The fair value of the investment property is determined in accordance with IFRS 13 using the income 
approach based on discounted cashflow models. The cash inflows from the rental income do not take 
into consideration the specific feature introduced by the inherent put and call options in respect of the 
above mentioned corridor of US$/ruble exchange rates for the payments to be made by lessees in ruble. 
As the embedded derivative asset relates to the investment property cash flows and depicts the special 
corridor feature, the separation of the embedded derivatives is presented as a gross-up of the carrying 
amount of the related investment property (included as part of the “Investment Property” (long term 
asset) on the balance sheet)(see note 5.6.1) and the separate recognition of a derivative liability (recog-
nised as “ Embedded derivatives on Investment Property” on the liability side of the balance sheet - see 
note 5.6.1), with the changes in the derivative liability recorded in profit and loss. The result from the 
change in the fair value of the embedded derivatives on the assets is recognised in the position “Fair 
value profit/(loss) on Investment Property” and the result from the embedded derivatives on the liabili-
ties in the position “Exchange profit/(loss) - other” in the comprehensive income and loss statement.

3.5.3 Fair value hierarchy

3.5.3.1 Level hierarchy
The Group classifies fair value measurements using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance 
of the inputs used in making the measurements. The fair value hierarchy has three levels (see table 
which follows):

• Level 1 - This level comprises of quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (in-
vestments whose values are based on quoted market prices in active markets are therefore classified 
within level 1 and in the following table they comprise of active listed equities and fixed income instru-
ments). The Group does not adjust the quoted price for these instruments. 

• Level 2 -Financial instruments that trade in markets that are not considered to be active but are val-
ued based on quoted market prices, dealer quotations or alternative pricing sources supported by ob-
servable inputs are classified within level 2. In the table which follows they comprise of fixed income 
instruments and derivatives. As level 2 investments include positions that are not traded in active 
markets and/or are subject to transfer restrictions, valuations may be adjusted to reflect illiquidity and/
or non-transferability, which are generally based on available market information.

• Level 3 - Investments classified within level 3 are not based on observable market data and have sig-
nificant unobservable inputs. As they trade infrequently, Level 3 items in the table which follows com-
prise of private equity investments (including investment properties) and receivables. As observable 
prices are not available for these investments, the Group uses valuation techniques as described else-
where to derive the fair value.
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For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the Com-
pany determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing the 
categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a 
whole) at the beginning of each reporting period.

The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the investment is categorised in its entirety is deter-
mined on the basis of the lowest level input significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety. 
Assessing the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement in its entirety requires 
judgment, considering factors to the asset or liability. The determination of what constitutes “observ-
able” requires significant judgment by the Group. The Group considers observable data to be that mar-
ket data that is readily available, regularly distributed or updated, reliable and verifiable, not proprie-
tary, and provided by independent sources that are actively involved in the relevant market.

The following tables show the fair value hierarchy the Group’s financial assets and liabilities and invest-
ment properties measured at fair value at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015:

as of 31 December 2016:

in CHF Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

Financial assets, liabilities and investment properties at fair value through profit or loss 
at inception: 

- Equities 2,377,282  -    -   2,377,282
- Fixed income instruments 23,300,832  -    -   23,300,832
- Derivatives (including embedded derivatives on investment property) (assets)  -    -   1,837,633 1,837,633
- Transterm Holdings Cyprus Ltd  -    -   3,607,101 3,607,101
- Possible Future Milestone Payments: Eastern Property Holdings Ltd ("EPH") share sale  -    -   101,900 101,900
- Petrovsky Fort: Investment property (excl. embedded derivatives)  -    -   33,804,476 33,804,476
- Derivatives (including embedded derivatives, investment property) (liabilities)  -   204,000 – 1,837,633 – 1,633,633

Total 25,678,114 204,000 37,513,477 63,395,591

as of 31 December 2015:

in CHF Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss at inception: 
- Equities 932,190  -    -   932,190
- Fixed income instruments 14,536,694  -    -   14,536,694
- Derivatives (including embedded derivatives on investment property) (assets)  -    -   3,548,274 3,548,274
- Transterm Holdings Cyprus Ltd  -    -   3,887,830 3,887,830
- Possible Future Milestone Payments: EPH share sale  -    -   528,000 528,000
- Petrovsky Fort: Investment property (excl. embedded derivatives)  -    -   29,604,623 29,604,623
- Derivatives (including embedded derivatives, investment property) (liabilities)  -   – 191,400 – 3,548,274 – 3,739,674

Total 15,468,884 – 191,400 34,020,453 49,297,937
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The following table presents the movement in level 3 investments for the years ended 31 December 2016  
and 2015.

as of 31 December 2016
CHF

Opening balance 34 020 453 
- Possible Future Milestone Payments: EPH, fair value adjustments  – 426,100
- Transterm Holdings Cyprus Ltd: fair value adjustments  – 280,729
- Petrovsky Fort: Investment property fair value adjustments – 2,543,048
- Petrovsky Fort: Investments  – 233,401
- Petrovsky Fort: Foreign currency translation 6,976,302
- Embedded derivatives (assets) fair value adjustments  – 2,286,634
- Embedded derivatives (assets) foreign currency translation 575,993
- Embedded derivatives (liabilities) fair value adjustments 2,286,634
- Embedded derivatives (liabilities) foreign currency translation  – 575,993

Closing balance 37,513,477
Total (losses) for the year included in the statement of comprehensive income  
for assets and liabilities held at the end of the year – 3,249,877

as of 31 December 2015
CHF

Opening balance 50,873,622 
- Possible Future Milestone Payments: EPH, receipts  – 975,544
- Possible Future Milestone Payments: EPH, fair value adjustments – 2,207,875
- Transterm Holdings Cyprus Ltd: fair value adjustments – 552,827
- Petrovsky Fort: Investment property fair value adjustments – 5,328,112
- Petrovsky Fort: Investments 128,680
- Petrovsky Fort: Foreign currency translation – 7,917,491
- Embedded derivatives (assets) fair value adjustments 1,422,421
- Embedded derivatives (assets) foreign currency translation – 819,589
- Embedded derivatives (liabilities) fair value adjustments – 1,422,421
- Embedded derivatives (liabilities) foreign currency translation 819,589

Closing balance 34,020,453 
Total profits (losses) for the year included in the statement of comprehensive income  
for assets and liabilities held at the end of the year – 8,088,814

3.5.3.2 Level 3 investment property
The real estate valuation firm Jones Lang LaSalle Incorporated (“JLL”) performed the valuation of  Petro-
vsky Fort. Key JLL assumptions of JLL related to the rent at which the space can be leased (i.e. the ERV); 
the equivalent yield as well as occupancy levels in future. Changes in the assumptions used for these 
factors could affect the reported fair value of Petrovsky Fort. JLL used a 10% vacancy rate for purposes 
of its 2016 valuation (2015: 10%). JLL advised that had the vacancy rate increased to 15% (i.e. by 5%), 
the attributable fair value at year-end 2016 would have been US$ 29.90 million (2015: US$ 27.01 
million).
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For the investment property the significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurement 
categorised within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy together with a quantitative sensitivity analysis as 
at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015 are shown in the tables below.

in USD

Property
Fair value 

as of 31 December 2016 Valuation technique Key unobservable inputs

Petrovsky Fort US$ 31'410'000 Income capitalisation
ERV US$  185

Equivalent yield 12.5%

in USD

Property
Fair value 

as of 31 December 2015 Valuation technique Key unobservable inputs

Petrovsky Fort US$ 28'360'000 Income capitalisation
ERV US$ 170

Equivalent yield 12.5%

Embedded derivative liabilities related to Petrovsky Fort lease contracts (see 3.5.2 above) were valued 
at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015 as shown in the table below. 

in US$

31 December 2016 Valuation technique
Significant unobservable 
inputs Range

Sensitivity of the inputs 
on fair value

Embedded derivative 
liabilities

Black–Scholes Option 
Pricing Model US$/Ruble rate

US$/Ruble 54.59 - 
US$/Ruble 66.72

10% increase (decrease) 
would result in an increase 
(decrease) in fair value by 
Ruble 27.7 million

31 December 2015 Valuation technique
Significant unobservable 
inputs Range

Sensitivity of the inputs 
on fair value

Embedded derivative 
liabilities

Black–Scholes Option 
Pricing Model US$/Ruble rate

US$/Ruble 65.59 - 
US$/Ruble 80.17

10% increase (decrease) 
would result in an increase 
(decrease) in fair value by 
Ruble 51.31 million

Regarding the Petrovsky Fort investment, measured with reference to the net US$ carrying value at-
tributed to this investment, the following table illustrates valuation sensitivities to any sustained 
changes of market rental rates:

2016 2015

ERV, US$/sq m per annum  (net of VAT) Resulting value ERV, US$/sq m per annum  (net of VAT) Resulting value

US$ US$ US$ US$
195 32,680,000 180 29,600,000
190 32,040,000 175 28,980,000
185 31,410,000 170 28,360,000
180 30,770,000 165 27,740,000
175 30,140,000 160 27,120,000
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3.5.3.3 Other unobservable factors
Investments in Commonwealth of Independent States ("CIS") countries could be highly volatile and in-
vestment valuations may be influenced by a wide variety of factors. From a macroeconomic perspec-
tive, world commodity price movements, particularly crude oil and gas, will impact on economic and 
business performance in many CIS countries. Other factors include, but are not limited to, changing 
supply and demand relationships, government, trade, fiscal, monetary and exchange control programs 
and policies, national and international political and economic events, changes in interest rates, liquid-
ity in markets, currency exchange movements and new tax regimes. From time to time governments 
may intervene in certain markets or introduce policies to strengthen their participation in a market.
Developments in the macroeconomic environment in those jurisdictions where the Group has invest-
ments are monitored to identify market risks in time to consider appropriate steps to take in respect of 
investments. Legal frameworks are developing in CIS countries and have not achieved the same levels 
of structure, independence and certainty as in more developed economies. To mitigate risks associated 
with this uncertainty (where possible) private equity investments are governed by English law and Eng-
lish law shareholders’ agreements.

3.6 Assets under development
Property acquired or being constructed for the sale in the ordinary course of business (rather than for 
rental or capital appreciation) is not classified as investment property, but as inventory (based on IAS 2 
and IAS 40.9a).

Therefore, these assets are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value (“NRV”), where costs 
include freehold and leasehold rights for land; amounts paid to contractors for construction; borrowing 
costs, planning and design costs, costs of land preparation, professional fees for legal services, prop-
erty transfer taxes, construction overheads and other related costs, if applicable.

The NRV is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, based on market prices at the 
reporting date and discounted for the time value of money (if material), less costs to completion and 
estimated sales costs.
 
The NRV for Assets under Development which are completed is assessed taking into account market 
conditions and prices at the reporting date. This is determined by considering external expert advice 
and recent market transactions. The NRV for Assets under Development  which are under construction 
is assessed with reference to market prices for similar assets, less estimated costs to complete the 
construction and having considered the estimate time value of money up to the estimate date of 
completion.

The cost of inventory is recognised in profit or loss on disposal and is determined with reference to the 
specific costs incurred on the inventory sold, together with an allocation of any non-specific costs 
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based on the relative size of the inventory sold. Non-refundable commissions paid to sales or market-
ing agents on the sale of real estate units are expensed when paid.

When a third party contract for the acquisition of assets under construction provides for the future 
transfer of these assets to the Group company who is a party to such contract, these assets are recog-
nised as Assets under Development when such party has the right to the substantial risks and rewards 
of these assets (management judgements determine whether and when such party has the right to 
these risks/rewards).

3.7 Taxation
The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the taxes/tax enacted or substantially enacted 
at the balance sheet date within countries where the Group operates. Deferred income tax is provided for, 
using the liability method on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities 
and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements. Deferred income tax is determined 
using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted at the balance sheet date and 
are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax 
liability is settled. Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future 
taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences or tax losses can be utilised. De-
ferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and associ-
ates, except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by the Group and 
it is probable that the temporary difference will not be reversed in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off cur-
rent tax assets against current income tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable 
entity and the same taxation authority. Deferred tax is presented net on the balance sheet (as an asset or 
a liability (see note 11.4).

Since 1 January 2010, ENR (parent company) is VAT registered in Switzerland.

The expiry period for the Company's most recent five year holding company tax status in Switzerland was 
1 January 2017. The Company, during 2016 lodged an application for the extension of this period, which 
has since been granted until 31 December 2021.
 
3.8 Financial Liabilities 

3.8.1 Trade payables
Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised costs using the 
effective interest method ("EIR method").
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3.8.2 Loans and borrowings
After initial recognition, interest bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the EIR method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derec-
ognised as well as through the EIR amortisation process. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into ac-
count any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR 
method. The EIR method amortisation is included as finance costs in the statement of profit or loss. Loans 
and borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless there is an unconditional right to defer settle-
ment of the liability for at least twelve months after the balance sheet date.

3.9 Critical accounting estimates and judgments 
Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other 
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circum-
stances. Estimates and assumptions that impact on the reported amounts of assets and liabilities with-
in the next financial year are made. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal 
the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a ma-
terial adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities (including tax) are highlighted in 
relevant sections of the annual financial statements.

Exception of consolidation for investment entities
Management has assessed whether ENR meets the definition of an investment entity according to IFRS 
10.27 where the definition of an investment entity comprises the following three elements, being an 
entity that (a) obtains funds from one or more investors for the purpose of providing those investor(s) 
with investment management services; (b) commits to its investor(s) that its business purpose is to 
invest funds solely for the return of capital appreciation, investment income or both; and (c) measures 
and evaluates the performance of substantially all of its investments on a fair value basis. Indeed ENR 
exhibits some typical characteristics mentioned in IFRS 10.28, namely: (a) it has more than one invest-
ment; (b) it has more than one investor; (c) it has investors that are not related parties of the entity: this 
applies to the non-controlling shareholders and public free float; and (d) it has ownership interests in 
the form of equity or similar interests. 

However, management considered the application guidance as per Appendix B of IFRS 10 in light of all 
facts and circumstances relevant to ENR as is required by IFRS 10.B85A and concluded that ENR is not 
an investment entity in accordance with IFRS 10. The application guidance related to the business pur-
pose states in IFRS 10.B85F that one feature that differentiates an IFRS defined investment entity from 
other entities is that the investment entity does not plan to hold its investments indefinitely. Since in-
vestments in equity instruments and non-financial assets have the potential to be held indefinitely an 
investment entity shall have an exit strategy documenting how it plans to realise capital appreciation 
from substantially all its equity instruments and non-financial asset investments. As ENR does not 
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have a clearly defined and documented exit strategy for investments and currently do not have stated 
exit plans to the Petrovsky Fort investment and private equity assets, management considered the 
guidance related to exit strategies as the single most important factor in its conclusion why ENR does 
not meet the investment entity definition of IFRS 10. Another significant aspect to consider in making 
this assessment is the potential to generate long-term attractive net rental income and excess cash 
with the investment in Petrovsky Fort and a significant part of the results may not be linked to only 
capital appreciation or depreciation.

Real Estate Investment Property
Real estate investment property is a long term asset class where hold periods are usually for longer 
than five years and investment decisions are made with a long term perspective. During the holding 
period the underlying economy may accelerate or slow-down markedly for certain periods. At a par-
ticular valuation date, even though medium to longer term real estate fundamentals may be attractive, 
prevailing economic or political conditions could present an unrealistic picture of sustainable future 
rental rates when comparing current rates to rates that could be achievable over the medium to longer 
term. These market factors are uncertain and may impact the fair value attributed to real estate invest-
ment property, which may differ from the realisable value.

Fair value of investment property, financial instruments and derivatives
The fair value of investment properties and financial instruments that are not traded in an active mar-
ket (e.g. building and land, over-the-counter derivatives or private equity investments) is determined by 
using various valuation techniques. ENR management uses its judgment to select a variety of methods 
and makes assumptions that are mainly based on market conditions existing at each balance sheet date.

Taxation  risks  - See note 3.11.

3.10 Financial risk management 
The Company’s risks at the end of the period under review are concentrated in its listed and unlisted 
portfolio positions. In respect of private equity portfolio companies, the Company is in regular contact 
and meets up on a regular basis with their senior management. This ensures that the Company is aware 
of potential operational risks which may arise for these companies to be able to endeavor to introduce 
appropriate measures to mitigate such risks.

3.10.1 Currency risk
Investments are usually not denominated in Swiss Francs, the presentation currency of ENR. From time 
to time, ENR will consider financial derivative transactions to protect the net assets against unfavor-
able currency fluctuations. 
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Summary of exposure to currency risk of financial items
As of 31 December 2016 (Currency-CHF)

CHF US$ EURO GBP Ruble Total

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 4 922 354 2 039 351 35 309 3 146 869 7 143 886
Accounts receivable and accrued interest 121 809 292 609  -    -   103 239 517 657
Investments at fair value through profit or loss 2 583 250 25 597 855  -    -   1 104 110 29 285 215
Derivatives (including embedded derivatives, 
investment property) 204,000  -    -    -    -   204,000
Possible Future Milestone Payments: EPH share sale  -   101 900  -    -    -   101 900

Total assets 7,831,413 28,031,715 35,309 3 1,354,218 37,252,658
Liabilities 

Due to banks  1 306 000 23 760 939   -      -    - 25 066 939 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses  598 809 3 419 249 9 665   -    1 090 128 5 117 851
Derivatives (including embedded derivatives, 
investment property)  -    -    -     -    1 837 633 1 837 633
Financial lease liabilities  -    -    -     -    1 813 537 1 813 537

Total liabilities 1 904 809 27 180 188 9 665   -    4 741 298 33 835 960
CHF per unit of foreign currency 1,00000 1,01900 1,07370 1,25369 0,01675

If at 31 December 2016 the exchange rate between foreign currencies and CHF had increased or decreased by 5% with all other variables held 
constant, the increase or decrease respectively in profit / (loss) would amount to approximately:

US$ EURO GBP Ruble TOTAL
Increase of exchange rate - impact on the asset in CHF 42 576 1 282  -   -169 354 -125 496
Decrease of exchange rate - impact on the asset in CHF -42 576 -1 282  -   169 354 125 496

As of December 31, 2015 (Currency-CHF)
CHF US$ EURO GBP Ruble Total

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 13,230,462 1,377,567 483,656 4 375,646 15,467,335
Accounts receivable and accrued interest 724,886 131,311 89,118  -   119,972 1,065,287
Investments at fair value through profit or loss 5,339,449 13,992,912  -    -   24,353 19,356,714
Possible Future Milestone Payments: EPH share sale  -   528,000  -    -    -   528,000
Derivatives (including embedded derivatives on 
investments property)  -    -    -    -   3,548,274 3,548,274

Total assets 19,294,797 16,029,790 572,774 4 4,068,245 39,965,610
Liabilities 

Due to banks  -   24,078,967  -    -    -   24,078,967
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 706,824 3,334,149 34,987  -   1,073,272 5,149,232
Derivatives (including embedded derivatives, 
investments property)  -   191,400  -    -   3,548,274 3,739,674
Financial lease liabilities  -    -    -    -   1,455,287 1,455,287

Total liabilities 706,824 27,604,516 34,987  -   6,076,833 34,423,160
CHF per unit of foreign currency 1 0.9931 1.08304 1.4699 0.00134

If at 31 December 2015 had the exchange rate between foreign currencies and CHF increased or decreased by 5% with all other variables held 
constant, the increase or decrease respectively in profit / (loss) would amount to approximately:

US$ EURO GBP Ruble TOTAL
Increase of exchange rate - impact on the asset in CHF – 578,736 26,889  -   – 100,429 – 652,276
Decrease of exchange rate - impact on the asset in CHF 578,736 – 26,889  -   100,429 652,276
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3.10.2 Liquidity risk
The Company, inter alia, will invest in unlisted and certain listed direct and/or indirect investments that 
may be illiquid. After the 30 September 2014 acquisition of Petrovsky Fort, there has been a loan from 
UniCredit to one of the Company's subsidiaries (relating to the business center) of which CHF 25.07 mil-
lion was outstanding at year-end 2016 (2015: CHF 24.08 million) (see note 3.9 and note 5.6.2). The 
Company is participating in a Moscow regional residential real estate development where ENR, for the 
time being, will fund its participation using own cash resources. There are non-repayable loans from 
Transterm Holdings Cyprus Limited of CHF 3.40 million at year-end 2016 (2015: CHF 3.33 million) which 
is included in the liabilities and these loans relate to distribution arrangements between Transterm 
Holdings Cyprus Limited and the Company (see note 5.2). As for Possible Further Milestone Payments, 
see note 5.5. Having considered notes 3.9 and 5.6.2., the Company continues to have an adequate level 
of liquidity to meet its liabilities, operational requirements and investment program and the liquidity 
risk of the Company is therefore moderate.

As of 31 December 2016 (Currency-CHF)

in CHF

On demand Up to 1 year 1-5 years Over 5 years Total

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 7,143,886  -    -    -   7,143,886
Accounts receivable and accrued interest  -   517,657  -    -   517,657
Investments and other receivable designed at fair value through 
profit or loss 2,377,282  -   17,787,638 9,120,295 29,285,215
Derivatives (including embedded derivatives, investment property)  -   204,000  -    -   204,000
Possible Future Milestone Payments: EPH share sae  -    -   101,900  -   101,900

Total assets 9,521,168 721,657 17,889,538 9,120,295 37,252,658

Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued expenses  -   5,040,845  77,006  -   5,117,851
Loan from bank  -   25,066,939  -    -   25,066,939
Derivatives (including embedded derivatives, investment property)  -   1,837,633  -    -   1,837,633
Financial lease liabilities  -    -    -   1,813,537 1,813,537

Total liabilities  -   31,945,417 77,006 1,813,537 33,835,960
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As of 31 December 2015 (Currency-CHF)

in CHF

On demand Up to 1 year 1-5 years Over 5 years Total

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 15,467,335  -    -    -   15,467,335
Accounts receivable and accrued interest  -   865,651 179,334 20,302 1,065,287
Investments and other receivable designed at fair value through 
profit or loss 932,190 7,003,696 9,121,562 2,299,266 19,356,714
Derivatives (including embedded derivatives, investment property)  -   3,548,274  -    -   3,548,274
Possible Future Milestone Payments: EPH share sale  -    -   528,000  -   528,000

Total assets 16,399,525 11,417,621 9,828,896 2,319,568 39,965,610

Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 3,330,927 1,818,305  -    -   5,149,232
Loans from banks 24,078,967  -    -    -   24,078,967
Derivatives (including embedded derivatives, investment property) 191,400 3,548,274  -    -   3,739,674
Financial lease liabilities  -    -    -   1,455,287 1,455,287

Total liabilities 27,601,294 5,366,579  -   1,455,287 34,423,160

3.10.3 Market risk
The Company’s exposure to market risk for changes in market prices relates primarily to listed shares or 
fixed income instruments that may be held within the fair value through profit or loss category. The 
Company generally does not use derivative financial instruments to hedge its market risks.

Fixed income instruments forming part of the investment portfolio are listed in note 5.1 to the consoli-
dated financial statements. A description of the Russian corporate issuers of fixed income instruments 
held in the portfolio is provided under the “Portfolio Investments” section of the annual report. The 
majority of issuers are in the “Financial Services ” and “Oil and Gas” sectors. 

Market risk for fixed income instruments can be described as the risk that the bond market as a whole 
would decline, bringing the value of individual securities down regardless of their fundamental charac-
teristics. In determining the value at risk for credit spreads, a Bloomberg Monte-Carlo-simulation was 
done. The simulation was based on the portfolio as at 31 December 2016, taking into consideration the 
last 12 months. Assuming a 95% confidence level, the fixed income portfolio would decrease by 0.72% 
of the portfolio value (2015: 4%) this would amount to a loss of CHF 0.17 million (2015: CHF 0.60 mil-
lion). The decrease resulted from the sunken portfolio exposure and duration and a reduced annual 
volatilities on relevant bond markets. 

For equity related investments the Group bears the risk that they may be realised only after several years 
and that their fair value may change significantly. Management, from time to time, performs a sensitivity 
analysis of its unlisted private equity portfolio to assess the impact of a possible market correction. 
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To illustrate by examples: Should the value of the Company's investment in Transterm Holdings Cyprus 
Limited (note 5.2) (measured with reference to the net CHF carrying value attributed to this investment in 
the 2016 consolidated financial statements) change by 25% the impact on the income statement would 
be CHF 47'790 (2015: CHF 139'226); should the value of the Company's investment in the Russian flower 
retail business based on the net carrying value (note 9) change by 25%, the impact on the income state-
ment would be CHF 25’000 (2015: CHF 100’000); should the value ascribed to the Possible Further Mile-
stone Payments (note 5.5) change by 25%, the impact on the income statement would be CHF 25'475 
(2015: CHF 132'000); should the value ascribed to the Assets under development - Greater Moscow resi-
dential real estate development (note 6) change by 25%, the impact on the income statement would be 
CHF 1.47 million (2015: CHF 1.18 million) The shift of 25 % was determined by management with reference 
to potential volatility as experienced in past periods by the private equity industry. 

For the listed equities forming part of the electricity share portfolio (note 5) for the sensitivity analysis, 
should same devaluate 30%, it will result in a loss CHF 713’185 (2015: CHF 279’657). The shift of 30% 
was determined by management with reference to potential volatility as experienced in the past based 
on a historical analyses of the RTX .

3.10.4 Credit risk
The Group is exposed to credit risk, which is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause 
a financial loss for the other party by failing to discharge an obligation.

The main concentration to which the Group is exposed to arises from the Group investments in fixed 
income instruments. The credit risk also arises from rents and other receivables from tenants and ac-
counts receivable in general.

The Group is also exposed to counter party credit risk on trading derivative products, cash and cash 
equivalents and other receivables balances as well as to the amounts which may be received. The 
Group’s policy to manage this risk has been to, where possible, invest in fixed income instruments with 
BB+ Standard & Poor’s ratings and/or fixed income instruments with an equivalent Moody's rating or 
higher ratings. However, the fixed income portfolio may contain some unrated instruments. A list of all 
fixed income investments is shown in note 5.1. 

Credit risk related to rent payments is managed by requiring tenants to pay rentals in advance (includ-
ing rent deposits). There are policies in place to monitor its exposure to non-payment of rents by its 
tenants, including pre-screening prior to signing leases, careful monitoring of rental receipts, and ef-
forts to collect rents or terminate leases before receivables become substantial.

The credit worthiness of a developer or any other contractor is considered prior to entering into an 
agreement. Where possible, legal arrangements provide additional security from counterparties and are 
used by the Group.
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Cash and cash equivalents are held by selected counter-parties.

The maximum exposure to credit risk before any credit enhancements at 31 December 2016 and 31 
December 2015 is the carrying amount of the financial assets as set out below.

2016 2015

Fixed income instruments 23,300,832 14,536,694
Cash and cash equivalents 7,143,886 15,467,335
Possible Future Milestone Payments: EPH share sale 101,900 528,000
Transterm Holdings Cyprus Ltd 3,607,101 3,887,830
Accounts receivable and accrued interest 517,657 1,065,287

Total 34,671,376 35,485,146

None of these assets are past due or impaired (other than as shown in notes 5.1; 5.2; 5.5 and 9) to these 
financial statements).  

3.10.5 Interest rate risk 
The exposure to interest rates is limited to its cash and cash equivalent balance, the portfolio of fixed income 
instruments and interest payable under the loan facility from UniCredit in respect of the loan towards Petrovsky 
Fort (see note 11.1 and below). The interest rate risk inherent to fixed income instruments is not hedged.

Management, from time to time, performs a sensitivity analysis of its fixed income portfolio to assess the impact 
of a possible correction due to changes of interest rates.

The interest rate sensitivity is calculated given an interest rate movement of +/- 500 basis points across all ma-
turities. The resulting figure shows the potential effect in such a scenario on the statement of profit and losses. 
For the year ended 31 December 2016 ENR would incur a loss of CHF CHF 4.40 million (2015: CHF 1.60 million) in 
case of +500 basis point ("bps"). The increase is due to the raised portfolio duration.

As a result of the investment in Petrovsky Fort, there may be an interest rate risk related to bank debt at variable 
interest rates in respect of the UniCredit loan. Variable rate loans do not expose the Group to fair value risk, but 
do create cash flow interest rate risk. The loan from UniCredit is issued at a variable rate.

3.10.6 Capital risk management 
ENR’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in 
order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital 
structure to reduce the cost of capital. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust 
the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to 
reduce debt. At year-end 2016, total liabilities on the balance sheet comprised CHF 35.57 million (2015: CHF 34.79 
million) compared to total assets of CHF 82.17 million (2015: CHF 76.97 million). Compared to total capital, which 
is calculated as shareholders’ equity as shown in the consolidated balance sheet plus net debt, net debt at year-end 
2016 is covered once (2015: once) by capital.
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3.11 Taxation risks 
Russian tax legislation is subject to frequent change and some of the laws related to Russian taxes are compara-
tively new and continue to evolve. Co-investment agreements under which parties to a real estate investment 
agreement with the municipal authorities can accept investor financing, and ultimately register initial ownership 
of the properties to the investor, are not clearly defined in the tax code. Differing interpretations of tax regulations 
exist both among and within government ministries and organisations at the federal, regional and local levels, 
leading to uncertain and inconsistent enforcement. Taxes are subject to review and investigations by a number of 
authorities enabled by law to impose fines and penalties. 

Amendments to the Russian tax legislation were passed in 2014 and entered into force from 2015 which are aimed 
at combating tax evasion through the use of low-tax jurisdictions and aggressive tax planning structures.  In par-
ticular, those amendments include definitions of the concepts of beneficial ownership and tax residence of legal 
entities at their actual place of business, and an approach to the taxation of controlled foreign companies.  Also 
the court practice with respect to certain tax issues, including the application of thin capitalisation rules to the 
loans from foreign sister companies, meaningfully changed in 2015 in tax authorities’ favor. While ENR believes it 
has provided adequately for all tax liabilities based on its understanding of the tax legislation, the above facts may 
create tax risks for LLC Petrovsky Fort and ENR Development LLC.

3.12 Leases
The determination of whether an arrangement is (or contains) a lease is based on the substance of the arrange-
ment at the inception of the lease. The arrangement is, or contains, a lease if fulfilment of the arrangement is 
dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets and the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset or as-
sets, even if that right is not explicitly specified in an arrangement.
 
A lease is classified at the inception date as a finance lease or an operating lease. A lease that transfers substantially 
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership to a Group entity is classified as a finance lease. Finance leases are 
capitalised at the commencement of the lease at the inception date fair value of the leased property or, if lower, at the 
present value of the minimum lease payments. Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduc-
tion of the lease liability so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance 
charges are recognised in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss. A leased asset is depreciated over the useful 
life of the asset. However, if there is no reasonable certainty that the Group entity will obtain ownership by the end of 
the lease term, the asset is depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset and the lease term. An 
operating lease is a lease other than a finance lease. Operating lease payments are recognised as an operating ex-
pense in the statement of profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Leases in which the Group entity does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of an 
asset are classified as operating leases. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating 
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same 
basis as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in the period in which they are earned.
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4 Earnings per share attributable to equity holders of the company 

Earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net income for the period by the weighted average 
number of shares outstanding during the period.

2016 2015

Earnings per share basic and diluted
Net profit / (loss) attributable to equity holders CHF 5,810,309 CHF – 17,829,994
Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding 2,574,234 2,574,234 

Basic and diluted earnings per share CHF  2.257 CHF  – 6.926

The weighted average number of outstanding shares set out in note 4 above comprise of the issued 
shares less the treasury shares.

5 Investment Portfolio and Other Receivables designed at Fair Value through Profit or Loss

in CHF

2016 2015

Fair value of portfolio at beginning of the period 19,693,315 25,667,485

Investment Portfolio Movement for the Period
Purchase of investments 15,192,480 2,413,147 
Sale of investments  – 8,136,594 – 8,083,734
Net realised (loss) on disposal of investments  – 1,206,790 – 1,253,977
Movement in the period of forward foreign exchange contracts 1,407,400 1,645,000 

Net investment portfolio movement for the period 7,256,496 – 5,279,564
Increase / (decrease) in fair value 2,641,303 – 694,608

Fair value of portfolio at the end of the period 29,591,115 19,693,314 

The investment portfolio is represented as follows on the balance sheet:
Designated as Fair Value Through Profit or Loss:

Listed equity securities and bonds held for trading 25,678,114 15,468,884 
Unlisted equity securities and fixed income instruments held for trading 3,709,001 4,415,830

Total designated as fair value through profit or loss 29,387,115 19,884,714

Total financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 29,387,115 19,884,714

Derivatives held for trading:
Forward foreign exchange contracts 204,000 – 191,400

Total derivatives 204,000 – 191,400

Profit / (Loss) on investments at fair value through profit or loss
Net realised profit / (loss) 9,210 – 475,977
Changes in fair value increase / (decrease) 2,437,307 – 503,208
Total 2,446,517 – 979,185

Profit / (Loss) recognised on derivatives
Net realised (loss)  – 1,216,000 – 778,000
Changes in fair value increase / (decrease) 204,000 – 191,400
Total – 1,012,000 – 969,400
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5.1 Details of investments at fair value through profit or loss 
Balance as of 01.01.2016 Movement in period (CHF) Realised (CHF) Changes in fair value (CHF) Balance as of 31.12.2016

CURRENT ASSETS Quantity  CHF 
Purchases and 

Additions

Sales, Redemp-
tions and With-

drawals Gains Losses Gains Losses  Quantity CHF
Listed equity securities
FEDERAL GRID COMPANY OF UES OJSC 10,173,273 8,627  -    -    -    -   25,998  -   10,173,273 34,625 
RUSHYDRO PJSC 32,708,775 294,079  -    -    -    -   282,659  -   37,325,615 576,738 
INTER RAO UES PJSC 6,822,874 98,909  -    -    -    -   340,396  -   6,822,874 439,305 
INTER RAO UES PJSC 4,072,625 61,187  -    -    -    -   198,854  -   4,072,625 260,042 
ROSSETI PJSC 20,900,000 97,455  -    -    -    -   300,980  -   20,900,000 398,435 
INTERREGIONAL DISTRIBUTION GRID COMPANY OF VOLGA HOLDING PREFERENCE SHARES 6,400,000 51,910  -    -    -    -   183,637  -   6,400,000 235,547 
MOSENERGO PJSC 50 42  -    -    -    -    -    – 41 50 1 
MOSCOW UNITED ELECTRIC GRID 12,313,327 138,575  -    -    -    -   46,636  -   12,313,327 185,211 
QUADRA POWER GENERATION PJSC 23,263,819 1,160  -    -    -    -    -    – 449 23,263,819 711 
RAO Vostoka 18,400,000 91,277  -    – 64,618                 -     – 26,658  -    -    -    -   
RAO East Energy Syst Pref ShsA 6,400,000 20,801  -    – 13,209                 -     – 7,592  -    -    -    -   
TGC-1 PJSC 927,579,908 60,268  -    -    -    -   172,655  -   927,579,908 232,923 
TGC-2 OJSC 314,979,184 5,847  -    -    -    -   5,493  -   314,979,184 11,340 
VOLZHSKAYA TERRITORIAL GEN CO 228,739 1,571  -    -    -    -   275  -   228,739 1,846 
VOLGA TERRITORIAL GENERATION 69,255 482  -    -    -    -   76  -   69,255 558 
Sub-total: Listed equity secuities 932,190  -    – 77,827  -    – 34,250 1,557,658  – 490 2,377,282 

Fixed income
GAZPROM 2.375%, 12/2016, BOND 2,000,000 1,980,200  -    – 2,000,000  19,800  -    -    -    -    -   
VNESHECONOMBANK VIA VEB FINANCE PLC 3.75%, 02/2016, BOND 2,000,000 1,986,000  -    – 2,000,000  14,000  -    -    -    -    -   
NOVATEK OAO VIA NOVATEK FINANCE LTD 5.326%, 02/2016, BOND 1,000,000 994,589  -    – 1,023,900  29,311  -    -    -    -    -   
SBERBANK OF RUSSIA VIA SB CAPITAL SA 5.4%, 03/2017,  BOND 1,000,000 1,011,373  -    – 1,021,697  10,324  -    -    -    -    -   
GAZPROM OAO VIA GAZ CAPITAL SA 6.212%, 11/2016, BOND 2,000,000 2,042,906  -    – 2,013,170  -    – 29,736  -    -    -    -   
Sub-total: Fixed income 8,015,068  -    – 8,058,767  73,435  – 29,736  -    -    -    -   

Total investments (current assets) at fair value through profit and loss 8,947,258  -    – 8,136,594  73,435  – 63,986  1,557,658  – 490 2,377,282 

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Fixed income
GAZ CAPITAL SA 3.375%, 11/2018, BOND  -    -    1,002,606  -    -    -    40,894  -   1,000,000 1,043,500 
VEB FIN PLC 4.224%, 11/2018, BOND  -    -    978,810  -    -    -    54,048  -   1,000,000 1,032,858 
STEEL FUNDING LTD 4.45%, 02/2018, BOND 1,000,000 983,765  -    -    -    -    57,653  -   1,000,000 1,041,418 
LUKOIL INTL FIN BV 4.563%, 04/2023, BOND  -    -    1,877,430  -    -    -    181,154  -   2,000,000 2,058,584 
GAZ CAPITAL SA 4.95%, 07/2024, BOND  -    -    976,683  -    -    -    74,466  -   1,000,000 1,051,149 
VTB BANK OJSC VIA VTB CAPITAL SA 5 %, 10/2024, BOND 1,500,000 1,373,252  -    -    -    -    166,500  -   1,500,000 1,539,752 
RSHB CAPITAL SA 5.1%, 07/2018, BOND 1,000,000 989,326  -    -    -    -    53,366  -   1,000,000 1,042,692 
MMC FIN LTD (Norilsk Nickel) 5.55%, 10/2020, BOND  -    -    1,010,186  -    -    -    77,342  -   1,000,000 1,087,528 
SB CAPITAL SA 5.717%, 06/2021, BOND  -    -    2,081,895  -    -    -    89,390  -   2,000,000 2,171,285 
DOMEDEDOVA AIRPORT 6%, 11/2018, BOND 750,000 715,032  -    -    -    -    80,438  -   750,000 795,470 
LUKOIL INTL FINANCE 6.125%, 11/2020, BOND  -    -    1,043,657  -    -    -    63,639  -   1,000,000 1,107,296 
SB CAPITAL SA 6.125%, 02/2022, BOND  -    -    1,027,168  -    -    -    82,880  -   1,000,000 1,110,048 
GAZ CAPITAL SA 6.51%, 03/2022, BOND  -    -    1,030,905  -    -    -    98,351  -   1,000,000 1,129,256 
VTB CAPITAL SA 6.551%, 10/2020, BOND  -    -    1,035,166  -    -    -    74,117  -   1,000,000 1,109,283 
MMC NORILSK NICKEL 6.625%, 10/2022, BOND  -    -    1,035,166  -    -    -    102,648  -   1,000,000 1,137,814 
VEB FIN PLC 6.902%, 10/2020, BOND  -    -    2,092,808  -    -    -    114,855  -   2,000,000 2,207,663 
TRANSCAPITALINVEST LTD OJSC AK TRANSNEFT 8.7% , 08/2018, BOND 832,000 905,167  -    -    -    -    21,063  -   832,000 926,230 
PETROPAVLOVSK 9%, 03/2020, BOND 592,000 629,069  -    -    -    -    -    – 13,756 592,000 615,313 
VTB EURASIA LIMITED 9.5 %, (perpetual), BOND 1,000,000 926,016  -    -    -    -    167,677  -   1,000,000 1,093,693 
Sub-total: Fixed income 6,521,627 15,192,480  -    -    -    1,600,481  – 13,756 23,300,832 

Private equity instruments
TRANSTERM HOLDINGS CYPRUS LTD  - ordinary shares 9,310,000 3,887,830  -    -    -    – 239  101,146  – 381,636 9,310,000 3,607,101 
Sub-total: Private equity instruments 3,887,830  -    -    -    – 239  101,146  – 381,636 3,607,101 

Total investments (non-current assets) at fair value through profit and loss 10,409,457 15,192,480  -    -    – 239  1,701,627  – 395,392 26,907,933 

RECEIVABLES: POTENTIAL FURTHER MILESTONE PAYMENTS (EASTERN PROPERTY HOLD-
INGS LTD SHARES SALE)
Non-Current assets                      -   528,000  -    -    -    -    – 426,100  -    -   101,900 
Total unlisted investments at fair value through profit and loss (non-current assets) 528,000  -    -    -    -    – 426,100  -   101,900 

CURRENT LIABILITIES
FORWARD FOREIGN EXCHANGE CONTRACTS                     -   – 191,400  – 77,946,000  79,353,400  314,000  – 1,530,000  204,000  -    -   204,000 
Total derivative financial instruments                     -   – 191,400  – 77,946,000  79,353,400  314,000  – 1,530,000  204,000  -    -   204,000 

Total investments - 19,693,315  – 62,753,520  71,216,806  387,435  – 1,594,225  3,037,185  – 395,882  -   29,591,115 
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5.1 Details of investments at fair value through profit or loss 
Balance as of 01.01.2016 Movement in period (CHF) Realised (CHF) Changes in fair value (CHF) Balance as of 31.12.2016

CURRENT ASSETS Quantity  CHF 
Purchases and 

Additions

Sales, Redemp-
tions and With-

drawals Gains Losses Gains Losses  Quantity CHF
Listed equity securities
FEDERAL GRID COMPANY OF UES OJSC 10,173,273 8,627  -    -    -    -   25,998  -   10,173,273 34,625 
RUSHYDRO PJSC 32,708,775 294,079  -    -    -    -   282,659  -   37,325,615 576,738 
INTER RAO UES PJSC 6,822,874 98,909  -    -    -    -   340,396  -   6,822,874 439,305 
INTER RAO UES PJSC 4,072,625 61,187  -    -    -    -   198,854  -   4,072,625 260,042 
ROSSETI PJSC 20,900,000 97,455  -    -    -    -   300,980  -   20,900,000 398,435 
INTERREGIONAL DISTRIBUTION GRID COMPANY OF VOLGA HOLDING PREFERENCE SHARES 6,400,000 51,910  -    -    -    -   183,637  -   6,400,000 235,547 
MOSENERGO PJSC 50 42  -    -    -    -    -    – 41 50 1 
MOSCOW UNITED ELECTRIC GRID 12,313,327 138,575  -    -    -    -   46,636  -   12,313,327 185,211 
QUADRA POWER GENERATION PJSC 23,263,819 1,160  -    -    -    -    -    – 449 23,263,819 711 
RAO Vostoka 18,400,000 91,277  -    – 64,618                 -     – 26,658  -    -    -    -   
RAO East Energy Syst Pref ShsA 6,400,000 20,801  -    – 13,209                 -     – 7,592  -    -    -    -   
TGC-1 PJSC 927,579,908 60,268  -    -    -    -   172,655  -   927,579,908 232,923 
TGC-2 OJSC 314,979,184 5,847  -    -    -    -   5,493  -   314,979,184 11,340 
VOLZHSKAYA TERRITORIAL GEN CO 228,739 1,571  -    -    -    -   275  -   228,739 1,846 
VOLGA TERRITORIAL GENERATION 69,255 482  -    -    -    -   76  -   69,255 558 
Sub-total: Listed equity secuities 932,190  -    – 77,827  -    – 34,250 1,557,658  – 490 2,377,282 

Fixed income
GAZPROM 2.375%, 12/2016, BOND 2,000,000 1,980,200  -    – 2,000,000  19,800  -    -    -    -    -   
VNESHECONOMBANK VIA VEB FINANCE PLC 3.75%, 02/2016, BOND 2,000,000 1,986,000  -    – 2,000,000  14,000  -    -    -    -    -   
NOVATEK OAO VIA NOVATEK FINANCE LTD 5.326%, 02/2016, BOND 1,000,000 994,589  -    – 1,023,900  29,311  -    -    -    -    -   
SBERBANK OF RUSSIA VIA SB CAPITAL SA 5.4%, 03/2017,  BOND 1,000,000 1,011,373  -    – 1,021,697  10,324  -    -    -    -    -   
GAZPROM OAO VIA GAZ CAPITAL SA 6.212%, 11/2016, BOND 2,000,000 2,042,906  -    – 2,013,170  -    – 29,736  -    -    -    -   
Sub-total: Fixed income 8,015,068  -    – 8,058,767  73,435  – 29,736  -    -    -    -   

Total investments (current assets) at fair value through profit and loss 8,947,258  -    – 8,136,594  73,435  – 63,986  1,557,658  – 490 2,377,282 

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Fixed income
GAZ CAPITAL SA 3.375%, 11/2018, BOND  -    -    1,002,606  -    -    -    40,894  -   1,000,000 1,043,500 
VEB FIN PLC 4.224%, 11/2018, BOND  -    -    978,810  -    -    -    54,048  -   1,000,000 1,032,858 
STEEL FUNDING LTD 4.45%, 02/2018, BOND 1,000,000 983,765  -    -    -    -    57,653  -   1,000,000 1,041,418 
LUKOIL INTL FIN BV 4.563%, 04/2023, BOND  -    -    1,877,430  -    -    -    181,154  -   2,000,000 2,058,584 
GAZ CAPITAL SA 4.95%, 07/2024, BOND  -    -    976,683  -    -    -    74,466  -   1,000,000 1,051,149 
VTB BANK OJSC VIA VTB CAPITAL SA 5 %, 10/2024, BOND 1,500,000 1,373,252  -    -    -    -    166,500  -   1,500,000 1,539,752 
RSHB CAPITAL SA 5.1%, 07/2018, BOND 1,000,000 989,326  -    -    -    -    53,366  -   1,000,000 1,042,692 
MMC FIN LTD (Norilsk Nickel) 5.55%, 10/2020, BOND  -    -    1,010,186  -    -    -    77,342  -   1,000,000 1,087,528 
SB CAPITAL SA 5.717%, 06/2021, BOND  -    -    2,081,895  -    -    -    89,390  -   2,000,000 2,171,285 
DOMEDEDOVA AIRPORT 6%, 11/2018, BOND 750,000 715,032  -    -    -    -    80,438  -   750,000 795,470 
LUKOIL INTL FINANCE 6.125%, 11/2020, BOND  -    -    1,043,657  -    -    -    63,639  -   1,000,000 1,107,296 
SB CAPITAL SA 6.125%, 02/2022, BOND  -    -    1,027,168  -    -    -    82,880  -   1,000,000 1,110,048 
GAZ CAPITAL SA 6.51%, 03/2022, BOND  -    -    1,030,905  -    -    -    98,351  -   1,000,000 1,129,256 
VTB CAPITAL SA 6.551%, 10/2020, BOND  -    -    1,035,166  -    -    -    74,117  -   1,000,000 1,109,283 
MMC NORILSK NICKEL 6.625%, 10/2022, BOND  -    -    1,035,166  -    -    -    102,648  -   1,000,000 1,137,814 
VEB FIN PLC 6.902%, 10/2020, BOND  -    -    2,092,808  -    -    -    114,855  -   2,000,000 2,207,663 
TRANSCAPITALINVEST LTD OJSC AK TRANSNEFT 8.7% , 08/2018, BOND 832,000 905,167  -    -    -    -    21,063  -   832,000 926,230 
PETROPAVLOVSK 9%, 03/2020, BOND 592,000 629,069  -    -    -    -    -    – 13,756 592,000 615,313 
VTB EURASIA LIMITED 9.5 %, (perpetual), BOND 1,000,000 926,016  -    -    -    -    167,677  -   1,000,000 1,093,693 
Sub-total: Fixed income 6,521,627 15,192,480  -    -    -    1,600,481  – 13,756 23,300,832 

Private equity instruments
TRANSTERM HOLDINGS CYPRUS LTD  - ordinary shares 9,310,000 3,887,830  -    -    -    – 239  101,146  – 381,636 9,310,000 3,607,101 
Sub-total: Private equity instruments 3,887,830  -    -    -    – 239  101,146  – 381,636 3,607,101 

Total investments (non-current assets) at fair value through profit and loss 10,409,457 15,192,480  -    -    – 239  1,701,627  – 395,392 26,907,933 

RECEIVABLES: POTENTIAL FURTHER MILESTONE PAYMENTS (EASTERN PROPERTY HOLD-
INGS LTD SHARES SALE)
Non-Current assets                      -   528,000  -    -    -    -    – 426,100  -    -   101,900 
Total unlisted investments at fair value through profit and loss (non-current assets) 528,000  -    -    -    -    – 426,100  -   101,900 

CURRENT LIABILITIES
FORWARD FOREIGN EXCHANGE CONTRACTS                     -   – 191,400  – 77,946,000  79,353,400  314,000  – 1,530,000  204,000  -    -   204,000 
Total derivative financial instruments                     -   – 191,400  – 77,946,000  79,353,400  314,000  – 1,530,000  204,000  -    -   204,000 

Total investments - 19,693,315  – 62,753,520  71,216,806  387,435  – 1,594,225  3,037,185  – 395,882  -   29,591,115 
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5.1.1 Illustration of gains and losses shown in the statement of comprehensive income

2016 2015

Realised profit on current investments at fair value through profit and loss  73,435  289,285 
Realised (loss) on current investments at fair value through profit and loss  – 63,986  – 54,875
Realised profit on non-current investments at fair value through profit and loss   -     41,551 
Realised (loss) on non-current investments at fair value through profit and loss  – 239  – 751,938
Realised profit / (loss) on sale of investments through profit and loss, net  9,210  – 475,977
Unrealised profit on current investments through profit and loss  1,557,658  711,488 
Unrealised (loss) on current investments through profit and loss  – 490  – 215,114
Unrealised profit on non-current investments through profit and loss  1,586,729  1,009,182 
Unrealised (loss) on non-current unlisted investments through profit and loss  – 381,636  – 570,786
Unrealised profit on non-current unlisted investments through profit and loss  101,146  30,607 
Unrealised profit / (loss) on current unlisted investments through profit and loss  – 426,100  – 1,468,585
Unrealised profit / (loss) on investments through profit and loss, net  2,437,307  – 503,208
Realised profit on forward foreign exchange contracts  314,000  473,000 
Realised (loss) on forward foreign exchange contracts  – 1,530,000  – 1,251,000
Realised (loss) on forward foreign exchange contracts, net  – 1,216,000  – 778,000
Unrealised profit / (loss) on forward foreign exchange contracts  204,000  – 191,400
Unrealised profit / (loss) on forward foreign exchange contracts, net  204,000  – 191,400

5.2 Transterm Holdings Cyprus Limited 
Transterm uses loan distributions to distribute proceeds to its shareholders as it does not have suffi-
cient distributable reserves to allow for dividend distributions. These loans are only repayable at the 
election of the borrower. ENR records these loans as part of “Accounts payable and accrued expenses” 
even though they are not repayable and do not carry interest. Non-repayable loans will be set-off in a 
future Transterm capital reduction.
 
In 2016 ENR made a fair value adjustment of CHF 381'636 to the Transterm investment (2015: CHF 
570'786). At year-end 2016, the net book value attributable to Transterm was CHF 191'160 (2015: CHF 
556'903), being the CHF equivalent of the amount ENR could still receive in future distributions from 
Transterm. The valuation of the investment in Transterm bears inherent uncertainties due to the ab-
sence of a liquid market. Realisation of these proceeds is uncertain and depends on future develop-
ments which may materially impact expected amounts. Therefore, the fair value attributed to this in-
vestment may differ from the realisable value.
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The table below illustrates the calculation of the net carrying value at year-end 2016 and 2015:

in CHF

2016 2015

Carrying value at the beginning of the period (gross) 3,887,830 4,440,657 
Non-repayable loans received in prior periods  – 3,330,927  – 2,949,582
Carrying value at the beginning of the period (net) 556,903 1,491,075 

Realised (loss) due to foreign exchange movements  – 239  – 12,648
Unrealised profit due to foreign exchange movements 101,146 30,607 
Fair value adjustment  – 381,636  – 570,786

Carrying value at the end of the period (gross) 3,607,101 3,887,830 
Non-repayable loans received (in current and prior periods)  – 3,415,941  – 3,330,927
Carrying value at the end of the period (net) 191,160 556,903 

5.3 Fixed income instruments
ENR has acquired a range of local and foreign currency fixed income instruments issued by Russian 
corporates. During the reporting period, CHF 15.19 million (2015: CHF 2.41 million) was deployed to 
acquire fixed income instruments whilst CHF 8.06 million (2015: CHF 7.11 million) was generated via the 
sale and/or repayment of fixed income instruments. Details of fixed income instruments are set out in 
the table under note 5.1. At year-end the aggregate fair value attributed to fixed income instruments 
was CHF 23.30 million (2015: CHF 14.54 million).

5.4 Unique capital markets - Shares in Russian electricity companies
ENR holds shares in electricity companies covering a range of market and geographical segments in the Russian 
electricity sector. The fair value at year-end of all these shares is based on last available closing prices of these 
shares at 31 December 2016 where the aggregate value of these shares was CHF 2.38 million (2015: CHF 
932'190).

5.5 Possible Future Milestone Payments: Eastern Property Holdings Limited
During late December 2012 ENR sold its investment in Eastern Property Holdings Limited ("EPH") and for the 
sale of all its EPH shares ENR received CHF 15.11 million in cash. As part of the sale transaction ENR may receive 
a further amount in several tranches over the coming years, subject to EPH successfully completing and dis-
posing of certain real estate development projects ("Possible Future Milestone Payments"). 

As the realisation of Possible Future Milestone Payments proceeds is uncertain and depends on EPH success-
fully completing and disposing of certain real estate projects (which may materially impact the expected 
amount) until 1 January 2019, the fair value attributed to this investment could differ from the realisable value. 
During 2016  an impairment of CHF 426'100  was made and at year-end the aggregate fair value attributed to 
Possible Future Milestone Payments was CHF 101'900 (2015: CHF 528’000).

111



5.6 Investment Property (Petrovsky Fort business center in Saint-Petersburg, Russia)

5.6.1 Carrying value

The following table explains the movement in the carrying value of the investment property (as shown on asset 
side of the balance sheet): 

in CHF

Investment Prop-
erty Building

Embedded Deriva-
tives

Investment 
Property  Financial 
Leasing Total

Opening balance at 1 January 2015 41,047,714 2,945,442 1,673,832 45,666,988 
Investments 1,126  -   127,554 128,680 
Disposals  -    -    -    -   
Fair value adjustments including foreign currency effects  – 5,328,112 1,422,421  -    – 3,905,691
Foreign exchange translation differences  – 7,571,392  – 819,589  – 346,099  – 8,737,080
Carrying amount at 31 December 2015 28,149,336 3,548,274 1,455,287 33,152,897 

Opening balance at 1 January 2016 28,149,336 3,548,274 1,455,287 33,152,897 
Investments  -    -    -    -   
Disposals  – 233,401  -    -    – 233,401
Fair value adjustments including foreign currency effects  – 2,543,048  – 2,286,634  -    – 4,829,681
Foreign exchange translation differences 6,633,891 575,993 342,410 7,552,294 
Carrying amount at 31 December 2016 32,006,778 1,837,633 1,797,697 35,642,109 

Net carrying amount at 31 December 2015 28,149,336 3,548,274 1,455,287 33,152,897 
Net carrying amount at 31 December 2016 32,006,778 1,837,633 1,797,697 35,642,109 

The following table illustrates the impact of movements during the period relating to the investment property 
on the comprehensive statement of income and losses:

in CHF

Fair value adjustments and foreign exchange effect on investment property 2016 2015
Fair value adjustment on investment property buildings  – 2,543,048  – 5,328,112
Fair value adjustment of embedded derivative (asset)  – 2,286,634 1,422,421 
Result from foreign exchange translation of banking loan for investment property 5,816,934  – 11,747,289
Total fair value change on investment property as presented in the income statement 987,252  – 15,652,980

The following table shows the value of the embedded derivatives on the investment property as shown on the 
liability side of the balance sheet:

in CHF

2016 2015
Embedded derivatives on investment property (liabilities) 1,837,633 3,548,274 
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For the impact of changes of embedded derivatives on investment property (liabilities), which is recognised in 
Exchange Losses - other movements on the comprehensive statement of income and losses, see note 14.

Embedded derivatives

For the Petrovsky Fort business center most lease contracts with tenants are denominated in US$, a currency 
other than the functional ruble currency of Petrovsky Fort LLC and of the tenants. A number of these lease 
contracts provide a corridor of US$/ruble exchange cross-rates for the ruble payments to be made by tenants. 
The inherent put and call options on purchases and sales of foreign currency included in these lease contracts 
are considered to be embedded derivatives included in the host lease contracts. 

In accordance with IAS 39 AG33(d) the economic characteristics and risks of these embedded derivatives are 
not closely related to the host contracts and the lessor has to account for the embedded derivatives at fair 
value (IAS 39.43) separately from the host contract from inception. The fair value of the investment property is 
determined in accordance with IFRS 13 using the income approach based on discounted cashflow models. The 
cash inflows from the rental income do not take into consideration the specific feature introduced by the inher-
ent put and call options in respect of the above mentioned corridor of US$/ruble exchange rates for the pay-
ments to be made by lessees in ruble. As the embedded derivative asset relates to the cash flows of the invest-
ment property and simply depicts the special corridor feature, the separation of the embedded derivatives has 
been presented as a gross-up of the carrying amount of the investment property and the recognition of a de-
rivative liability, with the changes in the derivative liability recorded in profit and loss to set off the respective 
change in the investment property in the same amount.

The impact of embedded derivatives related to the investment property is shown in the tables forming part of 
this note 5.6.1. For a sensitivity analysis of embedded derivatives see note 3.5.3.2.

5.6.2 The business center

Description
Petrovsky Fort is a 47,600 square meter Class B office and retail building located at Finlyandsky Prospect 4, liter 
A in central St. Petersburg. The building has nine office and two retail levels and a large central atrium. Of the 
net rentable space, 15,300 square meters are designated for office use and about 5,800 square meters for retail 
space. The building has an underground parking facility with 118 parking spaces and an above-ground car park 
with 36 parking spaces.

Vacancies and gross rental income from signed leases
At 31 December 2016 the vacancy rate as a percentage of total rentable area of the building was 14.65% (31 
December 2015: 12.30%) and by use for office space was 18.72% (31 December 2015: 17%) and for retail space 
3.86% (31 December 2015: 0%).
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The following table shows the future gross rental income of signed operating leases at 31 December 2016 and 
31 December 2015 (for the periods indicated below):

in CHF

31.12.2016 31.12.2015

Next 12 months 1,786,739 1,645,870
12-60 months 797,793 1,158,663
60 months and later  -    -   

Fair Value

The fair value attributed to the Investment Property was CHF 32.01 million at 31 December 2016 (CHF 28.15 
million at 31 December 2015).
 
The carrying value, in turn, represents the fair value plus adjustment for land lease obligations with respect to 
rent payments to the city of Saint-Petersburg for the long-term land lease of the land under the Petrovsky Fort 
business center, being CHF 1.80 million at 31 December 2016 (31 December 2015: CHF 1.45 million) (see note 
11.3) and the adjustment for the embedded derivatives CHF 1.84 million (31 December 2015: CHF 3.55 million)
(see notes 3.5.2 and 5.6.1).

In 2016 there were signs of improvement in the Russian economy as dual shocks from lower oil prices and sanc-
tions have been absorbed to an extent and where GDP contracted by 0.6%. Although the ruble strengthened in 
2016 it is still at relatively weak levels. Consumers remain cautious and have cut back on spending in a slowing 
economy. Future growth prospects are uncertain, especially in Saint-Petersburg, and businesses reduce leased 
space and cut costs, contributing to the increased vacancy rates from 12.30% at year-end 2015 to 14.65% at 
year-end 2016. 

Real estate investment property is a long term asset class where hold periods are usually for longer than 5 years 
and investment decisions are made with a long term perspective. During the holding period the underlying 
economy may accelerate or slow-down markedly for certain periods. At a particular valuation date, even though 
medium to longer term real estate fundamentals may be attractive, prevailing economic or political conditions 
could present an unrealistic picture of sustainable future rental rates when comparing current rates to rates 
that could be achievable over the medium to longer term. The market factors mentioned above are uncertain 
and may impact on the fair value attributed to this investment, which may differ from the realisable value.
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Net Rental Income

The breakdown of net rental income for 2016 and 2015 is presented below:

in CHF

31.12.2016 31.12.2015

Gross rental income 6,961,810 7,640,484
Land lease expenses – 191,984 – 208,521
Property operating expenses – 846,049 – 737,846
Property tax and non-recoverable VAT – 134,101 – 723,285

Net rental income 5,789,676 5,970,832

Loan from Unicredit

At 31 December 2015 (and at the date of Petrovsky Fort acquisition), Petrovsky Fort LLC had registered one 
mortgage on the building which served as collateral for a credit facility from UniCredit. When the Petrovsky 
Fort business center was acquired the loan facility, via a non-recourse one year loan from UniCredit to Stain-
field Limited, remained in place. The outstanding loan amount was CHF 25.07 million at 31 December 2016 (31 
December 2015: CHF 24.08 million)(see note 11.1). During 2016 finance costs (interest and amortisation) 
amounted to CHF 2.07 million (2015: CHF 2.17 million).

6 Assets under development 

ENR is participating in a residential real estate development comprising of free standing multi-story 
apartment buildings south-west of Moscow. During 2015 construction was stopped to obtain a final 
agreement from the local government on the allowable construction height of the apartment buildings. 
This was resolved in 2016 and it was confirmed that the new maximum approved building height is six 
floors. It is anticipated that construction should restart again in the 2nd quarter of 2017.

Via tranche based payments ENR will invest approximately ruble 615 million (CHF 10.21 million at an 
exchange rate of 0.0166 RUB/1 CHF at 31 December 2016) and obtain ownership of apartments in free 
standing multi-story apartment building/s once construction is completed. At year-end 2016 the total 
amount ENR had invested in accordance with its contractual commitments, was ruble 350 million (CHF 
5.87 million at 31 December 2016 exchange rate) (2015: ruble 350 million or CHF 4.70 million at 31 De-
cember 2015 exchange rate of 0.01342 ruble/1 CHF). 

Assets under development are intended for sale in the ordinary course of business as soon as possible 
following construction. Consequently these assets are accounted for inventories based on IAS 2 and 
IAS 40.9(a) (see note 3.6). These assets are booked at cost and tested at each balance sheet date against 
the net realisable value to assess if any impairment is required. No impairment was required as of        
31 December 2016 (2015: no impairment).
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in CHF

31.12.2016 31.12.2015

Beginning of the period 4,702,555 5,906,607
Additional investments  -    -   
Currency translation effects 1,165,475  – 1,204,052
End of the period 5,868,030 4,702,555

7 Cash and cash equivalents
This comprises cash at bank and in hand and short-term deposits with an original maturity of three months or less.

in CHF

31.12.2016 31.12.2015

Cash at bank and in hand 7,143,886 15,467,335
Cash and cash equivalents 7,143,886 15,467,335

8 Accounts receivable and accrued interest

in CHF

31.12.2016 31.12.2015

Accrued interest 305,801 199,636
Other 211,856 865,651

Total receivables and accrued interest 517,657 1,065,287
whereof current assets 517,657 865,651
whereof non-current assets  -   199,636

9 Other investments accounted under the equity method: Non-current assets

ENR Investment Limited holds a 49% interest in Panariello Enterprises Limited (“Panariello”), an invest-
ment in an associate. Panariello owns 100% of OOO RS Nedvizhimost (“RSN”), a flower retail business 
operating under the ‘OptCvetTorg’ brand in Russia. RSN used to source ready-made flower bouquets 
from a Russian fresh-cut long stem flower producer and sold these flower bouquets to the public. 
Along with the downturn in the Russian economy RSN was no longer able to source flower bouquets at 
low prices from this supplier and a beneficial payment terms arrangement was terminated. This had a 
negative impact on RSN’s working capital and cash flows. Underperforming flower retail outlets were 
closed. A planned expansion with flower retail outlets in Moscow Metro subway stations did not 
materialise.

In 2016 all remaining retail outlets were closed as it was no longer possible to operate them profitably. 
ENR is in discussions with the management team on the potential recovery of part of its investment via 
the sale of equipment used previously in the retail outlets. Consequently ENR made an impairment of 
CHF 301’000 to the RSN investment. At 31 December 2016 the net book value of the investment in this 
flower retail business is CHF 100’000.
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The following tables illustrate the value attributable this investment on the consolidated balance sheet 
at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015.

in CHF

31.12.2016 31.12.2015

Beginning of the period 401,000 1,613,802
Impairment on investment accounted under the equity method  – 301,000  – 1,001,204
Share in result  -    – 363,700
Currency translation effects  -    152,102 

Closing balance for investment in Associate 100,000 401,000

Contingent payment towards investments accounted under the equity method

31.12.2016 31.12.2015

Beginning of the period  -   781,631
Gain from release of contingent payments  -    – 703,976
Currency translations effects  -    – 77,655

Closing balance of contingent payments towards investments accounted under the equity method  -    -   

Impairment on investment accounted under the equity method  – 301,000  – 1,001,204
Share in result  -    – 363,700
Gain from release of contingent payments  -    703,976 

(Loss) from investments accounted under the equity method  – 301,000  – 660,928

The table below summarises the Panariello results which is accounted under the equity method

Panariello in CHF

31.12.2016 31.12.2015

Revenue  -   1,012,253
Income from continued operations  -    – 742,245
Other comprehensive income  -   310,412
Total comprehensive income  -    – 431,833

Short-term assets 515,604 433,956
Long-term assets 271,384 218,090
Short-term Liabilities 942,172 807,243
Long-term Liabilities 688,576 423,114

Shareholder's equity at 01 January  – 578,311 560,820
Income for current year  73,956  – 742,245
Decrease in capital (not yet paid)  -    – 707,298
Currency effects  – 339,405 310,412
Total shareholder's equity  – 843,760  – 578,311

RSN did not meet agreed performance benchmarks and from 31 December 2015 ENR no longer had any 
obligation to make contractual payments towards this business. RSN who represented the major part of 
Panariello’s business in the past, is no longer operational and made no material contribution to Panari-
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ello in 2016. Consequently the table on the previous page only reflects the 2015 position. The neces-
sary adjustments were made to the Panariello local accounts to align same with the year-end 2016 net 
book value of the flower retail investment in the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

10 Other Assets-current assets

Other assets

31.12.2016 31.12.2015

Tax receivables 551,890 106,381
Other receivables 16,184 14,292

Closing balance for other assets 568,074 120,673

11 Liabilities
11.1  Current loans from bank

in CHF

31.12.2016 31.12.2015

Balance at beginning of period  – 24,078,967  – 30,451,818
Loans from banks  – 1,306,000  -   
Loan repayments 318,028 6,372,851

Balance at the end of the period  – 25,066,939  – 24,078,967

Also see note 5.6.2 (Petrovsky Fort) to these audited annual financial statements.

ENR and UniCredit during July 2016 reached an agreement where UniCredit waived compliance by ENR 
for the period 1 January 2016 until 31 July 2017 of the following loan covenants with respect to the 
loan made by Unicredit towards the Petrovsky Fort (provided that the conditions referred to below are 
met): to maintain the loan to value ratio; to maintain the debt service cover ratios; to comply with the 
interest rate risk hedging strategy and to meet certain requirements with respect to lease contracts 
related to Petrovsky Fort. 

During this period the loan to value ratio may not, at any time exceed 85% (at year-end 2016 this ratio 
was 74%). If so the borrower has to make a prepayment to UniCredit of the outstanding amount of the 
loan sufficient to decrease and maintain the loan to value ratio at not higher than 85%. Further, the 
historical debt service cover ratio and the projected debt service cover ratio’s may not be less than 
100% (at year-end 2016 these ratio were 104% and 106% respectively).  

At year end 2016 certain rental rates were lower than the minimum USD 156 per square meter per an-
num and the interest rate risk associated with the UniCredit loan was not yet hedged. UniCredit had as 
part of the waiver mentioned above waived compliance by ENR for the period 1 January 2016 until 31 
July 2017 of these loan covenants. 
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The loan is treated as a short term loan in compliance with IAS 1.74. 

Key loan terms are summarised in the tablebelow:

in CHF

Interest rate (per annum)  6.75% plus 3 months LIBOR 
Interest payment  Quarterly 
Amortisation  US$ 231'250 per quarter 
Final principal balance repayment  At maturity date 
Insurance - interest rate risk  80% of interest rate re loan facility 

11.2 Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses-current and non-current 

in CHF

31.12.2016 31.12.2015

Transterm Holdings Cyprus Ltd (note 5.2) 3,415,941 3,330,927
Other creditors 1,701,910 1,818,305

Balance at the end of the period 5,117,851 5,149,232
whereof current liabilities 5,040,845 5,149,232
whereof non-current liabilities 77,006  -   

11.3 Finance lease liabilities: Non-current
Finance lease liabilities represent non-current obligations of Petrovsky Fort LLC in relation to rent pay-
ments to the city of Saint-Petersburg for the lease of the land under the Petrovsky Fort office center and 
the present value of these payments as at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015 are as follows:

in CHF

31.12.2016 31.12.2015

Financial lease liabilitities: non current Financial Lease: Petrovsky Fort 1,813,537 1,455,287

11.4 Taxes

11.4.1 Overview
ENR paid Swiss taxes on its capital of 0.07 % in 2016 (2015:0.07 %). ENR's Cyprus subsidiaries were 
subject to corporation tax on taxable profits at a rate of 12.5% in 2016 (12.5% in 2015). Under certain 
conditions, interest may be exempt from income tax and be subject only to a special contribution for 
defence at the rate of 30% in 2016 (30% in 2015). In certain cases dividends received from abroad may 
be subject to a defence contribution at the rate of 17% in 2016 (17% in 2015). Net income from ENR 
Private Equity Ltd is not taxed. No deferred taxes are calculated on unrealised gains on securities as 
they are tax exempt in the corresponding jurisdictions.
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The Group’s Russian subsidiaries are liable for the following taxes in Russia:

• 20% payable on the taxable profit calculated as the difference between rental income and tax de-
ductible expenses in connection with their permanent establishment; and  

• 1% property tax on the cadastral value of the Petrovsky Fort business center;

According to Russian Accounting Standards, Petrovsky Fort LLC recognised a taxable profit in 2016. 
However, no income tax was paid by it in 2016 due to utilization of tax losses incurred in the previous 
years. 

11.4.2 Deferred tax assets and liabilities - Petrovsky Fort LLC
For Petrovsky Fort LLC tax losses incurred in previous years and not utilised in 2016 have been recog-
nised as a deferred income tax asset since it is probable that these losses can be offset against taxable 
profits.  

For Petrovsky Fort LLC deferred tax liabilities represent temporary differences resulting from the excess 
of the Petrovsky Fort business center fair value over its tax value, as well as potential tax liabilities 
which may arise due to the recent changes in the Russian tax legislation and related court practice (see 
note 3.11).

Deferred tax assets and liabilities for the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015 are as follows:

in CHF

01.01.2016
Change in scope of 

consolidation

Changes affecting 
the income 
statement

Translation 
adjustments 31.12.2016

2016
Deferred tax assets

Tax loss carried forward 4,484,796  -    – 1,767,040 877,562 3,595,318
Total deferred tax assets 4,484,796  -    – 1,767,040 877,562 3,595,318

Deferred tax liabilities
Investment property (Petrovsky Fort) 4,176,487  -    – 417,651 980,731 4,739,567

Total deferred tax liabilities 4,176,487  -    – 417,651 980,731 4,739,567

Deferred tax assets / liabilities on balance sheet 31 December (net)
Deferred tax liabilities  – 1,144,249
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in CHF

01.01.2015
Change in scope of 

consolidation

Changes affecting 
the income 
statement

Translation 
adjustments 31.12.2015

2015
Deferred tax assets

Tax loss carried forward 5,441,484  -   181,612  – 1,138,300 4,484,796
Total deferred tax assets 5,441,484  -   181,612  – 1,138,300 4,484,796

Deferred tax liabilities
Investment property (Petrovsky Fort) 6,275,296  -    – 967,980  – 1,130,829 4,176,487

Total deferred tax liabilities 6,275,296  -    – 967,980  – 1,130,829 4,176,487

Deferred tax assets / liabilities on balance sheet 31 December (net)
Deferred tax asset 308,309

11.4.3 Tax (assets)/liabilities shown on the consolidated balance sheet 

The table below shows the movement in tax payable and receivable during the reporting period and 
resultant tax (asset) / liability at the end of the period. 

in CHF

31.12.2016 31.12.2015

Balance at beginning of period  – 25,836 55,109
Payment during the period  – 47,370  – 34,366
Reversal of provision (net) 110,862  – 46,579

Balance at the end of the period 37,656  – 25,836

11.4.4 Reconciliation between income tax expected and income tax disclosed in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income and losses  (see table below)

The table below shows. Income tax disclosed in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income 
and losses for the financial years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015.

in CHF

31.12.2016 31.12.2015

Pre-tax profit / (loss)  7,195,699  – 18,933,152
Expected income tax rate 7.83% 7.83%
Expected tax (expense) / benefit  – 563,423 1,482,466
Effect of other tax rates in other countries  – 333,623 2,263,793
Tax-exempted income 108,246 301,928
Income taxed at lower rates  -    -   
Non-deductible expenses for tax purposes  – 909,790  – 202,233
Use of not recognized tax loss carryforwards 490,800  -   
Impairment on deferred tax assets  -    – 1,694,933
Prior year adjustments  – 36,000 6,200
Not recognised tax loss carry forward  – 141,600  – 1,054,063
Income taxes reported in the consolidated statement of profit or (loss)  – 1,385,390 1,103,158
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11.5 Provisions 

in CHF

Provision for other business risks  
 
 

Total 31.12.2016 
 
 

Total 31.12.2015 
 
 

Position at 1 January 362,865 362,865  -   
New provisions charged to income statement 92,756 92,756 428,764
Provisions released and credited to income statement  -    -    -   
Foreign exchange translation differences  102,390  102,390  – 65,899
Balance at 31 December  558,011  558,011  362,865 
Maturity of provisions
Within one year  -    -    -   
More than one year  -   558,011 362,865

The provisions were raised in respect of legal matters.

11.6 Cumulative translation adjustment

Upon consolidation, assets and liabilities of foreign operations are converted into CHF at the closing 
exchange rate on the balance sheet date and income and expense items are translated at monthly rul-
ing exchange rates for the prior month. The resulting foreign currency translation differences repre-
sents a CTA attributable to ENR’s shareholders, recognised directly within equity (forming part of total 
equity attributable to ENR’s shareholders), whereas CTA differences attributable to non-controlling 
interests are shown within equity attributable to non-controlling interests. As subsidiaries and associ-
ate companies of the Group use a different functional currency than the Group’s presentation currency 
(Swiss Franc), the cumulative amount of the exchange rate differences from the translation of those 
entities functional currencies to the Group’s presentation currency is presented in accordance with IAS 
21 as a separate component of equity, as well as in the statement of comprehensive income and losses 
in the sub-segment other comprehensive income or losses.

12 Goodwill

Goodwill arose on the acquisition of the Petrovsky Fort business center in Saint-Petersburg, Russia via 
a share deal and represents the potential future tax optimisation in connection with the Petrovsky Fort 
business center.

IFRS requires the recognition of deferred taxes on a nominal basis, whilst any share transaction in rela-
tion to the asset they relate to is based on the market value of these taxes. Any difference is reflected 
as goodwill.  Accordingly, the impairment test compares the accounting value of goodwill and the po-
tential tax optimisation at reporting date. No impairment was required as at 31 December 2016.
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in CHF

31.12.2016 31.12.2015

Balance at beginning of period 1,836,615 2,307,402
Goodwill at acquisition date  -    - 
Currency Translations Adjustments in the consolidated equity 455,732  – 470,787

Balance at the end of the period 2,292,347 1,836,615

13 Share capital

As of 31 December 2016 the issued and authorised ordinary share capital of the Company was CHF 32.8 
million (31 December 2015: CHF 32.8 million), divided into 2'644'402 (31 December 2015: 2'644'402) 
bearer shares with a par value of CHF 12.40 (31 December 2015: CHF 12.40) each and one voting right 
per share. There are no restrictions on share transfers.

Article 13 of the Company’s Articles of Association contains an “Opting Out” clause regarding matters 
dealt with in article 32 of SESTA and waives the requirement to make a public tender offer whenever a 
shareholder acquires shares exceeding the threshold of 33 1/3 %, conversely 49 %, of the voting rights.

13.1 Issued capital
31.12.2016 31.12.2015

Issued Capital Number of shares CHF Number of shares CHF

Opening balance 2,644,402 32,790,585 2,644,402 32,790,585
Closing balance 2,644,402 32,790,585 2,644,402 32,790,585

13.2 Treasury stock
31.12.2016 31.12.2015

Number of shares
Weighted average 

cost price Number of shares
Weighted average 

cost price

Opening balance 70,168  – 2,370,696 70,168  – 2,370,696
Purchase of treasury shares  -    -   

Closing balance 70,168  – 2,370,696 70,168  – 2,370,696

13.3 Conditional and authorised capital
Article 9 of the Company’s Articles of Association provides for a conditional capital pursuant to which 
the Company’s share capital may be increased through the exercise of options or conversion rights up 
to a maximum amount of CHF 9'985'806.80 through the issue of a maximum of 805'307 bearer shares 
with a par value of CHF 12.40 each.

As of 31 December 2016, the Company has no authorised capital.

Existing shareholders have no preferential subscription rights with regards to the conditional capital.
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31.12.2016 31.12.2015

Conditional and Authorised Capital Number of shares CHF Number of shares CHF

Conditional capital 805,307 9,985,807 805,307 9,985,807

13.4 Dividend
At the annual general meeting of the Company on 29 June 2015 the payment of a gross dividend of CHF 
29'603'690 (i.e. before taxes and duties) of CHF 11.50 per dividend bearing bearer share was approved 
and the dividend was paid on Friday, 3 July 2015.

14 Exchange Losses

in CHF

31.12.2016 31.12.2015

Exchange profits /(losses) - other  2,969,074  – 1,825,079

The major part of  exchange profits/ (losses) arise from the embedded derivatives on the investment prop-
erty with exchange profits of CHF 2.29 million in 2016 and exchange losses of CHF 1.42 million in 2015. 
Also see note 5.6.1.

15 Related Parties and employees

15.1 Valartis Group
The consolidated financial statements comprise of the financial position of ENR, its subsidiaries and 
associates. Other than consolidated and associated entities disclosed in note 3.1 ENR has an investment 
management contract with Valartis International Ltd (“VI”), a wholly owned subsidiary of Valartis Group 
AG, Baar, Switzerland). Under the contract VI receives a management fee in Swiss Francs of 1.5% (plus 
VAT if applicable) per year based on the  consolidated average attributable NAV (adjusted by adding 
back any outstanding debt issued by the Company or any of its subsidiaries or affiliates that is convert-
ible into or exchangeable for shares of ENR). In early 2016 ENR made an advance payment of CHF 0.63 
million to VI for 2016 management fees (calculated based on the provisional consolidated net asset 
value at the time of determining such fees; having applied a 5% (per annum) discount and after a 
downwards adjustment of CHF 41’395 to a 2015 prepayment of CHF 0.96 million in 2015 of manage-
ment fees (based on actual audited 2015 audited consolidated numbers). The 5% discount was calcu-
lated and applied at the time when the fees were paid. At year-end 2016 a similar calculation was per-
formed to determine if a retrospective adjustment is required for the pre-payment of the 2016 
management fees, where the actual net asset value for 2016 was taken into account. Based on this 
calculation ENR has to pay VI an amount of CHF: 11'500.
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in CHF

31.12.2016 31.12.2015

Management fees for the period 777,430 956,323

Out-of-pocket expenses incurred by VI in carrying out the investigative and “due diligence” analysis 
required in pursuing likely investment opportunities and in monitoring existing investments, based on 
contractual terms, are borne by the Company. In addition, based on contractual terms, the asset man-
ager is entitled to receive a performance fee equal to 17.5% (plus VAT if applicable) of the total net 
profits (sale proceeds less acquisition costs and transaction costs) realised by ENR on such investment 
in the event of a sale, another form of disposal or a refinancing of an investment held by ENR, provided 
the annual hurdle rate of 8% has been reached by the ENR.

ENR Investment Limited has a 49% interest in Panariello (see note 3.1) and Panariello is treated as an 
investment in an associate. Panariello, in turn, has a 100% interest in the Russian flower producer RSN 
(see note 9). At 31 December 2016 the Company has no longer any receivable (2015: CHF 184'476) due 
from Panariello and there are no liabilities (2015: 0) due to Panariello.

From 1 January 2015, the local Moscow branch of VI was appointed by Petrovsky Fort LLC, the ENR 
subsidiary holding the Petrovsky Fort real business center to do property management services relating 
to the building (for example, business development, management of tenant agreements; third party 
broker agreements, property administration and commercialisation, legal support, local accounting, 
financial and cash management, budgeting and preparation of monthly feedback reports). For this a 
property management fee US$ 270'000 per annum (VAT exclusive) is paid. The local Moscow branch of 
VI renders similar services to other third parties (including EPH) for Russian based real estate proper-
ties. ENR’s Cyprus based subsidiary Stainfield Limited to who UnicreditBank had advanced loan funding 
for the Petrovsky Fort business center, also from 1 January 2015 appointed VI to perform specific ser-
vices with respect to servicing the UniCreditBank relationship. For this a fee of US$ 50'000 per annum 
(VAT exclusive) is paid. The services rendered under these contracts relate to the management of the 
Petrovsky Fort asset (as opposed to investment management services rendered under the general in-
vestment management contract and the aforementioned fees are thus payable in addition to fees paid 
under the general investment management contract. Mr. Gustav Stenbolt is a board member of both 
ENR and Valartis Group AG and did not take part in the decisions involving the property management 
contracts.
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15.2 Directors’ fees

in CHF

31.12.2016 31.12.2015

G. Stenbolt 100,000 100,000
W. Fetscherin 50,000 50,000
R. Müller 25,000  -   

Total 175,000 150,000

At year-end Dr. Walter Fetscherin owned 100 shares in the Company, Mr. Gustav Stenbolt indirectly 
held 595’740 shares in the Company and Mr. Roland Müller held no shares in the Company.

15.3 Employee remuneration

15.3.1 Remuneration

The information presented in the table below includes aggregate remuneration for all Group employees 
(i.e. its chief executive officer and its Russian subsidiary employees).

in CHF

31.12.2016 31.12.2015

Salaries 496,262 485,105

Social security benefits 90,909 102,524
Contributions to occupational pension plans 41,482 42,711

Total 628,653 630,340

15.3.2 Employee Pension Plan
Although contributions are paid by the employer and employees in the case of the Swiss pension plan (the 
Company has a contract (Anschlussvertrag) with AXA Winterthur Collective Foundation,Winterthur, the 
plan is considered to be a defined benefit plan owing to the guaranteed interest rate and prescribed con-
version rate. With a single Swiss employee, the obligations or assets in respect of the defined benefit plan 
are not material and, consequently, there are no balance sheet obligations or assets in respect of this pen-
sion plan. There is no employee pension plan for the Russian based employees of Petrovsky Fort LLC. In 
2016 the Company contributed CHF 41’482 (2015: CHF 42'711) as pension fund contributions to the pen-
sion funds in respect of the participating employee.

15.4 Significant shareholders as of 31 December 2016
Valartis AG, Valartis Finance Holding AG and Valartis International Ltd jointly own 62.26% (1'602'637 
shares) of the outstanding share capital (issued shares minus treasury shares) of the Company. Para-
mount-Finanz AG owns 11.76% (302’703 shares) and Athris Holding AG 22.92% (590’000 shares) of the 
outstanding share capital (issued shares minus treasury shares) of the Company.
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15.5 Other
Gustav Stenbolt, via MCG Holding SA, is the majority shareholder of the Valartis Group AG and he is a 
member of the Company's board of directors. 

16 Audit Fees

in CHF

2016 2015

Audit fees 88,761 386,831

17 Segment reporting

Since the Company only has one sector of business activity and one geographical sector, the breakdown 
by segment does not apply.

18 Assets pledged or assigned to secure own liabilities, assets under reservation of ownership 
and guarantees

in CHF 

12/31/2016 12/31/2015

Market value Effective 
commitment

Market value Effective 
commitment

Investment property (Petrovsky Fort) 32,006,778 23,760,939 28,149,336 24,078,967
Total 32,006,778 23,760,939 28,149,336 24,078,967

As of 31 December 2016 ENR has provided a guarantee in favor of UniCreditBank in relation to their loan 
towards the Petrovsky Fort business center (i.e. where ENR has guaranteed to UniCreditBank that, on de-
mand, it will pay all indebtedness, obligations and liabilities of Petrovsky Fort LLC regarding any taxes 
payable in respect of this property). 

Collateral provided to UniCreditBank in respect of the loan include a pledge of shares of Stainfield Limited 
and Romsay Properties Limited); a pledge of the participatory interests in Petrovsky Fort LLC; a mortgage 
of the Petrovsky Fort LLC premises; a pledge over lease rights and the subordination of inter-company 
loans. In addition, in accordance with the agreements with Unicredit, in case of an event of default Uni-
CreditBank will receive the sole signing powers for the accounts of Stainfield Limited and Petrovsky Fort 
LLC.
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19 Risk assessment

An extensive overview of the risk factors that the Group is faced with is included separately in the an-
nual report. The Board assesses the potential impact of these risk factors on the financial performance 
of the Group and implements risk management policies accordingly. Certain risk factors, e.g. portfolio 
concentration and hedging policies regarding currency exposure, are dealt with in the investment 
guidelines, which provide the general framework under which the Group’s operations are carried out.

The Board also adopted organisational regulations according to which day-to-day management and 
operations of the Company are delegated to the chief executive officer.

The Board performs a review of the potential risk factors, including those that arise from the account-
ing and financial reporting and assess their potential impact on the Group’s operations no less fre-
quently than annually. Throughout the internal control system framework on financial reporting rele-
vant control measures are defined, which reduce the financial risk. Should the risk environment change 
substantially, measures are taken on the level of the Board to alleviate such risks, including updating 
relevant risk management policies.

20 Acquisitions and effects

ENR acquired no subsidiaries in 2016 (2015: no acquisition).
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Ernst & Young Ltd
Maagplatz 1
P.O. Box
CH-8010 Zurich

Phone +41 58 286 31 11
Fax +41 58 286 30 04
www.ey.com/ch

To the General Meeting of 
ENR Russia Invest SA, Geneva

Zurich, 11 April 2017

Report of the statutory auditor on the financial statements

As statutory auditor, we have audited the financial statements (pages 132 to 137) of ENR 
Russia Invest SA, which comprise the balance sheet, income statement and notes, for the 
year ended 31 December 2016.

Board of Directors’ responsibility
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in ac-
cordance with the requirements of Swiss law and the company’s articles of incorporation. 
This responsibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining an internal control sys-
tem relevant to the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstate-
ment, whether due to fraud or error. The Board of Directors is further responsible for selecting 
and applying appropriate accounting policies and making accounting estimates that are rea-
sonable in the circumstances. 

Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Standards. Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether 
the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and dis-
closures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judg-
ment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial state-
ments, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor consid-
ers the internal control system relevant to the entity’s preparation of the financial statements 
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control system. 
An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 
of the financial statements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 comply with 
Swiss law and the company’s articles of incorporation. 

Independent Auditor’s Report
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Page 2

Report on key audit matters based on the circular 1/2015 of the Federal Audit Over-
sight Authority
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most signifi-
cance in our audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were ad-
dressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our 
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter 
below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities section of our 
report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance 
of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of 
the financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures per-
formed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the financial 
statements.

Valuation of participations

Area of focus ENR Russia Invest SA values participations individually at the lower of 
historical cost or at its impaired value. In subsequent periods, impair-
ments are recognized for any loss in value. In order to determine the 
need for an impairment, the carrying amount of each participation is 
compared against the recoverable amount which is the higher of the 
participation’s net asset value or capitalized earnings value. The capital-
ized earnings value is based on assumptions (e.g. future cash flows, 
discount rate) which involves significant management judgement.

As of 31 December 2016, ENR Russia Invest SA accounts for CHF 12.2
million in participations. This equals 25.6% of the total assets as of 
year-end. 

Due to the assumptions used in the impairment assessment and the 
significance of the balance sheet position in the financial statements of 
ENR Russia Invest SA, the audit of this balance sheet position repre-
sents a key audit matter.

The accounting principles applied are explained in note 1 on page 134
in the annual report of ENR Russia Invest SA.

Our audit 
response

We evaluated management’s assessments and the existence of impair-
ment indicators. We gained an understanding of the valuation methodol-
ogy used to determine the recoverable amount of its investment. We
further tested the underlying data used in management’s valuation 
model.

Report on other legal requirements
We confirm that we meet the legal requirements on licensing according to the Auditor Over-
sight Act (AOA) and independence (article 728 CO and article 11 AOA) and that there are no 
circumstances incompatible with our independence.
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Page 3

In accordance with article 728a para. 1 item 3 CO and Swiss Auditing Standard 890, we con-
firm that an internal control system exists, which has been designed for the preparation of fi-
nancial statements according to the instructions of the Board of Directors.

We further confirm that the proposed appropriation of available earnings complies with Swiss 
law and the company’s articles of incorporation. We recommend that the financial statements 
submitted to you be approved.

Ernst & Young Ltd

Stefan M. Schmid Alain Münger
Licensed audit expert Licensed audit expert
(Auditor in charge)
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Note 31.12.2016 31.12.2015

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 710,667 8,565,055
Other short-term receivables from third parties 75,479 395,256
Other short-term receivables from subsidiaries 34,749,449 26,625,145
Total current assets 35,535,595 35,585,456

Investments 1 12,200,617 12,200,617
Other assets 633 963
Total non-current assets 12,201,250 12,201,580

Total assets 47,736,845 47,787,036

Liabilities
Accrued expenses and deferred income 524,327 658,467

Total current liabilities 524,327 658,467

Total liabilities 524,327 658,467

Shareholders' Equity
Share capital 2 32,790,585 32,790,585
Legal capital reserves

Capital paid in excess of par value (share premium) 2 17,125,197 17,125,197
Voluntary retained earnings

Retained gains 2  – 416,517 1,772,538
Net profit / (loss) of the year 2 83,949  – 2,189,055

Treasury shares 2  – 2,370,696  – 2,370,696

Total shareholders' equity 47,212,518 47,128,569

Total liabilities and shareholders' equity 47,736,845 47,787,036

  

  

Parent Company balance sheet
(Currency-CHF)
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Parent Company income statement and retained gains and losses
(Currency-CHF)

Notes 2016 2015

Income 
Other financial income 107,331 86,312
Dividend 3 800,000 7,000,000

Total income 907,331 7,086,312

Expenses
Directors' fees and expenses 4 175,000 150,000
Staff remuneration 5 431,093  409,655 
Other operating expenses / (income) 6 179,829  915,501 
Financial expenses 7 1,460 2,211
Impairment losses on investments 1  -   7,800,000
Direct taxes 36,000  – 2,000

Total expenses  823,382 9,275,367

Profit / (loss) for the year  83,949  – 2,189,055

Notes to the parent company financial statements 

Principles 

General Aspects
These financial statements for ENR Russia Invest SA, Geneva, were prepared according to the provi-
sions of the Swiss law on Accounting and Financial Reporting (32nd title of the Swiss Code of Obliga-
tions). Where not prescribed by law, the significant accounting and valuation principles applied are 
described below.

Treasury Shares
Treasury shares are recognised at acquisition cost and deducted from shareholder's equity at the time 
of acquisition. In case of a resale, the gain or loss is recognised through the income statement as finan-
cial income or financial expenses. 

Forgoing a cash f low statement and additional disclosure in the notes
As ENR Russia Invest SA has prepared its consolidated financial statements in accordance with a rec-
ognised accounting standard (IFRS), it has decided to forego presenting additional information in the 
notes as well as a cash flow statement in accordance with the law.
 

133



Notes

1. Controlled subsidiaries
The subsidiaries of ENR are described in note 3.1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. In 2016 in 
line with the Swiss GAAP no impairment was required with respect to the investment in subsidiaries 
(2015: CHF 7.80 million).

2. Share capital
As of 31 December 2016 the issued ordinary share capital of the Company was CHF 32.8 million (31 
December 2015: CHF 32.8 million), divided into 2'644'402 (31 December 2015: 2'644'402) bearer 
shares with a par value of CHF 12.40 (31 December 2015: CHF 12.40) each and one voting right per 
share. There are no restrictions on share transfers.

2.1 Movements in shareholders’ equity of the parent company

in CHF Share capital Share premium
Treasury stock 

reserve Retained earnings
Net profit 

for the year Treasury shares Total

Balance as at December 31, 2014 32,790,585 14,754,501 2,280,460 1,425,287 29,950,941  -   81,201,775
Restatement treasury stock according to 
new Swiss GAAP 1)  -   2,280,460  – 2,280,460  -    -    – 2,280,460  – 2,280,460
Restatement treasury stock 2)  -   90,236  -    -    -    – 90,236  -   
Net result prior year carried forward  -    -    -   29,950,941  – 29,950,941  -    -   
Dividend payments Group  -    -    -    – 29,603,690  -    -    – 29,603,690
Net result for the year  -    -    -    -    – 2,189,055  -    – 2,189,055

Balance as at December 31, 2015 32,790,585 17,125,197  -   1,772,538  – 2,189,055  – 2,370,696  47,128,569 
Net result carried forward  -    -    -    – 2,189,055 2,189,055  -    -   
Net result for the year  -    -    -    -   83,949  83,949 

Balance as at December 31, 2016 32,790,585 17,125,197  -    – 416,517 83,949  – 2,370,696  47,212,518 

1)  The reserve for treasury stock was released as a result of new Swiss GAAP.

2)  In prior years the treasury stock was recognised at fair value. According to new Swiss GAAP, the treasury shares are recognised at acquisition cost. 

2.2 Conditional and authorised capital
Article 9 of the Company’s Articles of Association provides for a conditional capital pursuant to which 
the Company’s share capital may be increased by the exercise of option or conversion rights up to a 
maximum amount of CHF 9'985'806.80 through the issue of a maximum of 805'307 bearer shares of 
par value of CHF 12.40 each

31.12.2016 31.12.2015

Conditional and Authorised Capital Number of shares CHF Number of shares CHF

Conditional capital 805,307 9,985,807 805,307 9,985,807
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As at 31 December 2016, the Company has no authorised capital (31 December 2015: no authorised 
capital).

2.3 Treasury Shares

31.12.2016 31.12.2015

Number of shares
Weighted average 

cost price Number of shares
Weighted average 

cost price

Opening balance 70,168 2,370,696 70,168 2,280,460
Restatement new Swiss GAAP 1)  -    -    -   90,236
Purchase of treasury shares  -    -    -    -   

Closing balance 70,168 2,370,696 70,168 2,370,696 

3. Dividends received

An inter-group dividend of CHF 0.80 million was paid in 2016 (2015: CHF 7.00 million).

4. Directors' fees and expenses

in CHF

31.12.2016 31.12.2015

G. Stenbolt 100,000 100,000
W. Fetscherin 50,000 50,000
R. Müller 25,000  -   

Total 175,000 150,000

At year-end Dr. Walter Fetscherin owned 100 shares in the Company, Mr. Gustav Stenbolt indirectly 
held 595’740 shares in the Company and Mr. Roland Müller held no shares in the Company.

5. Staff Remuneration

in CHF

31.12.2016 31.12.2015

Salaries 339,564 310,090
Social security benefits 49,654 56,853
Contributions to occupational pension plans 41,482 42,712
Other personnel expense 393  -   

Total 431,093 409,655

135



6. Other operating expenses

in CHF

31.12.2016 31.12.2015

Administrative Fees 132,884 133,187
Investment bank and professional fees  – 228,347 198,751
Audit fees 78,949 382,575
Travel expenses 43,859 37,694
Publication, marketing and other expenses 152,484 163,294
Total 179,829 915,501

7. Financial Expense

in CHF

31.12.2016 31.12.2015

Bank charges and interest expenses 1,460 2,211
Exchange loss  -    -   
Total 1,460 2,211

8. Significant shareholders 

Valartis AG, Valartis Finance Holding AG and Valartis International Ltd jointly own 62.26% (1'602'637 
shares) of the outstanding share capital (issued shares minus treasury shares) of the Company. Para-
mount-Finanz AG owns 11.76% (302’703 shares) and Athris Holding AG 22.92% (590’000 shares) of the 
outstanding share capital (issued shares minus treasury shares) of the Company.

9. Equity owned by Management and the Board of Directors, including related parties

31.12.2016 31.12.2015

 Number of shares  Number of shares

Board of Directors
G. Stenbolt *** 595,740 595,740
W. Fetscherin 100 100
R. Müller *  -    -   
U. Maurer-Lambrou ** 20 20
Total 595,840 595,860

Management
B. De Bruyn  -    -   
Total  -    -   

*  From 26 June 2016
**  Until 8 January 2015
***  Held indirectly
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There is no share plan for the management and for the members of the board in place.

10. Collateral provided for liabilities of third parties

2016: None (2015: none).

11. Assets pledged to secure own liabilities, as well as assets with retention title

2016: None (2015: none).

12. Retained earnings and profit/(losses) brought forward

in CHF

31.12.2016 31.12.2015

Profit brought forward from previous year  – 416,517 1,772,538
Net profit / (loss)  83,949  – 2,189,055
Retained earnings  – 332,568  – 416,517
Dividend on capital entiled to dividend payments  -    -   
Profit / (Loss) to be carried forward  – 332,568  – 416,517
Dividend per bearer share entitled to dividend payments  -                -   

The board will recommend to the annual general meeting of shareholders of the Company that the fi-
nancial statements be approved.
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Compensation Report

Compensation Report

1. Employees

ENR Russia Invest SA (“ENR”) has one employee in Switzerland, being its Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”). 

2. Architecture and governance when determining compensation

The board of directors (“Board”) has overall responsibility for ENR’s compensation policy. According to 
article 33, section 5 of the ENR articles, the Board determines in the organisational rules:

(i) for which functions of the Board and the management the compensation committee shall  
 present motions to the board; and 

(ii) for which functions the compensation committee shall determine the compensation itself. 

Section 2 of article 3.4 of the ENR organisational rules provides that: "The organisation as well as the 
powers and duties of the compensation committee are governed by the charter for the compensation 
committee of the board of directors which is adopted by the board of directors in line with article 33 of 
the articles of association."

Pursuant to article 3.2 of the organisational rules the Board has non-transferable powers according to 
the law, in particular article 716a par. 1 Swiss Code of Obligations.
 
The compensation committee will present motions in respect of compensation to the Board (as op-
posed to determine the compensation itself) and the Board will then make a final determination on the 
compensation, and for defining key parameters, including the size of a bonus pool for ENR employees 
and for the remuneration of the Chairman of the Board (“Chairman”) (where the Chairman nor the CEO, 
where applicable, is present during the discussion of items on the agenda that relate to them), as well 
as the remuneration of the other members of the Board, the CEO and any other future members of the 
executive management.
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3. Compensation components

Compensation comprises a fixed and a variable component. The variable component (bonus) represents 
a short-term retrospective performance incentive and takes account of, inter alia, an individual’s con-
tribution with respect to new investments made by ENR; development and overall management of cur-
rent investments; sourcing of new transactions; other actions taken to further ENR’s investment objec-
tives; overall management performance and the ENR’s financial results. There are currently no long 
term prospective incentive components such as ENR share ownership or option plans.

4. Frequency of reviews

The compensation system is discussed by the compensation committee on an annual basis and the 
compensation committee will also meet up as required as set out in the compensation charter.

5. Compensation awarded to the Board and Chief Executive Officer 

Board 

The compensation of the Chairman, who does not work for ENR on a full time basis, comprise of a fixed 
cash amount payable in equal amounts on a quarterly basis . Variable compensation may be paid from 
time to time to the Chairman if so determined by the Board. The Chairman does not participate in a 
long term prospective incentive program via share ownership or option plans. When determining the 
Chairman’s compensation, strategic, regulatory and business criteria are applied, taking account of the 
interests of all stakeholders.
 
The compensation of other directors does not receive any compensation nor participate in any long 
term prospective incentive program via share ownership or option plans, consist of a fixed cash amount 
payable in equal amounts on a quarterly basis. Directors’ variable compensation may be paid from time 
to time if deemed appropriate by the Board.

When determining the compensation of directors, their strategic, regulatory and/or commercial contri-
butions or potential contributions are considered, taking account of interests of stakeholders.

CEO

The compensation of the CEO, who works for ENR on a full time basis, comprises of a fixed amount 
payable in cash in equal amounts as a salary on a monthly basis and a variable compensation (bonus) 
that is determined each year by the Board and takes the form of a cash payment. The bonus evaluation 
is not based on a specific formula or on fixed weighting criteria. Instead, various factors such as those 
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mentioned in 3 above are taken into account by the compensation committee in determining its rec-
ommendation to the Board. The CEO does not participate in a long term prospective incentive program 
via share ownership or option plans. When determining the CEO's compensation, strategic, regulatory 
and business criteria are applied, taking account of the interests of all stakeholders.
 
ENR pays the CEO’s salary in 12 installments on a pro rata basis. ENR also pays half of the required 
regulatory contributions towards Old Age and Survivors Insurance; Disability Insurance; Allowance for 
Loss of Earnings Insurance; Maternity Insurance; Unemployment Insurance and any other social contri-
butions required by law. ENR, on a monthly basis, deducts from the CEO’s gross salary contributions 
made by the CEO to these social insurances.

The monthly contributions of CEO and ENR to the pension plan and the benefits for the CEO under the 
pension plan are determined by the rules and regulations applicable to the pension plan. ENR’s contri-
butions to the pension plan are 60% and the CEO’s contributions 40%. ENR deducts the CEO's contri-
butions from the gross salary on a monthly basis and pays same towards the pension plan.

Other employees

ENR has 14 employees in Russia via a Russian subsidiary LLC Petrovsky Fort and 2 employees via a Russian 
subsidiary LLC ENR Development. The compensation of these staff members, the majority who works on a full 
time basis, comprises of a fixed amount payable in cash in equal amounts as a salary on a monthly basis. These 
employees do not participate in any long term prospective incentive program via share ownership or option 
plans. When determining the salaries of these employees comparable market rates are applied.

Notice periods, severance agreements and change of control 

The notice period in the CEO’s employment contract is six months. The contract with the CEO does not 
contain any clauses relating to severance payments, nor for any agreements in the case of corporate 
control (i.e. change of control clauses).
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6. Compensation paid by ENR in 2016

Compensation to ENR employees 

Mr. Ben de Bruyn is the Chief Executive Officer of the Company. The following table illustrates the re-
muneration paid to Mr. Ben de Bruyn, who is the only Swiss based employee of the company.

Personnel expense (CEO)

in CHF

31.12.2016 31.12.2015

Salaries 350,000 350,000
Social security benefits 28,070 27,871
Contributions to occupational pension plans 41,482 42,712
Bonuses  -    -   
Other 4,498 13,840

Total 424,050 434,423

Compensation is recognised in the financial year in which it is accrued. Accordingly, it is reported ac-
cordingly to the accrual principle.

Although contributions are paid by the employer and employees in the case of the Swiss pension plan, 
the plan is considered to be a defined benefit plan owing to the guaranteed interest rate and prescribed 
conversion rate. With a single Swiss employee, the obligations or assets in respect of the defined ben-
efit plan are not material and, consequently there are no balance sheet obligations or assets in respect 
of this pension plan. There is no employee pension plan for the Russian based employees of Petrovsky 
Fort LLC.

Board of Directors

In the 2016 financial year, the Board of ENR mainly supported the CEO in the area of strategic business 
development and with the further development of process tools that are of supervisory relevance, as 
well as the implementation of ENR’s risk policy.
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ENR Russia Invest SA board member remuneration

in CHF

31.12.2016 31.12.2015

G. Stenbolt (Chairman of the Board of Directors) 100,000 100,000
W. Fetscherin (Member of the Board of Directors) 50,000 50,000
R. Müller (Member of the Board of Directors) * 25,000  -   
Social security benefits** 17,481 15,143

Total 192,481 165,143

*  From 26 June 2016
**  Re : Gustav Stenbolt

Further to board fees mentioned in the table above which represents the aggregate amount paid to 
Messrs. Stenbolt, Fetscherin and Müller in 2016, there were no variable compensation; compensation 
paid in shares not other compensation paid to board members.

Loans to Board members, CEO or other staff: 

None.
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Report of the statutory auditor on the compensation report

Ernst & Young Ltd
Maagplatz 1
P.O. Box
CH-8010 Zurich

Phone +41 58 286 31 11
Fax +41 58 286 30 04
www.ey.com/ch

To the General Meeting of
ENR Russia Invest SA, Geneva

Zurich, 11 April 2017

Report of the statutory auditor on the remuneration report

We have audited the accompanying remuneration report of ENR Russia Invest SA for the
year ended 31 December 2016. The audit was limited to the information according to articles
14 – 16 of the Ordinance against Excessive Compensation in Stock Exchange Listed Compa-
nies (Ordinance) contained in the tables on pages 141 to 142 of the remuneration report.

Board of Directors’ responsibility
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and overall fair presentation of the
remuneration report in accordance with Swiss law and the Ordinance. The Board of Directors
is also responsible for designing the remuneration system and defining individual
remuneration packages.

Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the accompanying remuneration report. We
conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss Auditing Standards. Those standards require
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the remuneration report complies with Swiss law and articles 14 –
16 of the Ordinance.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence on the disclosures made in
the remuneration report with regard to compensation, loans and credits in accordance with
articles 14 – 16 of the Ordinance. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatements in the
remuneration report, whether due to fraud or error. This audit also includes evaluating the
reasonableness of the methods applied to value components of remuneration, as well as
assessing the overall presentation of the remuneration report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the remuneration report for the year ended 31 December 2016 of ENR Russia
Invest SA complies with Swiss law and articles 14 – 16 of the Ordinance.

Ernst & Young Ltd

Stefan M. Schmid Alain Münger
Licensed audit expert  Licensed audit expert
(Auditor in charge)
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Price information

in CHF

Date
Attributable Net  
Assets (millions)

Attributable NAV  
per share Share price

31.12.2009 107.4 40.64 27.00
31.03.2010 112.2 42.42 27.65
30.06.2010 107.6 40.72 30.80
30.09.2010 101.9 38.52 28.60
31.12.2010 107.0 40.49 33.45
31.03.2011 111.1 42.07 33.90
30.06.2011 107.3 40.61 32.35
30.09.2011 101.0 38.21 29.25
31.12.2011 99.8 37.74 31.55
31.03.2012 104.7 39.59 31.00
30.06.2012 104.0 39.17 31.00
30.09.2012 105.8 40.02 32.00
31.12.2012 120.0 45.39 34.00
31.03.2013 120.5 45.56 33.03
30.06.2013 117.4 44.38 36.00
30.09.2013 117.3 44.35 36.00
31.12.2013 116.4 44.02 36.50
31.03.2014 113.8 43.03 35.75
30.06.2014 112.2 42.44 35.25
30.09.2014 109.0 41.24 34.00
31.12.2014 90.5 34.22 32.50
31.03.2015 90.2 34.10 29.00
30.06.2015 61.5 23.25 33.50
30.09.2015 60.7 22.95 21.00
31.12.2015 43.5 16.45 18.90
31.03.2016 43.4 16.64 15.15
30.06.2016 45.5 17.20 18.30
30.09.2016 46.3 17.51 14.00
31.12.2016 47.3 17.90 17.00
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1. Investment Objective

To invest in private and public companies across 
different industry sectors as well as the real es-
tate sector and to do so predominately in Russia 
and other Commonwealth of Independent States 
countries and in the Baltic States and to manage 
the asset portfolio to achieve long term capital 
appreciation on invested capital.

2. Investment Policy

The investment philosophy is growth-oriented 
and the focus is primarily on longer term strate-
gies and capital appreciation. However, from 
time to time there may be certain investments 
which have a shorter investment horizon, re-
flecting specific opportunities or taking account 
of prevailing market conditions. At times the as-
set portfolio may comprise entirely of cash or 
cash equivalents.

3. Investment Instruments

Investments will be done primarily through equity 
and/or equity related and/or debt instruments or 
derivatives instruments.

Where capital resources have not been not fully 
invested, same may be invested in a range of in-
vestment products, money market instruments, 
investment instruments issued by governments, 
financial institutions or companies, denominated 
in the currency of the country where investments 
are made or in any freely convertible currency. The 

Company may take temporary defensive positions 
if the investment manager determines that oppor-
tunities for capital appreciation are limited or that 
significant diminutions in value may occur.

From time to time all or part of risks associated 
with investments may be hedged through the de-
fensive use of derivative transactions, including, 
but not limited to, futures, options, swaps or any 
combination thereof.

From time to time leverage may be used in a man-
ner commensurate with reasonable risk manage-
ment to achieve investment objectives.

4. Investment Process and  
   Factors considered 

While investment criteria may vary depending 
upon the type of transaction, factors taken into 
consideration when analysing potential invest-
ments include:
• Attractive valuations and purchase prices;
• Strength, depth and commitment of the man-

agement team;
• Existence of a coherent and realistic long term 

business plan;
• Relevant asset values;
• Corporate governance issues;
• Identifiable exit strategies; 
• Risk management; and
• Active post-acquisition investment approach.

Investment opportunities will be identified and 
analysed by the investment manager or its del-

Investment Guidelines
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egates or agents within the framework of the 
investment guidelines. The investment manager 
or its delegates or agents will manage the 
screening process and, inter alia, conduct inter-
views with management and owners with the 
objective of aligning differing interests. The in-
vestment manager’s responsibilities include val-
uations, market analyses, competition analyses, 
debt capacity calculations, bid tactics, tax opti-
mizing holding structures, financing structures, 
raising of debt finance, management incentives, 
personnel reinforcements required, due dili-
gence processes and the intended exit strategy.
Day-to-day investment decisions will be made 
by the investment committee in accordance 
with the investment guidelines, as determined 
by the board of directors.

5. Amendments

The investment guidelines may be amended by 
the board of directors at any time, in whole or in 
part. Amendments will become effective upon 
their approval by the board of directors (after 
expiry of any notice period for regulatory publi-
cations which may be required). The Company 
may from time to time impose further invest-
ment restrictions, compatible with or in the in-
terest of investors, or, in certain circumstances, 
in order to comply with relevant country laws 
and regulations. 

Updated with effect 26 November 2016. 
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